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Glossary of Key Terms 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K uses several terms of art that are specific to our industry and business. For the convenience of the reader, a 
glossary of such terms is provided here. Unless we otherwise indicate, or unless the context requires otherwise, any references in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K to: 

• “ADG” refers to anaerobic digested gas. 

• “CARB” refers to the California Air Resource Board. 

• “CNG” refers to compressed natural gas. 

• “CI” refers to carbon intensity. 

• “CWCs” refers to cellulosic waiver credits. 

• “D3” refers to cellulosic biofuel with a 60% GHG reduction requirement. 

• “D5” refers to advanced biofuels with a 50% GHG reduction requirement. 

• “EHS” refers to environment, health and safety. 

• “EIA” refers to the U.S. Energy Information Administration. 

• “EPA” refers to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 

• “Environmental Attributes” refer to federal, state and local government incentives in the United States, provided in the form of RINs, 
RECs, LCFS credits, rebates, tax credits and other incentives to end users, distributors, system integrators and manufacturers of renewable 
energy projects, that promote the use of renewable energy. 

• “FERC” refers to the U.S. Federal Energy Regulatory Commission. 

• “GHG” refers to greenhouse gases. 

• “JSE” refers to the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. 

• “LCFS” refers to Low Carbon Fuel Standard. 

• “LFG” refers to landfill gas. 

• “LNG” refers to liquefied natural gas. 

• “PPAs” refers to power purchase agreements. 

• “QF” refers to “qualifying facility,” as such term is defined in the Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978. 

• “RECs” refers to Renewable Energy Credits. 

• “Renewable Electricity” refers to electricity generated from renewable sources. 

• “RFS” refers to the EPA’s Renewable Fuel Standard. 

• “RINs” refers to Renewable Identification Numbers. 

• “RNG” refers to renewable natural gas. 

• “RPS” refers to Renewable Portfolio Standards. 

• “RVOs” refers to renewable volume obligations. 

• “WRRFs” refers to water resource recovery facilities. 
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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of U.S. federal securities laws that involve substantial 
risks and uncertainties. All statements other than statements of historical or current fact included in this report are forward-looking statements. Forward-
looking statements refer to our current expectations and projections relating to our financial condition, results of operations, plans, objectives, strategies, 
future performance, and business. Forward-looking statements may include words such as “anticipate,” “assume,” “believe,” “can have,” “contemplate,” 
“continue,” “strive,” “aim,” “could,” “design,” “due,” “estimate,” “expect,” “forecast,” “goal,” “intend,” “likely,” “may,” “might,” “objective,” “plan,” 
“predict,” “project,” “potential,” “seek,” “should,” “target,” “will,” “would,” and other words and terms of similar meaning in connection with any 
discussion of the timing or nature of future operational performance or other events. For example, all statements we make relating to future results of 
operations, financial condition, expectations and plans of the Company, including expected benefits of the Pico digestion capacity increase, the Montauk 
Ag project in North Carolina, the Second Apex RNG Facility, the Blue Granite RNG Facility, the Bowerman RNG Facility, the delivery of biogenic carbon 
dioxide volumes to European Energy, the resolution of gas collection issues at the McCarty facility, the mitigation of wellfield extraction environmental 
factors at the Rumpke facility, and weather-related anomalies are forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements are subject to risks and 
uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ materially from those that we expect and, therefore, you should not unduly rely on such statements. The 
risks and uncertainties that could cause those actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements 
include but are not limited to: 

• our ability to develop and operate new renewable energy projects, including with livestock farms, and related challenges associated with 
new projects, such as identifying suitable locations and potential delays in acquisition financing, construction, and development; 

• reduction or elimination of government economic incentives to the renewable energy market; 

• the inability to complete strategic development opportunities; 

• widespread manmade, natural and other disasters (including severe weather events), health emergencies, dislocations, geopolitical 
instabilities or events, terrorist activities, international hostilities, government shutdowns, political elections, security breaches, cyberattacks 
or other extraordinary events that impact general economic conditions, financial markets and/or our business and operating results; 

• continued inflation could raise our operating costs or increase the construction costs of our existing or new projects; 

• rising interest rates could increase the borrowing costs of future indebtedness; 

• the potential failure to retain and attract qualified personnel of the Company or a possible increased reliance on third-party contractors as a 
result; 

• the length of development and optimization cycles for new projects, including the design and construction processes for our renewable 
energy projects; 

• dependence on third parties for the manufacture of products and services and our landfill operations; 

• the quantity, quality and consistency of our feedstock volumes from both landfill and livestock farm operations; 

• reliance on interconnections with and access to electric utility distribution and transmission facilities and gas transportation pipelines for 
our Renewable Natural Gas and Renewable Electricity Generation segments; 

• our projects not producing expected levels of output; 

• potential benefits associated with the combustion-based oxygen removal condensate neutralization technology; 

• concentration of revenues from a small number of customers and projects; 

• our outstanding indebtedness and restrictions under our credit facility; 

• our ability to extend our fuel supply agreements prior to expiration; 

• our ability to meet milestone requirements under our PPAs; 

• existing regulations and changes to regulations and policies that effect our operations; 

• expected benefits from the extension of the Production Tax Credit and other tax credit benefits under the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022; 
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• decline in public acceptance and support of renewable energy development and projects, or our inability to appropriately address 

environmental, social and governance targets, goals, commitments or concerns, including climate-related disclosures; 

• our expectations regarding Environmental Attribute volume requirements and prices and commodity prices; 

• our expectations regarding the period during which we qualify as an emerging growth company under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups 
Act (“JOBS Act”); 

• our expectations regarding future capital expenditures, including for the maintenance of facilities; 

• our expectations regarding the use of net operating losses before expiration; 

• our expectations regarding more attractive CI scores by regulatory agencies for our livestock farm projects; 

• market volatility and fluctuations in commodity prices and the market prices of Environmental Attributes and the impact of any related 
hedging activity; 

• regulatory changes in federal, state and international environmental attribute programs and the need to obtain and maintain regulatory 
permits, approvals, and consents; 

• profitability of our planned livestock farm projects; 

• sustained demand for renewable energy; 

• potential liabilities from contamination and environmental conditions; 

• potential exposure to costs and liabilities due to extensive environmental, health and safety laws; 

• impacts of climate change, changing weather patterns and conditions, and natural disasters; 

• failure of our information technology and data security systems; 

• increased competition in our markets; 

• continuing to keep up with technology innovations; 

• concentrated stock ownership by a few stockholders and related control over the outcome of all matters subject to a stockholder vote and 

• the other risks and uncertainties detailed in the section titled “Risk Factors.” 

We make many of our forward-looking statements based on our operating budgets and forecasts, which are based upon detailed assumptions. While 
we believe that our assumptions are reasonable, we caution that it is very difficult to predict the impact of known factors, and it is impossible for us to 
anticipate all factors that could affect our actual results. 

See the “Risk Factors” section and elsewhere in this report for a more complete discussion of the risks and uncertainties mentioned above and for 
discussion of other risks and uncertainties we face that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-
looking statements. All forward-looking statements attributable to us are expressly qualified in their entirety by these cautionary statements as well as 
others made in our other Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) filings and public communications. You should evaluate all forward-looking 
statements made by us in the context of these risks and uncertainties. 

We caution you that the risks and uncertainties identified by us may not be all of the factors that are important to you. Furthermore, the forward-
looking statements included in this report are made only as of the date hereof. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking 
statement as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise, except as required by law. 
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Summary of Risks Associated with Our Business 

Our business is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including those highlighted in the section titled “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report 
on Form 10-K. Some of these principal risks include the following: 

• Our renewable energy projects may not generate expected levels of output. 

• The concentration in revenues from five of our projects and geographic concentration of our projects expose us to greater risks of 
production interruptions from severe weather or other interruptions of production or transmission. 

• We are not able to insure our projects against all potential risks and may become subject to higher insurance costs.

• We may face intense competition and may not be able to successfully compete. 

• Technological innovation may render us uncompetitive or our processes obsolete. 

• Our use and enjoyment of real property rights for our projects may be adversely affected by the rights of lienholders and leaseholders that 
are superior to those of the grantors of those real property rights to our projects. 

• We may not be able to obtain long-term contracts for the sale of power produced by our projects on favorable terms and we may not meet 
certain milestones and other performance criteria under existing PPAs. 

• Our commercial success depends on our ability to identify, acquire, develop and operate individual renewable energy projects, as well as 
our ability to maintain and expand production at our current projects. 

• There may not be sufficient demand for renewable energy.

• Our fuel supply agreements with site hosts have defined contractual periods, and we cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully 
extend these agreements at their historic levels or at all. 

• Our PPAs, fuel-supply agreements, RNG off-take agreements and other agreements contain complex price adjustments, calculations and 
other terms based on gas price indices and other metrics, the interpretation of which could result in disputes with counterparties that could 
affect our results of operations and customer relationships. 

• In order to secure contracts for new projects, we typically face a long and variable development cycle that requires significant resource 
commitments and a long lead time before we realize revenues. 

• We plan to expand our business in part through developing RNG recovery projects at landfills and livestock farms, but we may not be able 
to identify suitable locations or complete development of new projects. 

• Our dairy farm project has, and any future digester project will have, different economic models and risk profiles than our landfill facilities, 
and we may not be able to achieve the operating results we expect from these projects. 

• While we currently focus on converting methane into renewable energy, in the future we may decide to expand our strategy to include other 
types of projects. Any future energy projects may present unforeseen challenges and result in a competitive disadvantage relative to our 
more established competitors. 

• Any future acquisitions, investments or other strategic relationships that we make could disrupt our business, cause dilution to our 
stockholders or harm our business, financial condition or operating results.  

• Our revenues may be subject to the risk of fluctuations in commodity prices and pricing volatility of Environmental Attributes. 

• We are exposed to the risk of failing to meet our contractual commitments to sell RINs from our production. 

• The failure of our hedge counterparties or significant customers to meet their obligations to us may adversely affect our financial results.

• The reduction or elimination of governmental economic incentives for renewable energy projects or other related policies could adversely 
affect our business, financial condition and results of operation. 

• We may be unable obtain, modify, or maintain the regulatory permits, approvals and consents required to construct and operate our projects. 

• Negative attitudes toward renewable energy projects from the U.S. government, other lawmakers and regulators, and activists could 
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
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• Revenue from any projects we complete may be adversely affected if there is a decline in public acceptance or support of renewable energy, 

or regulatory agencies, local communities, or other third parties delay, prevent, or increase the cost of constructing and operating our 
projects. 

• Existing regulations and policies, and future changes to these regulations and policies, may present technical, regulatory and economic 
barriers to the generation, purchase and use of renewable energy, and may adversely affect the market for credits associated with the 
production of renewable energy. 

• In order to benefit from RINs and LCFS credits, our RNG projects are required to be registered and are subject to regulatory audit.

• Our business is subject to the risk of climate change and extreme or changing weather patterns. 

• A failure of our IT and data security infrastructure could have a material adverse effect on our business and operations. 

• Our business could be negatively affected by security threats, including cybersecurity threats and other information technology-related 
disruptions. 

• Failure of third parties to manufacture quality products or provide reliable services in a timely manner could cause delays in developing and 
operating our projects, which could damage our reputation, adversely affect our partner relationships or adversely affect our growth. 

• Our projects rely on interconnections to distribution and transmission facilities that are owned and operated by third parties, and as a result, 
are exposed to interconnection and transmission facility development and curtailment risks. 

• We are dependent upon our relationships with Waste Management and Republic Services for the operation and maintenance of landfills on 
which several of our RNG and Renewable Electricity projects operate. 

• We have significant customer concentration, with a limited number of customers accounting for a substantial portion of our revenues. 

• Our fuel supply agreements with site hosts have defined contractual periods, and we cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully 
extend these agreements. 

• Our senior credit facility contains financial and operating restrictions that may limit our business activities and our access to credit and 
variable rate indebtedness under the facility may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

• We also face risks related to our common stock, being a controlled company, being an emerging growth company, and risks generally 
applicable to publicly-traded companies. Shares of our common stock trade on more than one stock market and this may result in price 
variations. 

• Certain of our directors reside outside of the United States and it may be difficult to enforce judgments against them in the United States.
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 PART I 

ITEM 1. BUSINESS. 

Unless the context requires otherwise, references to “Montauk,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our” refer to Montauk Renewables, Inc. and its 
consolidated subsidiaries. 

Overview 

We are a renewable energy company specializing in the recovery and processing of biogas from landfills and other non-fossil fuel sources to 
beneficial use as a replacement to fossil fuels. We develop, own, and operate RNG projects, using proven technologies that supply renewable fuel into the 
transportation and electrical power sectors. We are one of the largest U.S. producers of RNG, having participated in the industry for over 30 years. We 
established our operating portfolio of 12 RNG and three Renewable Electricity projects through self-development, partnerships, and acquisitions that span 
six states.

Corporate History 

On January 4, 2021, the Company, Montauk Holdings Limited (“MNK”) and Montauk Holdings USA, LLC (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of 
MNK at the time, “Montauk USA”) entered into a series of transactions, including an equity exchange (the “Equity Exchange”) and a distribution 
collectively referred to as the “Reorganization Transactions,” that resulted in the Company owning all of the assets and entities (other than Montauk USA) 
previously owned by Montauk USA, and Montauk Renewables became a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of MNK. Prior to the Reorganization 
Transactions, MNK’s business and operations were conducted entirely through Montauk USA and its U.S. subsidiaries, and MNK held no substantial assets 
other than equity of Montauk USA. The Company had no significant operations or assets prior to January 4, 2021 when it engaged in the equity exchange 
with Montauk USA and MNK. 

After completion of the Reorganization Transactions, (i) Montauk USA ceased to own any substantial assets and (ii) all entities through which 
MNK’s business and operations were conducted became owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company. MNK adopted a plan contemporaneously with the 
completion of the Reorganization Transactions that authorized the future liquidation and dissolution of MNK. 

On January 15, 2021, MNK sold the membership interest of Montauk USA to a third party. On January 26, 2021, MNK distributed all of the 
outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock as a pro rata dividend to the holders of MNK’s ordinary shares (the “Distribution”), subject to any tax 
withholding obligations under applicable South African law. Each ordinary share of MNK outstanding on January 21, 2021, the record date for the 
Distribution, entitled the holder thereof to receive one share of the Company’s common stock. 

On January 26, 2021, the Company closed the initial public offering of its common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market (the “IPO”) with the shares 
traded under the symbol “MNTK.” Montauk Renewables issued 2,702,500 shares at $8.50 per share and received gross proceeds of $22,971. The 
Company’s common stock was also secondarily listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange under the trading symbol “MKR.” 

On January 26, 2021, the Company entered into a Loan Agreement and Secured Promissory Note (as amended, the “ Promissory Note”) with MNK. 
MNK is currently an affiliate of the Company and certain of the Company’s directors are also directors of MNK. Pursuant to the Promissory Note, the 
Company initially advanced a cash loan of $5,000 to MNK for MNK to pay its dividends tax liability arising from the Reorganization Transactions under 
the South African Income Tax Act, 1962 (Act No. 58 of 1962), as amended (the “South African Income Tax Act”).  The current principal balance of the 
Promissory Note is $10,040 and the maturity date is December 31, 2033.  The Company holds a security interest in 976,623 shares of common stock of the 
Company held by MNK.   MNK is required to use the proceeds of any sale of the shares to repay the Promissory Note. The Promissory Note has default 
provisions pursuant to which MNK will deliver any unsold shares of the Company back to the Company to satisfy repayment of the Promissory Note. 

MNK was delisted from the JSE on January 26, 2021. The MNK Board of Directors and Shareholders held its annual general meeting in March 
2023 and voted to take MNK private. 

Products Sold 

The revenues Montauk receives from selling renewable energy consist of two main components. The first component is revenues from the 
commodity value of the natural gas or electricity generated, which we sell through a variety of term-length 
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agreements. The second component is from the Environmental Attributes derived from the production of RNG and Renewable Electricity. 

Our current operating projects produce either RNG or Renewable Electricity by processing biogas from landfill sites or agricultural waste from 
livestock farms. Biogas is produced by microbes as they break down organic matter in the absence of oxygen (during a process called anaerobic digestion). 
Our two current sources of commercial scale biogas are LFG or ADG. We typically secure our biogas feedstock through long-term fuel supply agreements 
and property lease agreements with biogas site hosts. Once we secure long-term fuel supply rights, we design, build, own, and operate facilities that convert 
the biogas into RNG or use the processed biogas to produce Renewable Electricity. Once collected, biogas can be processed into pipeline-quality RNG or 
converted into electricity. The conversion facility is typically located on landfill property away from the active fill operations where additional waste is 
added to the landfill site. Because we are capturing waste methane and making use of a renewable source of energy, the RNG and Renewable Electricity we 
produce also generates valuable Environmental Attributes which we can monetize under federal and state renewable initiatives. 

RNG 

The RNG we process is pipeline-quality and can be used for transportation fuel when compressed (CNG) or liquefied (LNG). Virtually all of the 
RNG we produce is used as a transportation fuel because this market generally provides the most value for our RNG production. CNG has been the most 
common fuel used by fleets where medium-duty trucks are close to the fueling station, such as city fleets, local delivery trucks and waste haulers. 
Additionally, landfill gas (LFG) and gas from livestock digesters can be processed into pipeline-quality RNG by removing the majority of the non-methane 
components including carbon dioxide, water, sulfur, nitrogen, and other trace compounds. 

RNG, like traditional natural gas, is traded nationally. Once in an interstate pipeline, RNG can be transported to vehicle fueling stations to be used as 
a transportation fuel, to utilities to generate power, or for use in generating fuel cell energy anywhere within the North American pipeline system. This 
flexibility enables us to capture value from the renewable attributes of biogas by delivering RNG to markets and customers that place a premium on 
renewable energy. Although RNG has the same chemical composition as natural gas from fossil sources, it has unique Environmental Attributes assigned to 
it through government incentive programs due to its origin from low-carbon, renewable sources, which we also monetize. 

RNG is priced in-line with the wholesale natural gas market, based on Henry Hub pricing, with regional variation according to demand. We sell the 
RNG produced from our projects under a variety of short-term and medium-term agreements to counterparties, with tenures generally varying from three 
years to five years. Our contracts with counterparties are typically structured to be based on varying natural gas price indices for the RNG produced. We 
also share a portion of our Environmental Attributes with certain pathway providers as consideration for the counterparty using our RNG as a 
transportation fuel.  

Renewable Electricity 

Renewable electricity is generated using gas-fueled engines or turbine-driven electrical generators, which are designed to operate efficiently on 
medium-Btu gas. As such, electricity generation typically involves producing medium-Btu gas, which is then pumped into a generating facility. Electricity 
is a commodity that trades and is priced on a regional basis in and among regional control areas. Pricing for commodity-sold electricity can be based on 
day-ahead prices for scheduled deliveries or hourly, real-time prices for unscheduled deliveries. Prices vary across the country based on weather, load 
patterns and local power and transmission restrictions. The Renewable Electricity produced at our biogas-to-electricity projects is sold under long-term 
contracts to creditworthy counterparties, typically under a fixed price with escalators. The terms of these contracts range up to 20 years, excluding renewal 
periods, with a weighted average remaining tenure of 14 years, based on 2023 electricity production. 

Environmental Attributes 

When used as a transportation fuel or to produce electricity, RNG can generate additional revenue streams through the generation and sale of 
Environmental Attributes under various programs, including the national renewable fuels standard and state-level California LCFS. The Environmental 
Attributes that we generate and sell are composed of RINs and LCFS credits, which are generated from the conversion of biogas to RNG that is used as a 
transportation fuel, as well as RECs generated from the conversion of biogas to Renewable Electricity. In addition to revenues generated from our product 
sales, we also generate revenues by providing various value-added services to certain of our biogas site partners. In 2023 and 2022, our projects generated 
approximately 7.7% and 8.1%, respectively, of all D3 RINs in the United States. During 2021, we entered into an agreement to sell a portion of our 
production as a renewable component of refinery fuel exports into the European Union’s Renewable Energy Directive from certain RNG production 
facilities that have achieved International Sustainability & Carbon Certification registration. This diversification strategy accounted for approximately 1.4% 
of the reduction in generation of D3 RINs in 2023. We continue to sell a portion of our production as a renewable component of refinery fuel exports. 
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We seek to mitigate our exposure to commodity and Environmental Attribute pricing volatility. Through contractual arrangements with our site 
hosts and counterparties, we typically share pricing and production risks while retaining our ability to benefit from potential upside. A portion of the RNG 
volume we produce is sold under bundled fixed-price arrangements for the RNG and Environmental Attributes, some of which include a sharing 
arrangement where we benefit from prices above certain thresholds. For our remaining RNG projects, our partners may receive a cash payment instead of 
in-kind sharing arrangements where our partners receive the Environmental Attributes, thereby sharing in Environmental Attribute pricing risk. 

On the electricity side of our business, all of our products and related Environmental Attributes are sold under fixed-price contracts with escalators, 
limiting our pricing risk. Finally, our contracts with site hosts often require payments to our site hosts in the form of royalties based on realized revenues, 
direct development contributions, or, in some select cases, based on production volumes. 

D3 RINs 

RNG has the same chemical composition as natural gas from fossil sources, but has unique Environmental Attributes assigned to it due to its origin 
from organic sources. These attributes qualify RNG as a renewable fuel under the federal RFS program, established pursuant to the EPACT 2005 and 
EISA, allowing RNG to generate renewable fuel credits called RINs when the RNG is used as a transportation fuel. 

RINs are saleable regulatory credits that represent a quantity of qualifying fuel and are used by refiners and importers to evidence compliance with 
their RFS obligations. Given that the RFS is a national program, the price of a RIN is the same anywhere in the United States. The RFS program originally 
contemplated 1.75 billion gallons of fuel from cellulosic biofuels by 2014, the use of which would be tracked through D3 RINs. However, cellulosic 
biofuel production grew slower than expected and prompted the EPA to expand the definition of biofuels that could qualify for D3 RINs to include fuels 
from cellulosic biogas, including biogas from landfills, livestock farms, and WRRFs. This significantly increased the quantity of D3 RINs produced, with 
production increasing to approximately 33 million net RINs in 2014 and approximately 704 million net RINs in 2023. In addition, given the historic 
shortage in supply of D3 RINs to meet blending requirements, the EPA allows obligated refiners to satisfy RFS compliance obligations for D3 RINs by 
either purchasing CWC plus D5 RINs or by purchasing D3 RINs. CWC prices were set annually and were typically published by the EPA each November. 
Historically, the value of a D3 RIN is therefore a derivative of the market price for D5 RINs and CWCs, which in turn, are inversely linked to the wholesale 
price of gasoline. On July 12, 2023, the EPA issued final rules in the Federal Register which indicated that it will not be utilizing its cellulosic waiver 
authority to reduce cellulosic biofuel volume for 2023-2025, thus CWCs will not be available unless actual production is lower than the RVO. The EPA has 
indicated it will not utilize the CWC.  

We have been active in the RFS program since 2014 and expect to remain a significant contributor to the overall generation of RINs from RNG. We 
monetize our portion of the RINs, directly, at auction or through third-party agents or marketers. 

CA LCFS 

CA LCFS credits are environmental credits generated in California in order to stimulate the use of cleaner, low-carbon fuels. This program 
encourages the production of low-carbon fuels by setting annual CI standards, which are intended to reduce GHG emissions from the state’s transportation 
sector. One of the key aspects of the program is that it encourages the use of low-carbon transportation fuel, such as CNG, in vehicles instead of gasoline. 
This program further encourages use of renewable fuels in vehicles over CNG from fossil fuels. 

The value of an CA LCFS credit varies according to the CI value of the fuel source as determined by CARB. Fuels that have a lower CI score 
benefit from a higher percentage of a CA LCFS credit. RNG from LFG and livestock digester biogas that are used as a transportation fuel both qualify for 
CA LCFS credits. The number of CA LCFS credits for RNG from livestock digesters is significantly higher than the number of CA LCFS credits for RNG 
from landfills, due to the relative CI scores of the two fuels. Fuel that is eligible for RINs can also receive CA LCFS credits. As a result, CA LCFS credits 
represent a revenue stream incremental to the value RNG producers receive for RINs. For livestock digester RNG projects, CA LCFS credits are a 
substantial revenue driver. We have seven projects which are currently approved and eligible to earn CA LCFS credits, and we expect the revenue 
generated by CA LCFS credits to increase as we continue to develop and bring additional livestock digester projects online over the next few years. 

Several states in the United States also have or are considering adopting this model. Oregon’s Clean Fuels Program, enacted in 2009 and 
implemented in 2016, operates using a credit system similar to the CA LCFS program. Washington’s Clean Fuel Standard was passed in 2021 and 
implemented in 2023 utilizing a similar credit system as Oregon and California.  New Mexico’s Clean Fuel Standard was passed in 2024 with plans to 
finalize implementation in 2026.  Similar to RINs, LCFS credits can be sold separately from the RNG fuel sold, allowing us to monetize LCFS credits for 
fuel produced and purchased outside of states that have LCFS programs. 
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RECs

The primary Environmental Attributes derived from the production of electricity from renewable resources are RECs, which translate into additional 
revenues for units of Renewable Electricity produced. Biogas is considered to be a renewable resource in all 37 states that encourage or mandate the use of 
renewable energy. Thirty states, the District of Columbia, and Puerto Rico have RPS that require utilities to supply a percentage of power from renewable 
resources, and seven states have a Renewable Portfolio Goal that is similar to RPS, but it is an objective or goal and not a requirement. Many states allow 
utilities to comply with RPS through tradable RECs, which provide an additional revenue stream to RNG projects that produce electricity from biogas. 
 

The value of a REC is dependent on each state’s renewable energy requirements as mandated by its RPS. REC values are higher in states which 
require a percentage of total electricity to come from renewable resources. In states with no renewable energy requirements, RECs can have no value at all. 
In some markets, we have entered into PPAs under which we sell RECs bundled with the power being sold at a combined price. This occurs where the 
utility off-take counterparty offers a combined rate for the renewable energy it needs to satisfy RPS or other business requirements that is the best 
combined price for one of our projects. 

Strategic Overview 

Our business strategy focuses on the following three areas that we believe present the greatest growth opportunities for the Company at this time. 

• Continued Expansion into Agricultural Feedstocks for RNG Production 

• Optimize Existing Assets and Project Portfolio and Opportunistically Develop New Projects 

• Valued-added Service Offerings 

Continued Expansion into Agricultural Feedstocks for RNG Production 

As part of our long-term strategy, we are focused on diversifying our project portfolio beyond LFG through expansion into additional methane 
producing assets, while opportunistically adding third-party developed technology capabilities to boost financial performance and our overall cost 
competitiveness. We are commercially operating our first agricultural waste project (dairy manure), actively pursuing new fuel supply opportunities in 
WRRFs, and looking at long-term organic waste and sludge opportunities for the generation of biogas. 

We view dairy farms and other forms of organic agricultural waste as a significant opportunity for us to expand our RNG business, as processing 
biogas from dairy farms and from other forms of organic agricultural waste requires similar expertise and capabilities as processing biogas from landfills. 
Many of the existing biogas processing in these industries is for electricity production, which creates additional opportunities for acquisition and 
conversion to higher-value RNG facilities. 

Pico Facility 

We undertook an agricultural project when we closed on the acquisition of Pico, the anaerobic digester and two Jenbacher engines at the Bettencourt 
dairy farm in Jerome, Idaho in September 2018. The project sources manure from a dairy farm with up to approximately 18,500 milking cows. While Pico 
was initially a Renewable Electricity site, we brought an RNG facility at that location online in 2020. The facility sells transportation fuel into the 
California transportation market. The collection of the fuel supply is potentially easier at dairy farms than at landfills due to higher quality, more uniform 
feedstock, and potentially less volatility in inlet gas and biogas collection in a more controlled environment. During the second quarter of 2021, we 
amended our Pico feedstock agreement (“Pico Feedstock Amendment”). The amendment increased the amount of feedstock supplied to the facility for 
processing over a four-year period. 

As part of our overall capacity expansion at the Pico facility, in 2021 and 2022, we undertook significant efforts to improve the performance of the 
existing digestion process at our Pico facility. We temporarily idled RNG production at this facility in order to clean out settled solids in the digester, 
replace the cover of the digester, and make various other efficiency improvements. The Pico facility resumed operations during the first quarter of 2022. 
The dairy began delivering the first and second increases in feedstock during the third quarter of 2022 and we have made two payments to the dairy as 
required in the Pico Feedstock Amendment. The improved efficiencies of our existing digestion process and the water management improvements have 
enabled us to process the increased feedstock volumes. We completed the design of the digestion capacity expansion project in the third quarter of 2022, 
commenced construction of the digestion expansion, and expect the project to be completed in 2024.  We currently expect the dairy to begin delivering the 
final increase in feedstock volumes during 2025. 

The improvement project impacted the timeline for modeling Pico’s initial CI Score pathway model and subsequent auditing approval by CARB. 
During the fourth quarter of 2022, we learned through CARB that our dairy project CI Score Pathway would be 
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subject to a public comment period. Due to this public comment period, we received approval of our score during the first quarter of 2023. This public 
comment period followed the completion of the validation of the CI Score, which CARB finalized in the first quarter of 2023. We began releasing gas from 
storage during the third quarter of 2022 and recognized revenues from a portion of the RINs generated and completed storage release during the third 
quarter of 2022. We committed RINs and recognized revenues from RINs generated in the fourth quarter of 2022. 

Montauk Ag Renewables 

In the second quarter of 2021, through our wholly owned subsidiary, Montauk Ag Renewables, we completed the 2021 asset purchase related to 
developing technology to recover residual natural resources from waste streams of modern agriculture and to refine and recycle such waste products 
through proprietary and other processes to produce high quality renewable natural gas, bio-oil and biochar (the “Montauk Ag Renewables Acquisition”). 
The assets acquired include real property, intellectual property, mobile equipment, and other equipment related to operating the business and real property 
of an approximate 9.35 acre parcel in Magnolia, North Carolina. We subsequently closed on a transaction to acquire approximately 146 acres and an 
approximately 500,000 square foot existing structure in Turkey, North Carolina where we plan to consolidate and expand the production processes 
purchased in the Montauk Ag Renewables Acquisition. 

We continue to work with our engineer of record through the optimization of improvements to the now patented reactor technology. We have 
relocated certain assets from Magnolia, NC to Turkey, NC and have recorded an impairment of approximately $1,393 in 2022 related to assets which will 
no longer be used in the production process.  We continue our capital development improvements and have not yet reached commercial operations at the 
Turkey location. In July 2023, we signed a REC agreement with Duke Energy (“Duke”) under which Duke will purchase the swine waste RECs from the 
conversion of swine waste feedstock into renewable energy as required under the North Carolina Renewable Energy Portfolio Standard.  Once fully 
commissioned, we expect the facility to sell up to an estimated 47 RECs annually.

While these project developments continue, we continue to engage with regulatory agencies in North Carolina related to the resulting power 
generation derived from swine waste to confirm its eligibility for Renewable Energy Credits under North Carolina’s Renewable Energy Portfolio Standards 
in anticipation of commercial production. The Turkey location was approved to participate in the Piedmont Natural Gas Renewable Gas Pilot Program 
which is a step towards obtaining the New Renewable Energy Facility (“NREF”) designation under the North Carolina Utilities Commission.  In January 
2024, we received notification from the North Carolina Utilities Commission that the Turkey, NC location was approved for an NREF and Certificate of 
Public Convenience and Necessity.  In March 2024, we submitted an amendment to our NREF application for which we expect a decision on the NREF 
designation during 2024.  Obtaining this designation could have an impact on the timing of utility infrastructure at the location. We signed a receipt 
interconnection agreement with Piedmont Natural Gas for the Turkey, NC location. This agreement is structured to coincide with the development timeline 
at the Turkey, NC location.  Our Turkey, NC location has been accepted into the Piedmont Natural Gas Renewable Gas Pilot Program. 

We are at the beginning stages of developing the opportunities associated with Montauk Ag Renewables and can give no assurances that our plans 
related to this acquisition will meet our expectations. We continue to design and plan for the development of the facility to be used for commercial 
production. We do not currently expect commercial production to commence until 2025 based on the current development timeline. We intend to contract 
with additional farms to secure feedstock sources, as we commission commercial production and increase our production capabilities, which we anticipate 
will secure additional feedstock for future production processes. 

Other Opportunities 

Other industries that present opportunities of scale for biogas conversion include swine farms and WRRFs. Like dairy farms, biogas production from 
swine farms is a nascent biogas industry, with less than 1% of swine farms with biogas processing capabilities. Additionally, roughly 23% of WRRFs have 
biogas processing facilities, however, most process biogas for electricity production creating additional opportunities for acquisition and conversion to 
RNG facilities. As with LFG and dairy farms, biogas from both swine farms and WRRFs qualify for D3 RINs under the RFS program. We believe our 
demonstrated versatility to operate processing facilities using multiple fuel supply sources will give us a competitive advantage in these markets relative to 
other new entrants who have only demonstrated capabilities with one fuel supply source. The drive toward voluntary and most likely regulatory-required 
organic waste diversion from landfills is of particular interest as we leverage our current experience base. As our biogas processing technology continues to 
improve and the required energy intensity of the RNG and Renewable Electricity production process is reduced, we expect that we will be able to enter new 
markets for our products. 
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Optimize Existing Assets and Project Portfolio and Opportunistically Develop New Projects 

Expanding Operations at Existing Project Sites. We monitor biogas supply availability across our portfolio and seek to maximize production at 
existing projects by expanding operations when economically feasible. Most of our landfill locations continue to accept waste deliveries and the available 
LFG at these sites is expected to increase over time, which we expect to support expanded production. In 2023, this has allowed us to maintain average 
production availability of approximately 90% at our RNG projects and 96% at our Renewable Electricity projects. 

We treat our existing assets as an integrated portfolio rather than a collection of individual projects. This allows us to utilize any new business 
practices or technologies across our entire project portfolio quickly, including advances with respect to troubleshooting, optimization, cost savings, and host 
site interaction. Our integrated, pro-active and value-add approach helps us maintain strong relationships with our partners, which we seek to leverage to 
optimize the performance of our existing projects. 

In addition to monitoring biogas supply, we are incorporating similar collection and processing used for our biogas supply to our byproduct streams 
to capture, clean, and liquefy biogenic carbon dioxide at our existing projects.  In February 2024, we announced our first agreement for certain of our Texas 
facilities related to biogenic carbon dioxide collection.

We also experience organic growth in production at our existing projects as a result of increases in biogas supply at our projects and on-going 
optimization initiatives. We size our projects to account for this increase in the biogas supply curve over time. For example, at many of our newer projects, 
such as Apex and Galveston, we expect gradual increases in production as those landfill sites continue to grow. Additionally, many of our capacity 
expansion efforts to date, such as those at McCarty, Rumpke, and Pico, have helped to optimize our project capacity to take advantage of excess biogas at 
older landfills that are still open and growing. Not only have our projects achieved an initial increase in production following the capacity expansion 
project, but we also expect to see continued gradual increases in production over time. 

Converting Existing Renewable Electricity Projects to RNG. We periodically evaluate opportunities to convert existing projects from electricity 
generation to RNG production. These opportunities tend to be attractive for our merchant electricity projects given the favorable economics for RNG plus 
RIN sales relative to merchant electricity rates plus REC sales. To date, we have converted two projects from LFG-to-electricity to LFG-to-RNG and a 
third project from ADG-to-electricity to ADG-to-RNG. We will continue to explore the feasibility of other opportunities across our remaining Renewable 
Electricity portfolio. 

Opportunistic Development of New RNG Projects. We apply a financially disciplined model toward new project development that considers the 
relative risk of a given project and associated feedstock costs, offtake contracts and any other related Environmental Attributes that can be monetized. We 
are currently developing two project expansion opportunities at existing project sites and one project at a new project site. We regularly analyze potential 
new projects that are at various stages of negotiation, engineering design and financial review. The potential projects typically include a mix of new project 
sites and strategic acquisitions. Currently, no new potential projects are subject to definitive agreements and each potential opportunity is subject to 
competitive market conditions. 

Developing LFG to Renewable Electricity Projects. We continue to analyze for future development to include sites from which we would 
generate renewable electricity. This evaluation of potential new renewable electricity projects would be reviewed with the same financially disciplined 
model we use to evaluate new LFG-to-RNG projects.  

The RNG industry remains highly fragmented. We believe continued industry fragmentation presents an opportunity for further industry 
consolidation. We are well-positioned to take advantage of this consolidation opportunity because of our scale, operational and managerial capabilities, and 
execution track record in integrating acquisitions. Over the last ten years, we have acquired 13 projects and members of our current management team have 
led all of those acquisitions. We expect that as we continue to scale up our business, our increased size, capabilities and access to capital will provide us 
with increased strategic acquisition opportunities. 

Valued-Added Service Offerings 

Over our three decades of experience, we have developed the full range of RNG project related capabilities from engineering, construction, 
management and operations, through EHS oversight and Environmental Attributes management. By vertically integrating across RNG services, we are able 
to reduce development and operations costs, optimize efficiencies and improve operations. Our full suite of capabilities allows us to serve a multi-project 
partner for certain project hosts across multiple transactions, including through strategic transactions. To that end, we actively identify and evaluate 
opportunities to acquire entities that will further our vertically-integrated services.  
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Our Current Operating Portfolio 

We currently own and operate 15 projects, 12 of which are RNG projects and three of which are Renewable Electricity projects. We are currently in 
the process of expanding two RNG project from LFG. We are also working on other projects which will repurpose equipment from existing biogas 
facilities for use at new project sites. The below graphic does not include the Montauk Ag project, which is currently under development. 
 

 

  
Renewable Natural Gas

 

Site COD(1)

Capacity
 (MMBtu/
 day) (2) Source

 Rumpke
Cincinnati, OH 1986 7,271 Landfill

 Atascocita
Humble, TX 2002*/ 2018 5,570 Landfill

 McCarty
Houston, TX 1986 4,415 Landfill

 Apex
Amsterdam, OH 2018 2,673 Landfill

 Monroeville
Monroeville, PA 2004 2,372 Landfill

 Valley
Harrison City, PA 2004 2,372 Landfill

 Galveston
Galveston, TX 2019 1,857 Landfill

 
Renewable Electricity Generation

 Raeger
Johnston, PA 2006 1,857 Landfill

Site COD (1)
Capacity

 (MW) Source
 Shade

Cairnbrook, PA 2007 1,857 Landfill (3)
Bowerman
Irvine, CA 2016 23.6 Landfill

 Coastal
Plains Alvin, TX 2020 1,775 Landfill

Security
Houston, TX (4) 2003 3.4 Landfill

 Southern
Davidsville, PA 2007 928 Landfill

AEL
Sand Spring, OK 2013 3.2 Landfill

 Pico
Jerome, ID 2020 903

Livestock 
 (Dairy)

Total Capacity (MW) 30.2   Total Capacity (MW) 33,850  

 
 

   
 

=  Renewable Natural Gas Project
 

   
 

 

=  Renewable Electricity Project
 

 

(1) “COD” refers to the commercial operation date of each site. 
(2) This is equivalent to the project’s design capacity and assumes inlet methane content of 56% for all sites other than Pico, which assumes inlet 

methane content of 62%, and process efficiency of 91%. 
(3) All of our landfill sites are accepting waste except our Shade site. Our Shade site is closed to accepting new waste, but is currently expected to 

continue to generate a commercial level of RNG for an additional ten years. Our operating RNG projects have an average expected remaining useful 
life of approximately 17 years. 

(4) We reached an agreement with the site host to sell the gas rights ahead of the fuel supply expiration of one of our existing REG operating facilities 
effective October 1, 2024.  The sale comes as the power purchase agreement was set to expire in late 2024.

We have a long history of operating our projects with partners, with our oldest relationship going back nearly 50 years. On average, we have had an 
approximate 20-year history with our current project site owners. As of December 31, 2023, our operating RNG projects have an average expected 
remaining useful life of approximately 17 years and our operating Renewable Electricity projects have an average expected remaining useful life of 
approximately 26 years, including renewal periods. 
 

Approximately 69% of our 2023 RNG production has been monetized under fuel supply agreements with expiration dates more than 15 years from 
December 31, 2023. Approximately 90% of our 2023 Renewable Electricity production has been monetized under fuel supply agreements with expiration 
dates more than 15 years from December 31, 2023. Concurrent with our fuel supply agreements, we typically enter into property leases with our project 
hosts, which govern access rights, permitted activities, easements and other property rights. We own all equipment and facilities on each leased property, 
other than equipment provided by utility companies providing services on-site. Lease termination typically requires the restoration of the leased area to its 
original condition. We have successfully ended leases on six of our former facilities.
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Our RNG projects currently utilize three of the four proven commercial technologies available to process raw biogas into RNG, including: pressure 
swing absorption (“PSA”), Membrane Filtration and solvent scrubbing. We are capable of working with virtually all available biogas processing 
technologies at our sites. We attend industry conferences and maintain an ongoing dialogue with key equipment providers to ensure we stay informed of the 
latest technology that could be deployed at our current and future facilities. 

Stated capacity reflects the design capacity of each facility. Several of our projects have reserve capacity when comparing design capacity to 
available biogas feedstock. Several previous acquisitions are gas limited and therefore do not operate at their design capacity. Our larger projects have 
expansions planned or are being evaluated for future expansions dependent on the availability of excess biogas feedstock. 

RNG Projects 

We currently own and operate 12 RNG projects across four states: Ohio (two), Pennsylvania (five), Texas (four) and Idaho (one) which, in the 
aggregate, have a total design capacity of approximately 33,850 MMBtu/day. 

RNG Projects 
 
Site  Location  Capacity*
Rumpke  Cincinnati, OH  7,271 MMBtu/day
Atascocita  Humble, TX  5,570 MMBtu/day
McCarty  Houston, TX  4,415 MMBtu/day
Apex  Amsterdam, OH  2,673 MMBtu/day
Monroeville  Monroeville, PA  2,372 MMBtu/day
Valley  Harrison City, PA  2,372 MMBtu/day
Galveston  Galveston, TX  1,857 MMBtu/day
Raeger Mountain  Johnstown, PA  1,857 MMBtu/day
Shade  Cairnbrook, PA  1,857 MMBtu/day
Coastal Plains  Alvin, TX  1,775 MMBtu/day
Southern  Davidsville, PA  928 MMBtu/day
Pico  Jerome, ID  903 MMBtu/day
Total  33,850 MMBtu/day
 

* Assumes inlet methane content of 56% for all sites other than Pico, which assumes inlet methane content of 62%, and process efficiency of 91%. 

Renewable Electricity Projects 

We currently own and operate the following three Renewable Electricity projects in California, Oklahoma, and Texas which, in the aggregate, have a 
total design capacity of approximately 30.2 MW. Our Renewable Electricity projects utilize reciprocating engine generator sets to generate electricity at 
landfills. This does not include the Montauk Ag Renewables project in North Carolina, which is not yet operational. 

Renewable Electricity Projects 
 
Site  Location  Capacity(1)
Bowerman Power  Irvine, CA  23.6 MW
Security  Cleveland, TX  3.4 MW
Tulsa/AEL (3)  Sand Springs, OK  3.2 MW
Pico(2)  Jerome, ID  2.3 MW
   

Total  32.5 MW
 

(1) Assumes inlet methane content of 56% and process efficiency of 91%, 
(2) Beginning in October 2020, we began reporting the result of operations of Pico within RNG, but Pico continues to generate Renewable Electricity. 
(3) We reached an agreement with the site host to sell the gas rights ahead of the fuel supply expiration of one of our existing REG operating facilities 

effective October 1, 2024.  The sale comes as the power purchase agreement was set to expire in late 2024.
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A critical component of our business is our ability to negotiate and maintain long-term fuel supply agreements at our project sites. We have 
developed strong working relationships with our landfill site owners, including ten of 14 operating projects and other potential development projects each 
with Waste Management and Republic Services, the two largest waste companies in the United States, and actively seek to strategically extend our tenure at 
our project sites. 

Our projects provide our landfill and agricultural partners a solution to monetize biogas from their sites, support their regulatory compliance and 
provide them with environmental services. We have had working relationships with Republic Services since 1986 and with Waste Management since 2004 
and we enable monetization of their biogas while maintaining regulatory compliance. We seek to differentiate ourselves from our competitors through our 
extensive experience across a variety of commercialized beneficial uses of processed biogas, including pipeline-quality natural gas, power generation and 
boiler fuel gas products. To date, we have not had any fuel supply agreement terminated by any site partner once we have established a facility on the site, 
which we believe serves as evidence of our operational expertise, reliability and consistent value delivered to our site partners. The table below is a 
summary of the expiration periods of those agreements. We are consistently reviewing and pursuing extensions for all of our fuel supply agreements well 
before their expirations and for future agreements, we continue to target contracts with expirations of 20 years from commencement of operation with 
options for extension. 

Fuel Supply Agreement Summary 

RNG Projects 
 

Fuel Supply Agreement Expiration Dates  
Current Sites as of 
December 31, 2023   

% of 2023 Total 
RNG Production  

Within 0-5 years   3    6.8 %
Between 6-15 years   2    24.4 %
Greater than 15 years   7    68.8 %

 
Renewable Electricity Projects 
 

Fuel Supply Agreement Expiration Dates  

Current Sites as
 of December 31,
 2023   

% of 2023 Total
 Renewable

 Electricity
 Production  

Within 0-5 years   1    7.8 %
Between 6-15 years   0    0 %
Greater than 15 years(1)   2    88.9 %

 

(1) Our Pico project continues to generate both RNG and Renewable Electricity and is accounted for above in the RNG Projects summary. 

Customers 

Our customers for RNG and RINs typically include large, long-term owner-operators of landfills and livestock farms, local utilities, and large 
refiners in the natural gas and refining sectors. Royalty structures included in our agreements, as well as the large size of our counterparties, limit their 
credit risk. Valero, GE Warren, and HF Sinclair represented approximately 31.6%, 16.8% and 16.8%, respectively, of our operating revenues in 2023 from 
the sale of Environmental Attributes. We sell RINs to numerous RIN off-take parties and our largest RIN off-taker as a percentage of revenue can vary year 
to year given the short-term nature of these contracts. In addition to revenues from sales of RNG and RINs, we also share a portion of our Environmental 
Attributes with our pathway providers as in-kind consideration for the counterparty using our RNG as a transportation fuel. 

Our customers for electricity typically include investor-owned and municipal electricity utilities. For the sale of Renewable Electricity and RECs, 
the City of Anaheim represented approximately 9.5% of our operating revenues in 2023. These sales occurred under a PPA between us and the City of 
Anaheim, in which electricity and RECs are sold at fixed prices. In 2023, we converted 100% of the monetization of our Renewable Electricity production 
and Environmental Attributes under fixed-price agreements. For our electricity sales, all of our customers with whom we have off-take agreements are 
investment-grade entities with low credit risk. 

No other single customer represented more than 10% of our total 2023 operating revenues. 
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Suppliers and Equipment Vendors 

The major technologies used by our projects for gas processing include solvent scrubbing PSA and membrane separation. For electricity generation, 
we use reciprocating engines. This affords Montauk experience with substantially all major vendors in the sector, and technical expertise in numerous 
technologies. 

We source equipment from a variety of major suppliers with specialties in each technology. We enter into written ordinary-course agreements with 
suppliers to obtain industry-standard equipment for use in our operations. The contracts generally do not include any intellectual property rights other than 
for the intended use of the equipment. Membrane separation equipment is primarily provided by UOP and Air Liquide. PSA equipment is primarily 
provided by Xebec, Guild, Air Products, and BioFerm. Solvent scrubbing is primarily provided by Selexol. RNG ancillary constituent removal is done 
using equipment provided by Iron Sponge, MV Technologies, Thiopaq, Guild Associates, and PSB Industries. Electricity generation equipment is provided 
by Solar Turbines, Caterpillar, and Jenbacher. 

We have made substantial investments in a centralized Enterprise Resource Planning (“ERP”) system (Microsoft Dynamics) to better integrate 
operations across our projects. This system centralizes maintenance operations across all of our projects. Our proactive approach to maintenance, corrective 
maintenance, root cause analysis, failure reporting, project management, and budgeting are all completed using the ERP system.  We are currently in the 
process of migrating our ERP to the latest version of the Microsoft Dynamics system.  We anticipate having this system migration completed in 2024.  

Competition 

There are several other companies operating in the renewable energy and waste-to-energy space, ranging from other project developers to service or 
equipment providers. 

Our primary competition is from other companies or solutions for access to biogas from waste. Evolving consumer preferences, regulatory 
conditions, ongoing waste industry trends, and project economics have a strong effect on the competitive landscape and our relative ability to continue to 
generate revenues and cash flows. We believe that our status as one of the largest operators of LFG-to-RNG projects, our 30-year track record of operating 
and developing projects, and our deep relationships with some of the largest landfill owners and dairy farms in the country position us very well to continue 
to operate and grow our portfolio, and respond to competitive pressures. We have demonstrated a track record of strategic flexibility across our 30-year 
history which has allowed us to pivot towards projects and markets that we believe deliver optimal returns and stockholder value in response to changes in 
market, regulatory and competitive pressures.

The biogas market is highly fragmented. We believe our size relative to many other LFG companies and our capital structure puts us in a strong 
position to compete for new project development opportunities or acquisitions of existing projects. However, competition for such opportunities, including 
the prices being offered for fuel supply, will impact the expected profitability of projects to us, and may make projects unsuitable to pursue. Likewise, 
prices being offered by our competitors for fuel supply may increase the royalty rates that we pay under our fuel supply agreements when such agreements 
expire and need to be renewed or when expansion opportunities present themselves at the landfills where our projects currently operate. It is also possible 
that more landfill owners may seek to install their own LFG projects on their sites, which would reduce the number of opportunities for us to develop new 
projects. Our overall size, reputation, access to capital, experience and decades of proven execution on LFG project development and operation leave us 
well-positioned to compete with other companies in our industry. 

We are aware of several competitors in the United States that have a similar business model to our own, including Clean Energy Fuels Corp, Opal 
Fuels, U.S. Gain, Brightmark, Gevo Inc., and AMP Energy, as well as companies with biogas-to-energy facilities as a segment or subsidiary of their 
operations, including DTE, Ameresco, and British Petroleum (bp, acquired Archaea Energy in 2022). In addition, certain landfill operators, such as Waste 
Management, have also chosen to selectively pursue biogas conversion projects at their sites. Finally, Republic has entered into a joint venture with bp 
(formerly through Archaea Energy) to develop certain of its LFG locations. 

Government Regulation 

Our projects are subject to a range of federal, state and local environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, depending on the nature and 
configuration of the project, as well as where the project is located. We have established processes and procedures to comply with laws and regulations 
applicable to our operations, and have partnered with external experts, as needed, to meet applicable compliance requirements. As a renewable energy 
company, we are committed to being good stewards of the environment and to positively impacting the communities in which we operate. 

All of our current Renewable Electricity projects are QFs. As a result, the facilities are exempt from rate regulation under Sections 205 and 206 of 
the Federal Power Act. We are required to document the QF status of each of our facilities in applications or 
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self-certifications filed with FERC, which typically require disclosure of upstream facility ownership, fuel and size characteristics, power sales, 
interconnection matters, and related technical disclosures. Failure to maintain QF status may subject the project to additional regulatory requirements and 
may require the payment of refunds to customers and other costs or penalties. 

We are subject to the Clean Air Act which regulates the emissions of pollutants to protect the environmental and public health. The combustion of 
biogas results in emissions of carbon monoxide, oxides of nitrogen, sulfur dioxide, volatile organic compounds and particulate matter. Federal, state and 
local laws may require us to obtain permits or impose other burdens, including monitoring, testing recordkeeping and reporting by us in order for us to 
conduct operations. In addition, our operations and the operations of landfills may be subject to additional air emissions laws and regulations, such as those 
designed to address the emission of methane, a potent GHG. 

Among other laws, we are subject to Subtitle D of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act and other federal, state and local laws, which 
impose conditions on the handling of non-hazardous waste, including the emission of methane in landfills. Likewise, we are subject to the Comprehensive 
Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 and other federal, state and local laws, which govern the investigation and cleanup of 
sites contaminated with hazardous substances. We have not been identified as a potentially responsible party with respect to environmental remedial costs 
at any site to date. We also may be required to obtain permits to discharge wastewater and stormwater pursuant to the Clean Water Act’s National Pollutant 
Discharge Elimination System and other federal, state and local laws governing such discharges. 

Our RNG projects are subject to federal RFS program regulations, including the Energy Policy Act of 2005 and the Energy Independence and 
Security Act. The EPA administers the RFS program with volume requirements for several categories of renewable fuels. The EPA’s RFS regulations 
establish rules for fuel supplied and administer the RIN system for compliance, trading credits and rules for waivers. The EPA calculates a blending 
standard for each year based on estimates of gasoline usage from the Department of Energy’s Energy Information Agency. Separate quotas and blending 
requirements are determined for cellulosic biofuels, BBD, advanced biofuels and total renewable fuel. Further, we are required to register each RNG 
project with the EPA and relevant state regulatory agencies. 

We qualify our RINs through a voluntary Quality Assurance Plan, which typically takes from three to five months from first injection of RNG into 
the commercial pipeline system. Further, we typically make a large investment in the project prior to receiving the regulatory approval and RIN 
qualification. In addition to registering each RNG project, we are subject to quarterly audits under the Quality Assurance Plan of our projects to validate 
our qualification. 

Our RNG projects are also subject to state renewable fuel standard regulations. The CA LCFS program requires producers of petroleum-based fuels 
to reduce the CI of their products, beginning with a quarter of a percent in 2011, a 10% total reduction in 2020, and a 20% total reduction in 2030. 
Petroleum importers, refiners and wholesalers can either develop their own low-carbon fuel products, or buy CA LCFS credits from other companies that 
develop and sell low-carbon alternative fuels, such as biofuels, electricity, natural gas or hydrogen. We are subject to a qualification process similar to that 
for RINs, including verification of CI levels and other requirements, currently exists for CA LCFS credits. 

Our RNG projects are also impacted by state and federal gas quality standards. State regulators determine whether RNG may be purchased by the 
state’s local gas utilities, and whether a site operator may directly sell gas to a retail, or direct end-use, customer. FERC regulates the natural gas pipelines 
that transport gas in interstate commerce, and specifies or approves a gas pipeline’s tariff that sets the rates, terms and conditions, gas quality, and other 
requirements applicable to transportation of natural gas on the pipelines, including shipping RNG. Our sites are not permitted, and may not be physically 
able, to deliver RNG to a FERC regulated pipeline unless the pipeline’s receipt of the gas is consistent with the standards adopted in the pipeline’s FERC 
tariff. RNG-related gas quality standards may vary by pipeline and may be revised at any time, subject to all required regulatory approvals. We routinely 
test the RNG produced at our facilities in order to ensure compliance with applicable pipeline gas quality standards. 

We monitor regulatory trends and developments in the U.S. regarding the regulation of greenhouse gas emissions. We are aware the EPA proposed 
the regulation of methane emissions, a greenhouse gas, from oil and gas facilities in November 2021. We do not anticipate this proposed regulation will 
apply to our operations and could, combined with another public policy and private sector initiatives, increase interest in developing more renewable 
energy projects in the U.S. We will continue to monitor greenhouse gas regulatory initiatives in the U.S. and assess their potential relevance to our business 
and operations. 

We routinely conduct compliance audits on our projects to proactively identify and correct potential compliance deficiencies or risks. Additionally, 
we closely monitor emerging regulatory developments that may impact our operations or business strategy. Montauk also participates in industry trade 
groups, such as the RNG Coalition, to advocate policies and regulatory frameworks that support continued expansion of renewable energy in the United 
States. 
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The operation of our business may expose us to certain liabilities and compliance costs related to environmental matters. These liabilities or 
compliance costs did not have a material effect on our capital expenditures or competitive position for fiscal 2023, nor do we expect them to have a 
material effect in the future. We believe we are in material compliance with all environmental regulations applicable to our operations. 

Inflation Reduction Act. The Inflation Reduction Act (IRA or the Act) will be administered by multiple federal agencies including EPA, U.S. 
Department of Energy and the Internal Revenue Service of the U.S. Department of the Treasury. The goals of the IRA include incentivizing the 
development and production of renewable energy. We cannot speculate on exactly how the IRA will be implemented; however, the Act does contain 
numerous incentives for the production of clean energy which may impact our products. 

Employees and Human Capital Resources 

Employee Profile 

We employed 151 people on December 31, 2023, located in California, Idaho, Ohio, Oklahoma, Pennsylvania, North Carolina and Texas. Our 
employee population is comprised of a mix of field operations personnel and office-based professionals. As of December 31, 2023, none of our employees 
were represented by a collective bargaining unit or labor union. We consider our employee relations to be good across our organization. 

Health and Safety 

Safety, including the health of our employees, is one of our core values and a priority across our operations. We are committed to developing a 
strong health and safety culture that reduces injuries and illness whenever possible. Our health and safety strategy is designed to proactively identify, 
mitigate and eliminate conditions that could result in serious injury or fatality. We also routinely train our employees on health and safety practices 
applicable to their job function and provide them all necessary personal protective equipment to perform their job in a safe manner. 

Our recordable cases and total recordable incident rate (“TRIR”), excluding COVID-19 related incidents, was 0.00 and 3.00 in 2023 and 2022, 
respectively.  The 2022 TRIR national average was 2.7 for all industries. We continue to focus on practices and measures to lower our TRIR. 

Employee Development and Training 

The success and growth of our business is significantly correlated with our ability to recruit, train, promote and retain talented individuals at all 
levels of our organization. To succeed in a competitive labor market, we have developed and implemented various recruitment and retention strategies. 
These include competitive salary structures, bonus programs and competitive benefits, as well as paid time off, sick leave, disability coverage, group term 
life insurance, and a retirement savings program. We also offer our employees tuition reimbursement for job-related education and training opportunities.  
We have also begun leadership and developmental training for our director and manager level employees.

Intellectual Property 

We rely on a combination of patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws, employee and third-party nondisclosure/confidentiality agreements 
and license agreements to protect our intellectual property. We acquired certain technology associated with the Montauk Ag Renewables Acquisition for 
which we received a patent during 2021 with a term of 20 years. In 2022, we filed a provisional patent application pertaining to a combustion-based oxygen 
removal condensate neutralization technology we developed. The provisional patent covers a new low pH neutralization technology designed to mitigate 
unfavorable pH condensate that is produced when wastewater is removed from the biogas conversion process. While we hold patents related to our 
business, we do not view our patents to be material to our total business. 

Segments and Geographic Information 

We have two operating segments: Renewable Natural Gas and Renewable Electricity Generation. While our corporate entity is not an operating 
segment, we discretely disclose corporate entity revenues for purposes of reconciliation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements. For 
information regarding revenues and other information regarding our results of operations for each of our last two financial years, please refer to our 
financial statements included in this report and within “Item 7.—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” 
of this report. 
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Corporate Information 

Montauk Renewables, Inc. is incorporated in the State of Delaware. Our principal executive offices are located at 5313 Campbells Run Road, Suite 
200, Pittsburgh, PA 15205. Our telephone number is (412) 747-8700. 

We are required to file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. The SEC maintains an Internet 
site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at 
http://www.sec.gov. 

We also make financial information, news releases and other information available on our corporate investor relations website at 
www.ir.montaukrenewables.com. Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to 
those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), are available 
free of charge on this website as soon as reasonably practicable after we file these reports and amendments with, or furnish them to, the SEC. The 
information contained on or connected to our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K and should not be considered 
part of this or any other report filed with the SEC. 

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012. As an emerging growth company, we may 
take advantage of certain reduced reporting requirements that are otherwise applicable generally to public companies. We currently intend to take 
advantage of several of these reduced reporting requirements, including the extended transition periods for complying with new or revised accounting 
standards. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors—Emerging Growth Company Risks” for certain risks related to our status as an emerging growth company. 

We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“Nasdaq”) corporate governance standards. Certain 
stockholders, which are affiliates of two of our directors, Mr. John A. Copelyn and Theventheran G. Govender, own approximately 52.3% of our common 
stock and have entered into a Consortium Agreement (the “Consortium Agreement”) whereby the parties thereto will agree to act in concert with respect to 
voting our common stock, including in the election of directors, among other matters. As a controlled company, we may elect not to comply with certain 
Nasdaq corporate governance standards. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors—Common Stock Risks” for certain risks related to our status as a controlled company. 

This report includes estimates, projections, and other information concerning our industry and market data, including data regarding the estimated 
size of the market, projected growth rates, and perceptions and preferences of consumers. We obtained this data from industry sources, third-party studies, 
including market analyses and reports, and internal company surveys. Industry sources generally state that the information contained therein has been 
obtained from sources believed to be reliable. Although we are responsible for all of the disclosure contained in this report, and we believe the industry and 
market data to be reliable as of the date of this report, this information could prove to be inaccurate. 
 

Information About Our Executive Officers 

Below is a list of the names, ages, and positions of our executive officers, and a brief summary of the business experience of our executive officers 
(ages as of March 1, 2024). 
 
Name  Age  Position
Sean F. McClain  49  President and Chief Executive Officer, Director
Kevin A. Van Asdalan  46  Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
James A. Shaw  52  Vice President of Operations
Michael Barsch  50  Vice President of Business Development
John Ciroli  53  Chief Legal Officer and Secretary
Sharon Frank  67  Vice President of Environmental, Health and Safety

Sean F. McClain. Mr. McClain has served as our President and Chief Executive Officer and a member of our Board of Directors since January 
2021. Prior to the Reorganization Transactions, Mr. McClain served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Montauk Holdings USA and as a member 
of its Board of Directors. From April 2011 until September 2019, Mr. McClain served as Chief Financial Officer of Montauk Holdings USA and Montauk 
Energy Holdings.  Prior to joining Montauk in 2011, he held various management positions with BPL Global Limited, Bayer and Dick’s Sporting Goods 
and was in public accounting at Arthur Andersen LLP. He is a certified public accountant and has over 25 years of business and financial management 
experience. 
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Kevin A. Van Asdalan.  Mr. Van Asdalan has served as our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer since January 2021. Prior to the Reorganization 
Transactions, Mr. Van Asdalan served as Chief Financial Officer of Montauk Holdings USA and as a member of its Board of Directors.  From March 2018 
until September 2019, Mr. Van Asdalan served as Controller of Montauk Energy Holdings and Montauk Holdings USA. Prior to joining Montauk in 2018, 
Mr. Van Asdalan served as a lines of business controller and manager of external reporting at L.B. Foster Company, a manufacturer, distributor and service 
provider for transportation and energy infrastructure, from July 2011 to March 2018. Prior to L.B. Foster, Mr. Van Asdalan held senior associate accounting 
positions at PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and Sisterson & Co LLP.  He is a certified public accountant and chartered global management accountant with 
nearly 25 years of business and financial management experience and holds a Master of Business Administration from the University of Pittsburgh Katz 
Graduate School of Business.    

James A. Shaw.  Mr. Shaw has served as our Vice President of Operations since January 2021 and has served as Vice President of Operations of 
Montauk Energy Holdings since September 2019. He previously served as North Region Manager of Montauk Energy Holdings from May 2016 to 
September 2019. He was a Site Manager for five Montauk Energy Holdings operating sites from April 2015 to April 2016 and two Montauk Energy 
Holdings operating sites from June 2010 to March 2015. Prior to joining Montauk, Mr. Shaw was a facility manager for SONY Electronics at the world’s 
first vertically integrated television manufacturing facilities. Mr. Shaw has more than 25 years of experience in facilities operations and management. 

Michael J. Barsch.  Mr. Barsch has served as our Vice President of Business Development since September 2023.  He previously served as Director 
of Projects from January to September 2023. From February 2021 to January 2023, Mr. Barsch was Vice President of Construction for BerQ RNG, a 
renewable energy producer.  Mr. Barsch was a renewable energy consultant from March 2019 to February 2021 and Vice President of Projects for Energy 
Developments Limited, a renewable energy producer, from March 2016 to March 2019.  From November 2013 to March 2016, he was Managing Director 
of Construction for Renewable Energy Trust Capital.  Mr. Barsch has over 25 years of experience managing the construction of renewable energy projects.

John Ciroli. Mr. Ciroli has served as our Chief Legal Officer since January 2023.  He served as our Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary 
from January 2021 until January 2023 and in the same role with Montauk Energy Holdings upon joining in July 2020.  From July 2016 to July 2020, Mr. 
Ciroli was the North American Counsel and HR Manager for the North American subsidiaries of FAAC Group, a company that designs solutions for 
pedestrian and vehicle needs, representing the entities in their American and Canadian portfolio. From 2014 to July 2016, Mr. Ciroli was a Senior 
Litigation Counsel with the Housing Authority of the City of Pittsburgh. Mr. Ciroli has over 25 years of experience representing and advising domestic and 
international corporations and government entities in the areas of contracts, mergers and acquisitions, litigation, employment and governmental 
procurement and regulatory affairs. He was also a professor for Concord Law School, now Purdue Global, in the areas of Contracts, Constitutional Law, 
Torts and Evidence and is a member of the Pennsylvania State Bar and the bar of the U.S. Supreme Court. 

Sharon Frank.  Ms. Frank has served as our Vice President of Environmental, Health and Safety since October 2021. She served as our Director of 
Environmental, Health and Safety from April 2020 until October 2021 and as Manager of Environmental Compliance from June 2007 until April 2020. 
Prior to joining Montauk, from 2000 to 2007, Ms. Frank was Manager of Environmental Affairs for Duquesne Light Company’s unregulated business 
group. Ms. Frank has over 30 years of regulatory and environmental compliance experience. 
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS. 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking information based on our current expectations. Because our business is subject to 
many risks and our actual results may differ materially from any forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of us, this section includes a discussion 
of important factors that could affect our business, operating results, financial condition and the trading price of Montauk common stock. You should 
carefully consider these risk factors, together with all of the other information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as well as our other publicly 
available filings with the SEC. Although the risks are organized by headings, and each risk is discussed separately, many are interrelated. 

 

Operational Risks

Our renewable energy projects may not generate expected levels of output. 

 
Landfills contain organic material whose decomposition causes the generation of gas consisting primarily of methane, which our RNG projects use 

to generate power or renewable natural gas, and carbon dioxide. The estimation of landfill gas production volume is an inexact process and dependent on 
many site-specific conditions, including the estimated annual waste volume, composition of waste, regional climate and the capacity and construction of 
the landfill. Production levels are subject to a number of additional risks, including a failure or wearing out of our or our landfill operators’, customers’ or 
utilities’ equipment; an inability to find suitable replacement equipment or parts; less than expected supply or quality of the project’s source of biogas and 
faster 
than expected diminishment of such biogas supply; or volume disruption in our fuel supply collection system. Any extended interruption and/or volume 
disruption in the project’s operation, or failure of the project for any reason to generate the expected amount of output, could adversely affect our business 
and operating results. For example, we produced fewer MMBTu and MWh in the third quarter of 2023 compared with the third quarter of 2022 due to dry 
weather conditions and higher ambient temperatures.  In addition, we have in the past, and may in the future, incur material asset impairment charges if any 
of our renewable energy projects incurs operational issues that indicate our expected future cash flows from the project are less than the project’s carrying 
value. Any such impairment charge could adversely affect our operating results in the period in which the charge is recorded. 
 

In addition, in order to maximize collection of LFG, we will need to take various measures, such as drilling additional gas wells in the landfill to 
increase LFG collection, balancing the pressure on the gas field based on the data collected by the landfill operator from the gas wells to ensure optimum 
landfill gas utilization and ensuring that we match availability of engines and related equipment to availability of LFG. There can be no guarantee that we 
will be able to take all necessary measures to maximize collection. In addition, the LFG available to our projects is dependent in part on the actions of other 
persons, such as landfill operators. We may not be able to ensure the responsible management of the landfill site by owners and operators, which may result 
in less than optimal gas generation or increase the likelihood of “hot spots” occurring. Hot spots can temporarily reduce the volume of gas which may be 
collected from a landfill site, resulting in a lower gas yield. Other events that can result in a reduction in LFG output include: extreme hot or cold 
temperatures or excessive rainfall; liquid levels within a landfill increasing; oxidation within a landfill, which can kill the anaerobic microbes that produce 
landfill gas; and the buildup of sludge. The occurrence of these or any other changes within any of the landfills where our projects operate could lead to a 
reduction in the amount of LFG available to operate our projects, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations. 
 

The concentration in revenues from five of our projects and geographic concentration of our projects expose us to greater risks of production 
interruptions from severe weather or other interruptions of production or transmission. 
 

A substantial portion of our revenues are generated from five project sites. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, excluding the effect of 
derivative instruments, approximately 68.4% and 72.4%, respectively, of operating revenues were derived from these locations. During 2023, RNG 
production at our McCarty, Rumpke, Atascocita and Apex facilities accounted for approximately 16.2, 18.8%, 21.0% and 9.9% of our RNG revenues, 
respectively, and 14.5%, 24.7%, 20.2% and 9.9% of the RNG we produced during 2023, respectively. During 2023, Renewable Electricity production at 
our Bowerman Power LFG, LLC (“Bowerman”) facility accounted for approximately 89.7% of our Renewable Electricity Generation revenues and 80.3% 
of the Renewable Electricity we produced during 2023. A lengthy interruption of production or transmission of renewable energy from one or more of 
these projects, as a result of a severe weather event, failure or degradation of our or a landfill operator’s equipment or interconnection transmission 
problems could have a disproportionate effect on our revenues and cash flow. 

 
Our Atascocita, McCarty, Galveston and Coastal Plains projects are located within 20 miles of each other near Houston, Texas and seven of our 

other RNG projects are located in relatively close proximity to each other in Pennsylvania and Ohio. Regional events, such as gas transmission 
interruptions, regional availability of replacement parts and service in the event of equipment failures and severe weather events in either of those 
geographic regions have previously adversely affected, and if the future could adverse 
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affect, our RNG production and transmission.  These impacts are greater than would be if our business was more geographically diverse.
 

Our projects are not able to insure against all potential risks and may become subject to higher insurance premiums. 
 

Our projects are exposed to the risks inherent in the construction and operation of renewable energy projects, such as breakdowns, manufacturing 
defects, extreme weather, natural disasters, terrorist attacks and sabotage. We are also exposed to environmental risks. 

 
We have insurance policies covering certain risks associated with our business. Our insurance policies do not, however, cover all losses, including, 

in some situations, those as a result of force majeure, which is generally defined as events that are beyond the control of the parties. For example, we did 
not receive any insurance recovery from the shutdowns in Houston in February 2021 due to the extreme cold or from the Bowerman shutdown in October 
2020 due to wildfires. Even if insurance policies for some of our projects cover losses as a result of certain types of force majeure events, such coverage is 
subject to important limitations. Furthermore, insurance liabilities are difficult to assess and quantify due to unknown factors, including the severity of an 
injury, the determination of our liability in proportion to other parties, the number of incidents not reported and the effectiveness of our safety program. 
Insurance coverage is not always available on commercially reasonable terms (if at all) and is often capped at predetermined limits. In addition, our 
insurance policies are subject to annual review by our insurers and may not be renewed on similar or favorable terms or at all. A serious uninsured loss or a 
loss significantly exceeding the limits of our insurance policies could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

 

Competition Risks 

 
We may face intense competition and may not be able to successfully compete. 
 

There are a number of other companies operating in the renewable energy and waste-to-energy markets. These include other renewable energy 
companies and service or equipment providers, consultants, managers and strategic investors. 
 

We may not have the resources to compete with our existing competitors or with any new competitors, including in a competitive bidding process. 
Some of our competitors have significantly larger personnel, financial and managerial resources than we have, and we may fail to maintain or expand our 
business. Our competitors may also offer energy solutions at prices below cost, devote significant sales forces to competing with us or attempt to recruit our 
key personnel by increasing compensation, any of which could improve their competitive positions. Moreover, if the demand for renewable energy 
increases, new companies may enter the market, and the influx of added competition will pose an increased risk to us. 
 

Further, certain of our strategic partners and other landfill or agricultural operators could decide to manage, recover and convert biogas from waste 
to renewable energy on their own which would further increase our competition, limit the number of commercially viable landfill sites available for our 
projects or require us to reduce our profit margins to maintain or acquire projects. 

 
Our success depends, in part, on technological innovation to stay ahead of market competitors. 
 

Our success will depend on our ability to create and maintain a competitive position in the renewable energy industry. Other than the patented 
technology acquired through the Montauk Ag Renewables Acquisition and our internally developed condensate neutralization technology, we do not have 
any exclusive rights to any of the technologies that we utilize, and our competitors may currently use and may be planning to use identical, similar or 
superior technologies. While significant to the development associated with our emerging North Carolina Montauk Ag Renewables business, we do not 
currently consider patented technology material to the total business. In addition, the technologies that we use may be rendered obsolete or uneconomical 
by technological advances, more efficient and cost-effective processes or entirely different approaches developed by one or more of our competitors or 
others. 
 

We may also face competition based on technological developments that reduce demand for electricity, increase power supplies through existing 
infrastructure or that otherwise compete with our projects. We also encounter competition in the form of potential customers electing to develop solutions 
or perform services internally rather than engaging an outside provider such as us. 
 
Our use and enjoyment of real property rights for our projects may be adversely affected by the rights of lienholders and leaseholders that are superior 
to those of the grantors of those real property rights to our projects. 
 

Our projects generally are, and any of our future projects are likely to be, located on land occupied pursuant to long-term easements, leases and 
rights of way. The ownership interests in the land subject to these easements, leases and rights-of-way may be subject to mortgages securing loans or other 
liens (such as tax liens) and other easement, lease rights and rights-of-way of third parties 
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(such as leases of oil or mineral rights) that were created prior to our projects’ easements, leases and rights-of-way. As a result, certain of our projects’ 
rights under these easements, leases or rights-of-way may be subject, and subordinate, to the rights of those third parties. We may not be able to protect our 
operating projects against all risks of loss of our rights to use the land on which our projects are located, and any such loss or curtailment of our rights to 
use the land on which our projects are located and any increase in rent due on such lands could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results 
of operations. 

 
We may not be able to obtain long-term contracts for the sale of power produced by our projects on favorable terms and we may not meet certain 
milestones and other performance criteria under existing PPAs. 
 

Obtaining long-term contracts for the sale of power produced by our projects at prices and on other terms favorable to us is essential for the long 
term success of our business. We must compete for PPAs against other developers of renewable energy projects. This intense competition for PPAs has 
resulted in downward pressure on PPA pricing for newly contracted projects. The inability to compete successfully against other power producers or 
otherwise enter into PPAs favorable to us would negatively affect our ability to develop and finance our projects and negatively affect our revenues. In 
addition, the availability of PPAs depends on utility and corporate energy procurement practices that could evolve and shift allocation of market risks over 
time. Further, PPA availability and terms are a function of a number of economic, regulatory, tax, and public policy factors, which are also subject to 
change. 
 

Our PPAs typically require us to meet certain milestones and other performance criteria. Our failure to meet these milestones and other criteria, 
including minimum quantities, may result in price concessions, in which case we would lose any future cash flow from the relevant project. In addition, we 
have in the past and, in the future, may be required to pay fees and penalties to our counterparty. We cannot assure you that we will be able to perform our 
obligations under such agreements, that fees and penalties will remain insignificant, or that we will have sufficient funds to pay any fees or penalties 
thereunder. 

 
Business Strategy Risks 

 
Our commercial success depends on our ability to identify, acquire, develop and operate individual renewable energy projects, as well as our ability to 
maintain and expand production at our current projects. 
 

We aim to maintain and grow our position as a leading producer of RNG in the United States. Our specific focus on the renewable energy sector 
exposes us to risks related to the supply of and demand for energy commodities and Environmental Attributes, the cost of capital expenditures, government 
regulation, world and regional events and economic conditions, and the acceptance of alternative power sources. As a renewable energy producer, we may 
also be negatively affected by lower energy output resulting from variable inputs, mechanical breakdowns, faulty technology, competitive electricity 
markets or changes to the laws and regulations that mandate the use of renewable energy sources by refiners and importers of gasoline and diesel fuel and 
electric utilities. 

In addition, several other factors related to the development and operation of individual renewable energy projects could adversely affect our 
business, including: 

• regulatory changes that affect the demand for or supply of Environmental Attributes and the prices thereof, which could have a significant 
effect on the financial performance of our projects and the number of potential projects with attractive economics; 

• changes in energy commodity prices, such as natural gas and wholesale electricity prices, which could have a significant effect on our 
revenues; 

• changes in pipeline gas quality standards or other regulatory changes that may limit our ability to transport RNG on pipelines for delivery to 
third parties or increase the costs of processing RNG to allow for such deliveries; 

• changes in the broader waste collection industry, including changes affecting the waste collection and biogas potential of the landfill industry, 
which could impede the LFG resource that we currently target for our projects; 

• substantial construction risks, including the risk of delay, that may arise due to forces outside of our control, including those related to 
engineering and environmental problems, as a result of inclement weather or labor disruptions; 

• operating risks and the effect of disruptions on our business, weather conditions, catastrophic events such as fires, explosions, earthquakes, 
droughts and acts of terrorism, and other force majeure events on us, our customers, suppliers, distributors and subcontractors; 

• the ability to obtain financing for a project on acceptable terms or at all and the need for substantially more capital than initially budgeted to 
complete projects and exposure to liabilities as a result of unforeseen environmental, construction, technological or other complications; 

 
•  
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• entering into markets where we have less experience, such as our projects for biogas recovery at livestock farms; 

• exposure to liabilities as a result of unforeseen environmental, construction, technological or other complications; 

• failures or delays in obtaining desired or necessary land rights, including ownership, leases, easements, zoning rights and building permits; 

• a decrease in the availability, pricing and timeliness of delivery of raw materials and components, necessary for the projects to function; 

• obtaining and keeping in good standing permits, authorizations and consents from local city, county, state and U.S. federal governments as 
well as local and U.S. federal governmental organizations; 

• penalties, including potential termination, under short-term and long-term contracts for failing to deliver RNG in accordance with our 
contractual obligations; 

• unknown regulatory changes RNG which may increase the transportation cost for delivering under contracts in place; 

• the consent and authorization of local utilities or other energy development off-takers to ensure successful interconnection to energy grids to 
enable power sales; and 

• difficulties in identifying, obtaining and permitting suitable sites for new projects. 
 

In addition, new projects have no operating history and may employ recently developed technology and equipment. A new project may be unable to 
fund principal and interest payments under its debt service obligations or may operate at a loss, which may adversely affect our business, financial 
condition or results of operations. 

 
We may also experience delays and cost overruns in converting existing facilities from Renewable Electricity to RNG production. During the 

conversation projects, there is a gap in production and relating revenue while the electricity project is offline until it commences operation as an RNG 
facility, which adversely affects our financial condition and results of operations. 

 
Any of these factors could prevent us from identifying, completing or operating our projects, or otherwise adversely affect our business, financial 

condition and results of operations. 
 

If there is not sufficient demand for renewable energy, or if renewable energy projects do not develop or take longer to develop than we anticipate, we 
may be unable to achieve our investment objectives. 
 

If demand for renewable energy fails to grow sufficiently, we may be unable to achieve our business objectives. In addition, demand for renewable 
energy projects in the markets and geographic regions that we target may not develop or may develop more slowly than we anticipate. Many factors will 
influence the widespread adoption of renewable energy and demand for renewable energy projects, including: 

• cost-effectiveness of renewable energy technologies as compared with conventional and competitive technologies; 

• performance and reliability of renewable energy products as compared with conventional and non-renewable products; 

• fluctuations in economic and market conditions that impact the viability of conventional and competitive alternative energy sources; 

• increases or decreases in the prices of oil, coal and natural gas; 

• continued deregulation of the electric power industry and broader energy industry; and 

• availability or effectiveness of government subsidies and incentives. 
 
Our fuel supply agreements with site hosts have defined contractual periods, and we cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully extend these 
agreements at their historic revenue levels or at all. 
 

Fuel supply rights are issued by the landfill owner to operators for a contractual period. As operators, we have already invested resources in the 
development of existing sites and the ability to extend these contracts on expiration would enable us to achieve operational efficiency in continuing to 
generate revenues from a site without significant additional capital investments. We cannot assure you that we will be able to extend existing fuel supply 
agreements at their historic revenue levels or at all when they expire. 
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Our agreements contain complex price adjustments, calculations and other terms based on gas price indices and other metrics, the interpretation of 
which could result in disputes with counterparties that could affect our results of operations and customer relationships. 
 

Certain of our PPAs, fuel supply agreements, RNG off-take agreements and other agreements require us to make payments or adjust prices to 
counterparties based on past or current changes in gas price indices, project productivity or other metrics and involve complex calculations. Moreover, the 
underlying indices governing payments under these agreements are subject to change, may be discontinued or replaced. The interpretation of these price 
adjustments and calculations and the potential discontinuation or replacement of relevant indices or metrics have resulted, and in the future, could result in 
disputes with the counterparties with respect to these agreements. Any such disputes could adversely affect project revenues, expense margins, customer or 
supplier relationships, or lead to costly litigation, the outcome of which we would be unable to predict. 

 
In order to secure contracts for new projects, we typically face a long and variable development cycle that requires significant resource commitments 
and a long lead time before we realize revenues. 
 

The development, design and construction process for our renewable energy projects generally lasts from 18 to 36 months, on average. This 
extended development process requires the dedication of significant time and resources from our sales and management personnel, with no certainty of 
success or recovery of our expenses. A potential site host may go through the entire sales process and not accept our proposal. Further, upon 
commencement of operations, it typically takes 12 months or longer for the project to ramp up to our expected production level. All of these factors, and in 
particular, increased spending that is not offset by increased revenues, can contribute to fluctuations in our quarterly financial performance and increase the 
likelihood that our operating results in a particular period will fall below investor expectations. 

 
We plan to expand our business in part through developing RNG recovery projects at landfills and livestock farms, but we may not be able to identify 
suitable locations or complete development of new projects. 
 

We plan to continue to develop new RNG projects at landfills and livestock farms but we may be unable to implement this growth strategy if we 
cannot identify suitable landfills and livestock farms on which to develop projects, reach agreements with landfill or livestock farm owners to develop 
RNG projects or arrange required financing for new projects. While the EPA has identified an additional 463 landfills as candidates for biogas projects, we 
believe that approximately 38 of these sites produce sufficient quantities of LFG to support commercial-scale projects, with 25 of the approximately 38 
sites being operated by Waste Management or Republic Waste, with whom we would need to negotiate with to secure sufficient LFG rights to support an 
RNG project. In the future, additional candidate landfills may become economically viable as their growth increases LFG production and requires 
installation of LFG collection systems. However, the time and effort involved in attempting to identify suitable sites and development of new projects may 
divert members of our management from our operations. 

 
Our dairy farm project has, and any future digester project will have, different economic models and risk profiles than our landfill facilities, and we 
may not be able to achieve the operating results we expect from these projects. 
 

Our dairy farm project produces significantly less RNG than our landfill facilities. As a result, we will be even more dependent on the LCFS credits 
and RINs produced at our dairy farm project than on the RINs produced at our landfill facilities for the project’s commercial viability. Since the number of 
LCFS credits for RNG generated on dairy farms is significantly greater than the number of LCFS credits for RNG generated at landfills, we are 
substantially more dependent upon the revenue from LCFS credits for the commercial viability of the dairy farm project. In the event that CARB worsens 
the CI score that it applies to waste conversion projects, such as dairy digesters, the number of LCFS credits for RNG generated at our dairy farm project 
will decline. Additionally, revenue from LCFS credits also depends on the price per LCFS credit, which is driven by various market forces, including the 
supply of and demand for LCFS credits, which in turn depends on the demand for traditional transportation fuel and the supply of renewable fuel from 
other renewable energy sources, and mandated CI targets, which determine the number of LCFS credits required to offset LCFS deficits, and which 
increase over time. Fluctuations in the price of LCFS credits or the number of LCFS credits assigned will have a significantly greater impact on the success 
of our dairy farm project than the value that RINs have on our landfill facilities. A significant decline in the value of LCFS credits could require us to incur 
an impairment charge on our dairy farm project and could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

 
While we currently focus on converting methane into renewable energy, in the future we may decide to expand our strategy to include other types of 
projects. Any future energy projects may present unforeseen challenges and result in a competitive disadvantage relative to our more established 
competitors. 
 

Our business is currently focused on converting methane into renewable energy. In the future, we may expand our strategy to include other types of 
projects. For example, we recently entered into an agreement with European Energy North America under which we supply biogenic carbon dioxide for the 
creation of e-methanol.  We cannot assure you that we will be able to identify 
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attractive opportunities outside of our current area of focus or acquire or develop such projects at a price and on terms that are attractive or that, once 
acquired or developed, such projects will operate profitably. In addition, these projects could expose us to increased operating costs, unforeseen liabilities 
or risks, and regulatory and environmental concerns associated with entering into new sectors of the energy industry, including requiring a disproportionate 
amount of our management’s attention and resources, which could adversely affect our business, as well as place us at a competitive disadvantage relative 
to more established market participants. A failure to successfully integrate such new projects into our existing project portfolio as a result of unforeseen 
operational difficulties or otherwise, could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

 
Any future acquisitions, investments or other strategic relationships that we make could disrupt our business, cause dilution to our stockholders or 
harm our business, financial condition or operating results. 
 

We expect future acquisitions of companies, purchases of assets and other strategic relationships to be an important part of our growth strategy. We 
plan to use acquisitions to expand our capabilities, expand our geographic markets, add experienced management and add to our project portfolio. 
However, we may not be able to identify suitable acquisition or investment candidates, reach agreements with acquisition targets on acceptable terms or 
arrange for any required financing for an acquisition on acceptable terms, any of which would materially impact our present strategy. While we perform 
due diligence on prospective acquisitions, we may not be able to discover all potential operational deficiencies in such projects. Further, if we are 
successful in consummating acquisitions, those acquisitions could subject us to a number of risks, including: 

• the purchase prices we pay could significantly deplete our cash reserves or result in dilution to our existing stockholders; 

• we may find that the acquired companies or assets do not improve our customer offerings or market position as planned; 

• we may have difficulty integrating the operations and personnel of the acquired companies; 

• key personnel and customers of the acquired companies may terminate their relationships with the acquired companies as a result of or 
following the acquisition; 

• we may experience additional financial and accounting challenges and complexities in areas such as tax planning and financial reporting; 

• we may experience delays in construction and development or regulatory approvals impacting, among other projects, the Pico, Apex or 
Montauk Ag development cycle; 

• we may incur additional costs and expenses related to inflation and complying with additional laws, rules or regulations in new jurisdictions; 

• we may assume or be held liable for risks and liabilities (including for environmental-related costs) as a result of our acquisitions, some of 
which we may not discover during our due diligence or adequately adjust for in our acquisition arrangements; 

• our ongoing business and management’s attention may be disrupted or diverted by transition or integration issues and the complexity of 
managing geographically diverse enterprises; 

• we may incur one-time write-offs or restructuring charges in connection with an acquisition; 

• we may acquire goodwill and other intangible assets that are subject to amortization or impairment tests, which could result in future charges 
to earnings; and 

• we may not be able to realize the cost savings or other modeled financial benefits we anticipated. 
 
Any of these factors could adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.
 
Our renewable fuel projects may be exposed to the volatility of the price of RINs. 
 

The price of RINs is driven by various market forces, including regulatory action, gasoline prices and the availability of renewable fuel from other 
renewable energy sources and conventional energy sources. For example, following the EPAs release of the 2023 RVO in December 2022, the market price 
of a D3 RIN declined from $2.43 on the date of the release to $1.88 in February 2023. Furthermore, refiners are permitted to carry-over up to 20% RINs 
generated for one calendar year after the RINs are generated to satisfy their RVOs. As a result, we are only able to sell RINs on a forward basis for the year 
in which the RINs are generated and the following year. We may be unable to manage the risk of volatility in RIN pricing for all or a portion of our 
revenues from RINs, which would expose us to the volatility of commodity prices with respect to all or the portion of RINs that we are unable to sell 
through forward contracts, including risks resulting from changes in regulations, general economic conditions and changes in the level of renewable energy 
generation. We expect to have quarterly variations in the revenues from the projects in which we generate revenue from the sale of RINs that we are unable 
to sell through forward contracts. 
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Our revenues may be subject to the risk of fluctuations in commodity prices. 
 

The operations and financial performance of projects in the renewable energy sectors may be affected by the prices of energy commodities, such as 
natural gas, wholesale electricity and other energy-related products. For example, the price of renewable energy resources changes in relation to the market 
prices of natural gas and electricity. The market price for natural gas is sensitive to cyclical demand and capacity supply, changes in weather patterns, 
natural gas storage levels, natural gas production levels, general economic and geopolitical conditions (including the current conflicts in the Middle East 
and Ukraine) and the volume of natural gas imports and exports. The market price of electricity is sensitive to cyclical changes in demand and capacity 
supply, and in the economy and geopolitical conditions (including the current conflicts in the Middle East and Ukraine), as well as to regulatory trends and 
developments impacting electricity market rules and pricing, transmission development and investment to power markets within the United States and in 
other jurisdictions through interconnects and other external factors outside of the control of renewable energy power-producing projects. Volatility of 
commodity prices also creates volatility in the prices of Environmental Attributes, which are inversely related to the wholesale price of unleaded gasoline. 
In addition, volatility of commodity prices, such as the market price of gas and electricity, may also make it more difficult for us to raise any additional 
capital for our renewable energy projects that may be necessary to operate, to the extent that market participants perceive that a project’s performance may 
be tied directly or indirectly to commodity prices. Accordingly, the potential revenues and cash flows of these projects may be volatile and adversely affect 
the value of our investments. 
 
 

Our off-take agreements for the sale of RNG are typically shorter in duration than our fuel supply agreements. Accordingly, if we are unable to 
renew or replace an off-take agreement for a project for which we continue to produce RNG, we would be subject to the risks associated with selling the 
RNG produced at that project at then-current market prices. We may be required to make such sales at a time when the market price for natural gas as a 
whole or in the region where that project is located, is depressed. If this were to occur, we would be subject to the volatility of gas prices and be unable to 
predict our revenues from such project, and the sales prices for such RNG may be lower than what we could sell the RNG for under an off-take agreement. 
 
We are subject to volatility in prices of RINs and other Environmental Attributes. 
 

Volatility of commodity prices creates volatility in the price of Environmental Attributes. The value of RINs is inversely proportionate to the 
wholesale price of unleaded gasoline. Further, the production of RINs significantly in excess of the RVOs set by the EPA for a calendar year could 
adversely affect the market price of RINs, particularly towards the end of the year, if refiners and other RFS obligated parties have satisfied their RVOs for 
the year. A significant decline in the price of RINs and price of LCFS credits for a prolonged period could adversely affect our business, financial condition 
and results of operations, and could require us to take an impairment charge relating to one or more of our projects. 

 
We are exposed to the risk of failing to meet our contractual commitments to sell RINs from our production. 
 

We may sell forward a portion of our RINs under contracts to fix the revenues from such attributes for financing purposes or to manage our risk 
against future declines in prices of such Environmental Attributes. If our RNG projects do not generate the amount of RINs sold under such forward 
contracts we may be required to make up the shortfall of RINs under such forward contracts through purchases on the open market or the payment of 
liquidated damages. Forward selling our RINs could result in realized prices monetized in a year which do not correspond directly to index prices. 
 
The failure of our hedge counterparties or significant customers to meet their obligations to us may adversely affect our financial results. 
 

To the extent we hedge our RNG revenues, our hedging transactions expose us to the risk that a counterparty fails to perform under a derivative 
contract. Volatility in the market index to which we hedge our RNG revenues could expose us to variability in our commodity based revenues. Disruptions 
in the financial markets could lead to sudden decreases in a counterparty’s liquidity, which could make them unable to perform under the terms of the 
derivative contract and we may not be able to realize the benefit of the derivative contract. Any default by the counterparty to these derivative contracts 
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
 

We also face credit risk because we sell our RNG to a limited number of significant customers who do not post collateral. The inability or failure of 
our significant customers to meet their obligations to us or their insolvency or liquidation may adversely affect our financial results. 
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Regulatory Risks 
 
The reduction or elimination of governmental economic incentives for renewable energy projects or other related policies could adversely affect our 
business, financial condition and results of operation. 
 

We depend, in part, on Environmental Attributes, which are federal, state and local government incentives in the United States, provided in the form 
of RINs, RECs, LCFS credits, rebates, tax credits and other incentives to end users, distributors, system integrators and manufacturers of renewable energy 
projects, that promote the use of renewable energy. RINs are created through the RFS program administered by the EPA, which requires transportation fuel 
sold in the United States to contain a minimum volume of renewable fuel and has historically permitted refineries and importers of transportation fuel to 
satisfy their RVOs by purchasing either (i) D5 RINs and cellulosic waiver credits (“CWCs”) or (ii) D3 RINs. In a December 1, 2022 proposed rule, EPA 
proposed to not utilize its cellulosic waiver authority for the years 2023-2025. However, if actual production is lower than the RVO, the EPA will have 
discretion to utilize CWC. RECs are created through state law requirements for utilities to purchase a portion of their energy from renewable energy 
sources. 76% and 70% of our operating revenues for 2023 and 2022, respectively, were generated from the sale of Environmental Attributes. These 
government economic incentives could be reduced or eliminated altogether, or the categories of renewable energy qualifying for such government 
economic incentives could be changed. These renewable energy program incentives are subject to regulatory oversight and could be administratively or 
legislatively changed in a manner that could adversely affect our operations. Further, the generation of LCFS credits on our dairy farm project is expected 
to increase the percentage of our revenues generated from Environmental Attributes. Reductions in, changes to, or eliminations or expirations of 
governmental incentives could result in decreased demand for, and lower revenues from, our projects. Changes in the level or structure of the RPS of a state 
for electricity could also result in a decline in our revenues or decreased demand for, and lower revenues from, our electricity projects. 

 
We may be unable to obtain, modify or maintain the regulatory permits, approvals and consents required to construct and operate our projects. 
 

Our operations are subject to various federal, state and local EHS laws and regulations, including those relating to the release, emission or discharge 
of materials into the air, water and ground, the generation, storage, 
handling, use, transportation and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes, the health and safety of our employees and other persons, and the generation 
of RINs and LCFS credits. 
 

These laws and regulations impose numerous obligations applicable to our operations, including the acquisition of permits before construction and 
operation of our projects; the restriction of types, quantities and concentration of materials that can be released into the environment; the limitation or 
prohibition of our activities on certain lands lying within wilderness, wetlands and other protected areas; the application of specific health and safety 
criteria addressing worker protection; and the imposition of substantial liabilities for pollution resulting from the ownership or operation of our properties. 
These laws, regulations and permits can require expensive pollution control equipment or operational changes to limit actual or potential impacts to the 
environment. 

 
Numerous governmental entities have the power to enforce difficult and costly compliance measures or corrective actions pursuant to these laws and 

regulations and the permits issued under them. We may be required to make significant capital and operating expenditures on an ongoing basis, or to 
perform remedial or other corrective actions at our properties, to comply with the requirements of these environmental laws and regulations or the terms or 
conditions of our permits. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may result in the assessment of sanctions, including administrative, civil or 
criminal penalties, the imposition of investigatory or remedial obligations, and the issuance of orders limiting or prohibiting some or all of our operations. 
In addition, we may experience delays in obtaining or be unable to obtain required environmental regulatory permits or approvals, which may delay or 
interrupt our operations and limit our growth and revenue. 

 
Our operations inherently risk incurring significant environmental costs and liabilities due to the need to manage waste from our processing 

facilities. Spills or other releases of regulated substances, including spills and releases that occur in the future, could expose us to material losses, 
expenditures and liabilities under applicable environmental laws, rules and regulations. Under certain of such laws and regulations, we could be held 
strictly liable for the removal or remediation of previously released materials or property contamination, regardless of whether we were responsible for the 
release or contamination and even if our operations met previous standards in the industry at the time they were conducted. In connection with certain 
acquisitions, we could acquire, or be required to provide indemnification against, environmental liabilities that could expose us to material losses. In 
addition, claims for damages to persons or property, including natural resources, may result from the EHS impacts of our operations. Our insurance may 
not cover all environmental risks and costs or may not provide sufficient coverage if an environmental claim is made against us. 

 
New laws, changes to existing laws, new interpretations of existing laws, increased governmental enforcement of environmental laws or other 

developments could require us to make significant additional expenditures. Continued government and public emphasis on environmental issues can be 
expected to result in increased future investments for environmental controls at our plants. Present and future environmental laws and regulations, and 
interpretations of those laws and regulations, applicable to our 
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operations, more vigorous enforcement policies and discovery of currently unknown conditions may require substantial expenditures that could have a 
material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. In January 2021, President Biden issued an executive order directing all federal 
agencies to review and take action to address any federal regulations, orders, guidance documents, policies, and any similar agency actions promulgated 
during the prior administration that may be inconsistent with the current administration’s policies and to address climate change. The federal agencies 
review of previous agency actions remain ongoing. In January 2021, President Biden also issued an executive order solely targeting climate change. 
Pursuant to these executive orders, on February 19, 2021 the United States formally rejoined the Paris Climate Agreement, an international treaty that 
provides for the cutting of carbon emissions every five years, beginning in 2023. In August 2022, President Biden signed into law the Inflation Reduction 
Act, which includes incentives for development and production of renewable energy. These incentives include grants, loan guaranties, development 
funding, investment tax credits, and production tax credits. At this time, we cannot predict the outcome of any of these executive actions on our operations. 

 
Our ability to generate revenue from sales of RINs and LCFS credits depends on our strict compliance with these federal and state programs, which 

are complex and can involve a significant degree of judgment. If the agencies that administer and enforce these programs disagree with our judgments, 
otherwise determine that we are not in compliance, conduct reviews of our activities or make changes to the programs, then our ability to generate or sell 
these credits could be temporarily restricted pending completion of reviews or as a penalty, permanently limited or lost entirely, and we could also be 
subject to fines or other sanctions. Moreover, the inability to sell RINs and LCFS credits could adversely affect our business. 

 
In order to construct, modify and operate our projects, we will need to obtain or may need to modify numerous environmental and other regulatory 

permits, approvals and consents from federal, state and local governmental entities, including air permits, wastewater discharge permits, stormwater 
permits, permits or consents related to the management of municipal solid waste landfills and permits or consents related to the management and disposal 
of waste. A number of these permits, approvals and consents must be obtained prior to the start of development of a project. Other permits, approvals and 
consents are required to be obtained at, or prior to, the time of first commercial operation or within prescribed time frames following commencement of 
commercial operations. Any failure to successfully obtain or modify the necessary environmental and other regulatory permits, approvals and consents on a 
timely basis could delay the construction, modification or commencement of commercial operation of our projects. In addition, once a permit, approval or 
consent has been issued or acquired for a project, we must take steps to comply with the conditions of each permit, approval or consent conditions, 
including conditions requiring timely development and commencement of the project. Failure to comply with certain conditions within a permit, approval 
or consent could result in the revocation or suspension of such permit, approval or consent; the imposition of penalties; or other enforcement action by 
governmental entities. We also may need to modify permits, consents or approvals we have already obtained to reflect changes in project design or 
requirements, which could trigger a legal or regulatory review under a standard more stringent than the standard under which the permits, approvals or 
consents were originally issued. 

 
Obtaining and modifying necessary permits, approvals and consents is a time-consuming and expensive process, and we may not be able to obtain 

or modify them on a timely or cost-effective basis or at all. In the event that we fail to obtain or modify all necessary permits, approvals or consents, we 
may be forced to delay construction or operation of a project or abandon the project altogether, which could adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. In addition, we may be required to make capital expenditures on an ongoing basis to comply with increasingly stringent 
federal, state, provincial and local EHS laws, regulations and permits. 

 
 

Negative attitudes toward renewable energy projects from the U.S. government, other lawmakers and regulators, and activists could adversely affect 
our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
 

Parties with an interest in other energy sources, including lawmakers, regulators, policymakers, environmental and advocacy organizations or other 
activists may invest significant time and money in efforts to delay, repeal or otherwise negatively influence regulations and programs that promote 
renewable energy. Many of these parties have substantially greater resources and influence than we have. Further, changes in U.S. federal, state or local 
political, social or economic conditions, including a lack of legislative focus on these programs and regulations, could result in their modification, delayed 
adoption or repeal. Any failure to adopt, delay in implementing, expiration, repeal or modification of these programs and regulations, or the adoption of any 
programs or regulations that encourage the use of other energy sources over renewable energy, could adversely affect our business, financial condition and 
results of operations. 
 

In addition, in June 2019, the EPA issued the final Affordable Clean Energy (“ACE”) rule and repealed the Clean Power Plan (the “CPP”), which 
had previously established standards to limit carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions from existing fossil-fueled power generation facilities. Under the ACE rule, 
emissions from electric utility generation facilities would be regulated only through the use of various “inside the fence” or onsite efficiency improvements 
and emission control technologies. In contrast, the CPP allowed facility owners to reduce emissions with “outside the fence” measures, including those 
associated with renewable energy projects. On January 19, 2021, the United States Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit vacated the ACE rule and 
remanded the rule back to EPA 
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for reconsideration of the “best system of emission reduction.” On February 22, 2021, the D.C. Circuit subsequently issued an order allowing EPA to 
promulgate new standards in lieu of reviving the CPP. In June 2022, however, the U.S. Supreme Court reversed the D.C. Circuit’s decision on the ACE rule 
and remanded the case back to the D.C. Circuit. The U.S. Supreme Court restricted the EPA’s authority to regulate GHGs from existing power plants under 
Section 111(d). The U.S. Supreme Court concluded that Congress did not grant the EPA authority under the CAA to demand generation-shifting to achieve 
reduction of GHG emissions, but the court did not hold that the EPA is limited in future rulemakings to just the heat-rate improvements that made up the 
ACE rule. On remand from the Supreme Court, the D.C. Circuit in October 2022 upheld EPA's repeal of the CPP, and it granted the parties' motion to hold 
the remaining challenges to the ACE rule in abeyance, as EPA indicated it intended to repeal the ACE rule and issue a new proposed regulation for GHG 
from electric generating units. To ensure that the ACE rule is not implemented in the interim period, EPA issued a direct final rule in March 2023, delaying 
the deadlines for states to submit implementation plans for the ACE rule. On May 23, 2023, the EPA published a proposed rule that would vacate the ACE 
rule, establish emissions guidelines in the form of CO2 emissions limitations for certain existing fossil-fueled power generation facilities and would require 
states to develop state plans that establish standards of performance for such facilities that are at least as stringent as the EPA’s emissions guidelines. 
Depending on various facility-specific factors, the bases of proposed emissions guidelines range from routine methods of operation to shutting down 
certain types of units in the early 2030s, to carbon capture and sequestration or co-firing low-GHG hydrogen starting in the 2030s. The EPA is expected to 
publish a final rule in the first half of 2024, which is expected to face legal challenges similar to prior challenges to the ACE rule and the CPP. We are 
unable to predict the future course of the EPA's proposed rule and any related litigation, nor the direction that the EPA may take in the future to regulate 
GHG emissions from existing fossil fuel-fired generation facilities. The impact of these potential developments is unclear. 

 
Revenue from any projects we complete may be adversely affected if there is a decline in public acceptance or support of renewable energy, or 
regulatory agencies, local communities, or other third parties delay, prevent, or increase the cost of constructing and operating our projects. 
 

Certain persons, associations and groups could oppose renewable energy projects in general or our projects specifically, citing, for example, misuse 
of water resources, landscape degradation, land use, food scarcity or price increase and harm to the environment. Moreover, regulation may restrict the 
development of renewable energy plants in certain areas. In order to develop a renewable energy project, we are typically required to obtain, among other 
things, environmental impact permits or other authorizations and building permits, which in turn require environmental impact studies to be undertaken and 
public hearings and comment periods to be held during which any person, association or group may oppose a project. Any such opposition may be taken 
into account by government officials responsible for granting the relevant permits, which could result in the permits being delayed or not being granted or 
being granted solely on the condition that we carry out certain corrective measures to the proposed project. Opposition to our projects’ requests for permits 
or successful challenges or appeals to permits issued for our projects could adversely affect our operating plans. 
 
 

As a result, we cannot guarantee that the renewable energy plants we currently plan to develop or, to the extent applicable, are developing, will 
ultimately be authorized or accepted by the local authorities or the local population. For example, the local population could oppose the construction of a 
renewable energy plant or infrastructure at the local government level, which could in turn lead to the imposition of more restrictive requirements. This 
type of negative response may lead to legal, public relations or other challenges that could impede our ability to meet our construction targets, achieve 
commercial operations for a project on schedule, address the changing needs of our projects over time or generate revenues. 

 
In certain jurisdictions, if a significant portion of the local population were to mobilize against a renewable energy plant, it may become difficult, 

or impossible, for us to obtain or retain the required building permits and authorizations. Moreover, such challenges could result in the cancellation of 
existing building permits or even, in extreme cases, the dismantling of, or the retroactive imposition of changes in the design of, existing renewable energy 
plants. 

 
Authorization for the use, construction, and operation of systems and associated transmission facilities on federal, state, and local lands will also 

require the assessment and evaluation of mineral rights, private rights-of-way, and other easements; environmental, agricultural, cultural, recreational, and 
aesthetic impacts; and the likely mitigation of adverse effects to these and other resources and uses. The inability to obtain the required permits and other 
federal, state and local approvals, and any excessive delays in obtaining such permits and approvals due, for example, to litigation or third-party appeals, 
could potentially prevent us from successfully constructing and operating such projects in a timely manner and could result in the potential forfeiture of any 
deposit we have made with respect to a given project. Moreover, project approvals subject to project modifications and conditions, including mitigation 
requirements and costs, could affect the financial success of a given project. Changing regulatory requirements and the discovery of unknown site 
conditions could also adversely affect the financial success of a given project. 

 
A decrease in acceptance of renewable energy plants by local populations, an increase in the number of legal challenges, or an unfavorable outcome 

of such legal challenges could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. We may also be subject to labor unavailability 
due to multiple simultaneous projects in a geographic region. If we are unable to grow and 
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manage the capacity that we expect from our projects in our anticipated timeframes, it could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

 
Existing regulations and policies, and future changes to these regulations and policies, may present technical, regulatory and economic barriers to the 
generation, purchase and use of renewable energy, and may adversely affect the market for credits associated with the production of renewable energy. 

 
The market for renewable energy is influenced by U.S. federal, state and local government regulations and policies concerning renewable energy. 

These regulations and policies are continuously being modified, which could result in a significant future reduction in the potential demand for renewable 
energy, including RINs, RECs and LCFS credits, renewable energy project development and investments. Renewable Fuel Standards for 2023 through 
2025 remain subject to finalization. Any new government regulations applicable to our renewable energy projects or markets for renewable energy may 
result in significant additional expenses or related development costs and, as a result, could cause a significant reduction in demand for our renewable 
energy. For additional information on regulatory developments, see “Item 7A.—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations —Key Trends—Regulatory, Environmental and Social Trends.” 
 
In order to benefit from RINs and LCFS credits, our RNG projects are required to be registered and are subject to regulatory audit. 
 

We are required to register an RNG project with the EPA and relevant state regulatory agencies. Further, we qualify our RINs through a voluntary 
Quality Assurance Plan, which typically takes from three to five months from first injection of RNG into the commercial pipeline system. Although no 
similar qualification process currently exists for LCFS credits, we expect such a process to be implemented and would expect to seek qualification on a 
state-by-state basis under such future programs. Changes to the LCFS program require annual verification of the CI score assigned to a project. Annual 
verification could significantly affect the profitability of a project, particularly in the case of a livestock farm project. Delays in obtaining registration, RIN 
qualification, and any future LCFS credit qualification, or CI rescoring through CARB annual audits, of a new project could delay future revenues from the 
project and could adversely affect our cash flow. Further, we typically make a large investment in the project prior to receiving the regulatory approval and 
RIN qualification. By registering each RNG project with the EPA’s voluntary Quality Assurance Plan, we are subject to quarterly third-party audits and 
semi-annual on-site visits of our projects to validate generated RINs and overall compliance with the RFS program. We are also subject to a separate third 
party’s annual attestation review. The Quality Assurance Plan provides a process for RIN owners to follow, for an affirmative defense to civil liability, if 
used or transferred Quality Assurance Plan verified RINs were invalidly generated. A project’s failure to comply could result in remedial action by the 
EPA, including penalties, fines, retirement of RINs, or termination of the project’s registration, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. For additional information on recent developments in this area, including the Pico facility’s CI score, see “Item 7A.—
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key Trends—Regulatory, Environmental and Social Trends.” 

 
Our business is subject to the risk of extreme or changing weather patterns. 
 

Extreme weather patterns related to climate change could cause changes in rainfall and storm patterns and intensities, water shortages and changing 
temperatures, which could result in significant volatility in the supply and prices of energy. In addition, legislation and increased regulation regarding 
climate change could impose significant costs on us and our suppliers, including costs related to capital equipment, environmental monitoring and reporting 
and other costs to comply with such regulations. 

 
Furthermore, extreme weather events, such as lightning strikes, ice storms, tornados, extreme wind, hurricanes and other severe storms, wildfires 

and other unfavorable weather conditions or natural disasters, such as floods, fires, earthquakes, and rising sea-levels, could adversely affect the input and 
output commodities associated with the renewable energy sector. Such weather events or natural disasters could also require us to temporarily or 
permanently shut down the equipment associated with our renewable energy projects, such as our access to power and our power to biogas collection, 
separation and transmission systems, which would impede the ability of our projects to operate and decrease production levels and our revenue. 
Operational problems, such as degradation of our project’s equipment due to wear or weather or capacity limitations or outages on the electrical 
transmission network, could also affect the amount of energy that our projects are able to deliver. Any of these events, to the extent not fully covered by 
insurance, could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

 
These events could result in significant volatility in the supply and prices of energy. This volatility may create fluctuations in commodity or energy 

prices and earnings of companies in the renewable energy sectors. See “—Operational Risks—“The concentration in revenues from five of our projects and 
geographic concentration of our projects expose us to greater risks of production interruptions from severe weather or other interruptions of production or 
transmission” for additional information. 
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Our business is subject to risks arising out of climate change, which could result in increased operating costs. 
 

Numerous proposals have been made and are likely to continue to be made at the international, national, regional and state levels of government to 
monitor and limit existing emissions of GHGs and eliminate future GHG emissions. Governmental and public concern arising from GHG emissions has 
resulted in increasing regulatory, political, financial and litigation risks in the United States and globally that target predominantly fossil fuel-related energy 
entities or their operations, which may have indirect effects on other companies or industries, including the renewable energy industry. 
 

 
The United States has not implemented comprehensive federal climate change legislation. The EPA has adopted rules that, among other things, 

establish permit reviews for GHG emissions from certain large stationary sources, require the monitoring and annual reporting of GHG emissions from 
specified sources in the U.S., implement standards reducing emissions of methane, a form of GHG, from specified oil and gas sectors, and together with the 
U.S. Department of Transportation, implement GHG emissions limits on vehicles manufactured for operation in the United States. While these rules largely 
do not directly impact our operations, they do represent a concerted effort at the federal agency level to reduce emissions of GHGs in an effort to mitigate 
adverse effects associated with climate change, which could in turn result in increased demand for renewable energy. 

 
Additionally, in August 2022 the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 was signed into law, which appropriates significant federal funding for renewable 

energy initiatives and, for the first time ever, imposes a fee on GHG emissions from certain facilities in the oil and natural gas sector. The emissions fee and 
renewable and low carbon energy funding provisions of the law could accelerate the transition away from fossil fuels, which could in turn have an indirect 
adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Under the Biden Administration, it is anticipated that efforts by the EPA or other federal agencies 
to restrict GHG emissions will continue. Additionally, various states and groups of states have adopted or are considering adopting legislation, regulations 
or other regulatory initiatives that are focused on such areas as GHG cap and trade programs, carbon taxes, reporting and tracking programs, and restriction 
of emissions. As a result, there exists the possibility of executive orders being issued or federal legislation or regulatory initiatives being adopted that could 
result in further restrictions on fossil fuels and have a further indirect effect on the demand for renewable energy and our products. 

 
In addition, on March 6, 2024, the SEC adopted new rules mandating significantly expanded climate-related disclosures in SEC filings, including 

disclosures relating to certain climate-related risks and related governance matters, climate-related metrics and Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions, if material, 
information about climate-related targets and goals, transition plans, if any, and certain attestation requirements. The rules include certain phase-in 
compliance dates based a filer’s status under applicable SEC rules. Under the phase-in dates included in the SEC’s rules, assuming that we continue to be 
an “accelerated filer” as defined in SEC rules, we would become subject to the new disclosure requirements commencing with our Annual Report on Form 
10-K for the fiscal year beginning January 1, 2026, except for the following disclosure requirements: (i) requirements to disclose certain material 
expenditures incurred and material impacts on financial estimates and assumptions relating to mitigation activities, transition plans and targets and goals, to 
which we would become subject commencing with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year beginning January 1, 2027 and (ii) requirements to 
disclose Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions metrics that we determine to be material, to which we would become subject commencing with our Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2029 (in relation to the fiscal year beginning January 1, 2028). In addition, commencing with 
our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2032, we will be required to obtain and file with the SEC a “limited assurance” 
attestation report from an independent attestation service provider covering the Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions metrics that we disclose (if any).  We are 
currently assessing the impact these SEC’s new rules will have on us. In addition, a group of 10 state attorneys general have already filed a petition in the 
U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit asking the court to vacate the SEC’s rules, and it is widely expected that the rules will face additional legal 
challenges. For these reasons, we cannot currently predict with certainty the timing and costs of implementation or any potential adverse impacts resulting 
therefrom. However, assuming that the rules take effect in the form adopted by the SEC, we expect to incur significant additional costs relating to the 
assessment and disclosure of climate-related matters, including costs relating to establishment of additional internal controls, monitoring, collecting, 
analyzing and reporting the new metrics and implementing systems and procuring additional internal and external personnel with the requisite skills and 
expertise to serve those functions.  These additional costs or changes in operations could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flows. We may also face increased litigation risks related to disclosures made pursuant to the rules. In addition, enhanced 
climate-related disclosure requirements could accelerate the trend of certain investors and lenders restricting or seeking more stringent conditions with 
respect to their investments in carbon-intensive sectors.  

 
The SEC’s new climate-related disclosure rules will require public companies to disclose the capitalized costs, expenditures expensed, and losses 

related to carbon offsets and RECs if used as a material component of the company’s plans to achieve its disclosed climate-related targets or goals. It is 
possible that these disclosure requirements could make RECs less attractive to customers, which could negatively impact demand and market prices for 
RECs. Although the RECs we currently produce are sold under long-term PPAs with prices that are not subject to adjustment based on market prices, if 
demand and market prices for RECs decrease, then our ability to sell additional RECs in the future at attractive prices may be negatively affected.
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Cybersecurity and Information Technology Risks 

A failure of our IT and data security infrastructure could have a material adverse effect on our business and operations. 

 
We rely upon the capacity, reliability and security of our IT and data security infrastructure and our ability to expand and continually update this 

infrastructure in response to the changing needs of our business. Our existing IT systems and any new IT systems may not perform as expected. We also 
face the challenge of supporting our older systems and implementing necessary upgrades. If we experience a problem with the functioning of an important 
IT system or a security breach of our IT systems, including during system upgrades or new system implementations, the resulting disruptions could have a 
material adverse effect on our business. 
 

We and some of our third-party vendors receive and store personal information in connection with our human resources operations and other aspects 
of our business. Our IT systems and those of our third-party vendors, are vulnerable to damages from computer viruses, natural disasters, fire, power loss, 
telecommunications failures, personnel misconduct, human error, unauthorized access, physical or electronic security breaches, cyber-attacks (including 
malicious and destructive code, phishing attacks, ransomware, and denial of service attacks), and other similar disruptions. We continue to develop our 
processes relating to identification, mitigation and response to potential cybersecurity threats, and such processes may prove to be inadequate.  Such attacks 
or security breaches may be perpetrated by bad actors internally or externally (including computer hackers, persons involved with organized crime, or 
foreign state or foreign state-supported actors). Cybersecurity threat actors employ a wide variety of methods and techniques that are constantly evolving, 
increasingly sophisticated, and difficult to detect and successfully defend against. Cybersecurity incidents involving our IT systems or those of our third-
party vendors could expose us to claims, litigation, regulatory or other governmental investigations, administrative fines and potential liability. Any system 
failure, accident or security breach could result in disruptions to our operations. A material network breach in the security of our IT systems or those of our 
third-party vendors could include the theft of our trade secrets, customer information, human resources information or other confidential data, including but 
not limited to personally identifiable information, that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations. To 
the extent that any material disruptions or security breaches result in a loss or damage to our data, or an inappropriate disclosure of confidential, proprietary 
or customer information, it could materially cause damage to our reputation, affect our relationships with our customers and strategic partners, lead to 
claims against us from governments and private plaintiffs, and ultimately have a material adverse effect on our business. While we have been the previous 
target of cyberattacks and security breaches, none of these attacks or breaches to date have had a material adverse effect on us. We cannot guarantee that 
future cyberattacks, if successful, will not have a material effect on our business or financial results. 
 

Many governments have enacted laws requiring companies to provide notice of cyber incidents involving certain types of data, including personal 
data. Any compromise of our security could result in a violation of applicable domestic and foreign security, privacy or data protection, consumer and other 
laws, regulatory or other governmental investigations, enforcement actions, and legal and financial exposure, including potential contractual liability that 
could have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, we may be required to incur significant costs to protect against and remediate damage 
caused by these disruptions or security breaches in the future that could have a material adverse effect on our business. 
 

We rely on the technology, infrastructure, and software applications of certain third parties in order to host or operate some of our business. 
Additionally, we rely on computer hardware purchased in order to operate our business. We do not have control over the operations of the facilities of the 
third parties that we use. In addition, as of the date of this Report, we have not implemented formal processes to oversee and identify risks from 
cybersecurity threats associated with our use of third parties.  If any of these third-party services experience errors, disruptions, security issues, or other 
performance deficiencies, if these services, software, or hardware fail or become unavailable due to extended outages, interruptions, defects, or otherwise, 
or if they are no longer available on commercially reasonable terms or prices (or at all), these issues could result in material errors or defects in our 
platforms (including causing our platforms to fail), our revenue and margins could materially decline, or our reputation and brand to be materially 
damaged. Additionally, we could be exposed to material legal or contractual liability, our expenses could materially increase, our ability to manage our 
operations could be materially interrupted, and our processes for servicing our customers could be materially impaired until equivalent services or 
technology, if available, are identified, procured, and implemented, all of which may take significant time and resources, increase our costs, and could 
materially and adversely affect our business. Many of these third-party providers attempt to impose limitations on their liability for such errors, disruptions, 
defects, performance deficiencies, or failures, and if such limitations are enforceable, we may have additional liability to our customers or third-party 
providers that could have a material adverse effect on our business. A failure to maintain our relationships with our third-party providers (or obtain 
adequate replacements), and to receive services from such providers that do not contain any material errors or defects, could adversely affect our ability to 
deliver effective products and solutions to our customers and adversely affect our business and results of operations. 
 
Our business could be negatively affected by security threats, including cybersecurity threats and other disruptions. 
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As a renewable energy producer, we face various security threats, including among others, computer viruses, malware, ransomware, 
telecommunication and electrical failures, cyber-attacks or cyber-intrusions over the internet, attachments to emails, persons with access to systems inside 
our organization, cybersecurity threats to gain unauthorized access to sensitive information or to expose, exfiltrate, alter, delete or render our data or 
systems unusable, threats to the security of our projects and infrastructure or third-party facilities and infrastructure, such as processing projects and 
pipelines, natural disasters, threats from terrorist acts and war. 
 

As cyber incidents become more frequent and the sophistication of threat actors increases, our associated cybersecurity costs have and are expected 
to continue to increase. Specifically, we expect to implement several incremental cybersecurity improvements over the next 18 to 36 months to enhance our 
defensive capabilities and resilience. Despite our ongoing and anticipated cybersecurity efforts, a successful cybersecurity incident could lead to additional 
material costs, including those related to the loss of sensitive information, repairs to infrastructure or capabilities essential to our operations, responding to 
litigation or regulatory investigations, and those related to a material and adverse impact on our reputation, financial position, results of operations, or cash 
flows. 
 
Third-Party Partner Risks 
 
Failure of third parties to manufacture quality products or provide reliable services in a timely manner could cause delays in developing and operating 
our projects, which could damage our reputation, adversely affect our partner relationships or adversely affect our growth. 
 

Our success depends on our ability to develop and operate projects in a timely manner, which depends in part on the ability of third parties to 
provide us with timely and reliable products and services. In developing and operating our projects, we rely on products meeting our design specifications 
and components manufactured and supplied by third parties, and on services performed by subcontractors. We also rely on subcontractors to perform 
substantially all of the construction and installation work related to our projects, and we often need to engage subcontractors with whom we have no 
experience. 

 
If any of our subcontractors are unable to provide services that meet or exceed our customers’ expectations or satisfy our contractual commitments, 

our reputation, business and operating results could be harmed. In addition, if we are unable to avail ourselves of warranties and other contractual 
protections with providers of products and services, we may incur liability to our customers or additional costs related to the affected products and services, 
which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, any delays, malfunctions, inefficiencies or interruptions 
in these products or services could adversely affect the quality and performance of our projects and require considerable expense to maintain and repair our 
projects. This could cause us to experience interruption in our production and distribution of renewable energy and generation of related Environmental 
Attributes, difficulty retaining current relationships and attracting new relationships, or harm our brand, reputation or growth. 

 
Our projects rely on interconnections with and access to electric distribution and transmission facilities and gas transportation pipelines that are owned 
and operated by third parties, and as a result, are exposed to risks related to such facilities’ development and operational curtailment risks. 
 

Our projects are interconnected with electric distribution and transmission facilities owned and operated by regulated utilities necessary to deliver 
the Renewable Electricity that we produce. Our RNG projects are similarly interconnected with gas distribution and interstate pipeline systems required to 
deliver RNG. A failure or delay in the operation or development of these distribution or transmission facilities could result in a loss of revenues or breach 
of contract because such a failure or delay could limit the amount of RNG and Renewable Electricity that our operating projects deliver or delay the 
completion of our construction projects. In addition, certain of our operating projects’ generation may be curtailed without compensation due to distribution 
and transmission limitations, reducing our revenues and impairing our ability to capitalize fully on a particular project’s potential. Such a failure or 
curtailment at levels above our expectations could impact our ability to satisfy our supply agreements and adversely affect our business. Additionally, we 
experience work interruptions from time to time due to federally required maintenance shutdowns. 
 
We are dependent upon our relationships with Waste Management and Republic Services for the operation and maintenance of landfills on which 
several of our RNG and Renewable Electricity projects operate. 

 
We currently operate seven renewable energy projects (six RNG projects and one Renewable Electricity project) on landfills operated by Waste 

Management and two RNG projects on landfills operated by Republic Services. Our projects located on Waste Management operated landfills represented 
37.3% and 38.9% of our revenue in 2023 and 2022, respectively.  Our projects located on Republic Services operated landfills represented 22.2% and 
25.1% of our revenue in 2023 and 2022, respectively.We are dependent upon Waste Management and Republic Services to operate and maintain their 
landfill facilities and provide a continuous supply of waste for conversion to RNG and Renewable Electricity. Further, we consider our relationship with 
these landfill operators an important factor in our growth strategy for additional projects. In the event that we fall out of favor with either of these landfill 
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operators due to a dispute, problems with our operations at one of their facilities or otherwise, the landfill operator may seek to terminate the related project 
and be less inclined to work with us on future projects. 
 

Additionally, Waste Management and Republic Services could seek to develop their own waste-to-renewable energy conversion projects at other 
existing landfill locations in lieu of contracting with us for these projects. Failure to maintain these favorable relationships could adversely affect our 
business, growth strategy, financial condition and results of operations. 

 
We have significant customer concentration, with a limited number of customers accounting for a substantial portion of our revenues. 
 

In 2023, sales to Valero, GE Warren and HF Sinclair represented approximately 22.0%, 11.7% and 11.7%, respectively of our operating revenue. For 
2022, sales to ExxonMobil, Valero, and the City of Anaheim represented approximately 32.0%, 17.0%, and 7.6%, respectively of our operating revenues. 
Five customers made up approximately 70.7% and 69.0% of our accounts receivable as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Revenues from our 
largest customers may fluctuate from time to time based on our customers’ business needs, market conditions or other factors outside of our control. If any 
of our largest customers terminates its relationship with us, such termination could adversely affect our revenues and results of operations. 

Capital and Credit Risks 

 
Our senior credit facility may not be sufficient to meet our financial needs and contains financial and operating restrictions that may limit our business 
activities and our access to other forms of credit. 
 

Our senior credit facility consists of an $80.0 million principal amount term loan, of which $64.0 remains outstanding as of December 31, 2023, and 
a $120.0 million revolving credit line, which is undrawn as of December 31, 2023. This facility may not be sufficient to meet our financial needs as our 
business grows. The senior credit facility matures in December 2026 and we may be unable to extend or replace it on acceptable terms, or at all. 
Furthermore, the credit agreement governing our facility (the “Amended Credit Agreement”) imposes business restrictions and contains other covenants 
that require us to meet specified financial ratios and financial tests. Under the Amended Credit Agreement, we are required to maintain: 

• a fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.20 to 1.00; and 

• a total leverage ratio of not more than 3.25 to 1.00 as of the end of any fiscal quarter from June 30, 2023 through June 29, 2024 and 3.00 to 
1.00 after June 30, 2024. 

 
The Amended Credit Agreement is subject to customary events of default, and contemplates that we would be in default if, for any fiscal quarter (x) 

the average monthly D3 RIN price is less than $0.80 per RIN and (y) the consolidated EBITDA for such quarter is less than $6.0 million. Additional 
information regarding the senior credit facility and the Amended Credit Agreement can be found in Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources.”
 

Our failure to comply with these covenants could result in the declaration of an event of default and cause us to be unable to borrow under the 
Amended Credit Agreement. In addition to preventing additional borrowings under the Amended Credit Agreement, an event of default, if not cured or 
waived, could result in the acceleration of the maturity of indebtedness outstanding under the facility, which would require us to immediately repay all 
amounts outstanding. If an event of default occurs, we may not be able to cure it within any applicable cure period, or at all. As of December 31, 2023, we 
were in compliance with all covenants. 

 
Variable rate indebtedness under our Amended Credit Agreement may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
 

Borrowings under our Amended Credit Agreement are at variable rates of interest, particularly the Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield Index Rate 
(“BSBY”), which will fluctuate with changing market conditions. If BSBY increases, our interest expense will mechanically increase, which could 
adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to service our indebtedness and fund our operations. Additionally, BSBY is a relatively new reference rates. 
Therefore, based on its limited historical performance and other available information, the future performance of BSBY cannot be accurately predicted, 
which could result in increases in our interest expense that may adversely impact the amount of interest payments under the Amended Credit Agreement. 

 
In addition, on November 15, 2023, the Bloomberg Index Services Limited announced that the permanent cessation of BSBY and all its tenors will 

be effective on November 15, 2024. Under the terms of our Amended Credit Agreement, the first alternative reference rate to be used upon the cessation of 
BSBY is Term SOFR, as administered by CME Group Benchmark Administration Limited, plus a “SOFR Adjustment” equal to (i) 0.11448% per annum 
for borrowings with a one-month duration and (ii) 0.26161% 
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per annum for borrowings of a three-month duration (or other durations). Assuming the reference rate under our Amended Credit Agreement transitions to 
Term SOFR plus the applicable SOFR Adjustment following cessation of BSBY, if Term SOFR increases, our interest expense will mechanically increase, 
which could adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to service our indebtedness and fund our operations.

 
We may be required to write-off or impair capitalized costs or intangible assets in the future or we may incur restructuring costs or other charges, each 
of which would harm our earnings. 
 

In accordance with GAAP, we capitalize certain expenditures and advances relating to our acquisitions, pending acquisitions, project development 
costs, interest costs related to project financing and certain energy assets. In addition, we have considerable unamortized assets. In 2023, we recorded 
impairment charges of $0.9 million of which $0.8 million related to specifically identified RNG machinery and feedstock processing equipment that were 
no longer in operational use and $0.1 related to obsolete REG critical spares. In 2022, we recorded impairment charges of $2.1 million related to our 
estimate of future cash flows not exceeding the carrying amount of a Renewable Electricity facility and discrete charges of $1.4 million and $1.1 million 
related to the ongoing development of the Montauk Ag Renewables and an asset component of an RNG facility. In 2021, we recorded impairment charges 
of $0.8 million related to the ongoing Renewable Electricity facility decommissioning and $0.4 million related to certain assets at one RNG facility. In 
addition, from time to time in future periods, we may be required to incur a charge against earnings in an amount equal to any unamortized capitalized 
expenditures and advances, net of any portion thereof that we estimate will be recoverable, through sale or otherwise, relating to: (i) any operation or other 
asset that is being sold, permanently shut down, impaired or has not generated or is not expected to generate sufficient cash flow; (ii) any pending 
acquisition that is not consummated; (iii) any project that is not expected to be successfully completed; and (iv) any goodwill or other intangible assets that 
are determined to be impaired. A material write-off or impairment change could adversely affect our ability to comply with the financial covenants under 
the Amended Credit Agreement, and otherwise adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

 
Emerging Growth Company Risks 

For as long as we are an emerging growth company, we will not be required to comply with certain requirements that apply to other public companies. 
 

We are an emerging growth company, as defined in the JOBS Act. For as long as we are an emerging growth company, which may be up to five full 
fiscal years following January 22, 2021, the completion of the IPO, unlike other public companies, we will not be required to, among other things: (i) 
provide an auditor’s attestation report on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our system of internal control over financial reporting pursuant 
to Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act; (ii) comply with any new requirements adopted by the PCAOB requiring mandatory audit firm rotation or a 
supplement to the auditor’s report in which the auditor would be required to provide additional information about the audit and the financial statements of 
the issuer; (iii) provide certain disclosures regarding executive compensation required of larger public companies; or (iv) hold nonbinding advisory votes 
on executive compensation and any golden-parachute payments not previously approved. In addition, the JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth 
company can take advantage of the extended transition period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities 
Act”), for adopting new or revised financial accounting standards. We intend to take advantage of the longer phase-in periods for the adoption of new or 
revised financial accounting standards permitted under the JOBS Act until we are no longer an emerging growth company. If we were to subsequently elect 
instead to comply with these public company effective dates, such election would be irrevocable pursuant to the JOBS Act. 
 

We will remain an emerging growth company for up to five years after January 22, 2021, the date of the IPO, although we will lose that status 
sooner if we have more than $1.07 billion of revenues in a fiscal year, have more than $700.0 million in market value of our common stock held by non-
affiliates, or issue more than $1.0 billion of non-convertible debt over a three-year period. 
 

For so long as we rely on any of the exemptions available to emerging growth companies, you will receive less information about our executive 
compensation and internal control over financial reporting than issuers that are not emerging growth companies. We cannot predict whether investors will 
find our common stock less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock to be less attractive as a result, 
there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more volatile. 

 
If we identify material weaknesses in the future or otherwise fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may be unable to accurately or 
timely report our financial condition or results of operations, which may adversely affect our business. 
 

We are required to comply with the SEC’s rules implementing Sections 302 and 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which require management to 
certify financial and other information in our quarterly and annual reports and provide an annual management report on the effectiveness of controls over 
financial reporting. As an emerging growth company, our independent registered public accounting firm will not be required to formally attest to the 
effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting pursuant to 
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Section 404 until the date we are no longer an emerging growth company. At such time, our independent registered public accounting firm may issue a 
report that is adverse in the event that it is not satisfied with the level at which our controls are documented, designed or operating. 

 
To comply with the requirements of being a public company, we have undertaken various actions, including implementing additional internal 

controls and procedures and hiring additional accounting or internal audit staff, increasing the use of external specialists and may need to take additional 
actions in the future. Testing and maintaining internal controls can divert our management’s attention from other matters that are important to the operation 
of our business. If we identify material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting or are unable to comply with the requirements of 
Section 404 or assert that our internal controls over financial reporting are effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to 
express an opinion as to the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness 
of our financial reports and the market price of our common stock could be negatively affected. In addition, we could become subject to investigations by 
the SEC or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial and management resources.

 
Common Stock Risks 
 
Our shares of common stock may trade on more than one market and this may result in price variations. 

 
The Company’s common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the ticker symbol of “MNTK” and on the JSE under the ticker 

symbol of “MKR.” Trading in our common stock takes place in USD on the Nasdaq Capital Market and ZAR on the JSE, and at different times, resulting 
from different time zones, trading days and public holidays in the United States and South Africa. The trading prices of our common stock on these two 
markets may differ due to these and other factors. Any decrease in the price of our common stock on either exchange could cause a corresponding decrease 
in the trading price of the common stock on the other exchange. 

 
Future sales of our common stock in the public market could cause the market price of our common stock to decline. 
 

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that these sales might occur, could depress 
the market price of our common stock and could impair our ability to raise
capital through the sale of additional equity securities. Many of our existing equity holders have substantial unrecognized gains on the value of the equity 
they hold and may take steps to sell their shares or otherwise secure the unrecognized gains on those shares. Additionally, pursuant to the terms of the 
Fourth Amended and Restated Promissory Note, MNK is required to use the proceeds from any sale of the 976,623 shares of our common stock pledged as 
security for MNK’s loan obligations to repay the amounts due under the Note. These sales may have a downward impact on the prevailing market price of 
our common stock. The maturity of the loan has been extended until 2033 but MNK will continue to evaluate options to complete the sale of these shares 
including but not limited to register sale or underwritten offering in the US or direct sale to a South African investor.  We also have default provisions in the 
underlying note whereby MNK can satisfy the note by delivering the shares back to us as permitted by applicable law. We are unable to predict the timing 
of or the effect that such sales, by MNK or by other shareholders, may have on the prevailing market price of our common stock. 
 
We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the Nasdaq rules and, as a result, qualify for, and intend to rely on, exemptions and relief from 
certain governance requirements. 
 

Stockholder affiliates of Mr. Copelyn and Mr. Govender have entered into a Consortium Agreement whereby they agree to act together when 
voting our common stock in the election of directors, among other matters. The parties to the Consortium Agreement beneficially owned, in the aggregate, 
approximately 52.3% of our common stock as of February 28, 2024. As a result, we are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the Nasdaq 
corporate governance standards. Under these corporate governance standards, a company of which more than 50% of the voting power in the election of 
directors is held by an individual, group or another company is a “controlled company” and may elect not to comply with certain corporate governance 
requirements. For example, controlled companies are not required to have: 

• a board that is composed of a majority of “independent directors,” as defined under the Nasdaq rules; 

• a compensation committee that is composed entirely of independent directors; and 

• director nominations that are made, or recommended to the full board of directors, by its independent directors, or by a 
nominations/governance committee that is composed entirely of independent directors. 

 
We may rely on any or all of these exemptions so long as we remain a controlled company. 
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The concentration of our capital stock ownership may limit our stockholders’ ability to influence corporate matters and may involve other risks. 
 

As a result of the Consortium Agreement, certain stockholders control matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of our 
directors and approval of significant corporate transactions. This concentration of ownership may also have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in 
control that may be otherwise viewed as beneficial by stockholders other than management. Accordingly, other stockholders may not have any influence 
over significant corporate transactions and other corporate matters. There is also a risk that certain controlling stockholders may have interests which are 
different from other stockholders and that they will pursue an agenda which is beneficial to themselves at the expense of other stockholders. 
 
Certain of our directors reside outside of the United States and it may be difficult to enforce judgments against them in the United States. 
 

Two of our directors, all of our executive officers and all of our operating assets reside in the United States. Directors Copelyn, Govender, 
Ahmed and Shaik are residents of South Africa. As a result, it may not be possible for you to effect service of legal process, within the United States or 
elsewhere, upon certain of our directors, including matters arising under U.S. federal securities laws. This may make it difficult or impossible to bring an 
action against these individuals in the United States in the event that a person believes that their rights have been violated under applicable law or 
otherwise. Even if an action of this type is successfully brought, the laws of the United States and South Africa may render a judgment unenforceable. 
 

 
General Risk Factors 
 
Our issuance of additional capital stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, our equity incentive plans or otherwise will dilute 
stockholders. 
 

We expect to issue additional capital stock in the future that will result in dilution to stockholders. We expect to grant equity awards to 
employees, directors and consultants under our equity incentive plans. We may also raise capital through equity financings in the future. As part of our 
business strategy, we may acquire or make investments in companies and issue equity securities to pay for any such acquisition or investment. Any such 
issuances of additional capital stock may cause stockholders to experience significant dilution of their ownership interests and the per share value of our 
common stock to decline. 

 
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our share price and trading 
volume could decline. 
 

The trading market for our common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us.  If 
securities or industry analysts initiate coverage and one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our common stock or publish inaccurate or 
unfavorable research about our company, our common stock share price would likely decline. If analysts publish target prices for our common stock that 
are below historical sales prices or the then-current public price of our common stock, it could cause our stock price to decline significantly. Further, if one 
or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our common stock could decrease, which might cause 
our common stock price and trading volume to decline. 

 
We are highly dependent on our senior management team and other highly skilled personnel, and if we are not successful in attracting or retaining 
highly qualified personnel, we may not be able to successfully implement our business strategy. 
 

Our success depends, in significant part, on the continued services of our senior management team and on our ability to attract, motivate, develop 
and retain a sufficient number of other highly skilled personnel, including engineering, design, finance and support personnel. Our senior management team 
has extensive experience in the renewable energy industry, and we believe that their depth of experience is instrumental to our continued success. The loss 
of any one or more members of our senior management team, for any reason, including resignation or retirement, could impair our ability to execute our 
business strategy and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

 
Competition for qualified highly skilled personnel can be strong, and we cannot assure you that we will be successful in attracting or retaining 

such personnel now or in the future. Any inability to recruit, develop and retain qualified employees may result in high employee turnover and may force 
us to pay significantly higher wages, which may harm our profitability. Additionally, we do not carry key personnel insurance for any of our management 
executives, and the loss of any key employee or our inability to recruit, develop and retain these individuals as needed, could adversely affect our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 
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Our ability to pay regular dividends on our common stock is subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors. 
 

Our common stock will have no contractual or other legal right to dividends. The payment of future dividends on our common stock will be at 
the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend on, among other things, our earnings, financial condition, capital requirements, level of 
indebtedness, statutory and contractual restrictions applying to the payment of dividends and other considerations that our Board of Directors deems 
relevant. Accordingly, we may not make, or may have to reduce or eliminate, the payment of dividends on our common stock, which could adversely affect 
the market price of our common stock. 

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS. 

None. 

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY. 

We have processes in place for identifying, assessing and managing material risks associated with cybersecurity threats. For a discussion of how 
risks from cybersecurity threats affect our business, please see our Risk Factors discussion under the heading, “Cybersecurity and Information Technology 
Risks” in this Form 10-K.

Risk Management and Strategy 

Enterprise risk management is the responsibility of our executive management team consisting of our chief executive officer, chief financial 
officer, chief legal officer and our vice presidents of operations, business development and environmental, health and safety.  Our executive management 
team meets on a weekly basis and discusses cybersecurity on an ad hoc basis when it is relevant.  Our director of Information Technology, who reports 
directly to our chief executive officer, and our director of Internal Audit are primarily responsible for management of cybersecurity risk.  Our director of 
Information Technology is an active ISC2 accredited member with 14 years of information technology experience, namely in developing solutions focused 
on private and hybrid cloud computing systems for small scale organizations. In accordance with our overall enterprise risk management process, our 
executive management team supervises our director of Information Technology and director of Internal Audit to assess, identify and manage material risks 
from cybersecurity threats.  As part of this process, we rely significantly on third-party providers to assist us with our cybersecurity risk management and 
strategy. These providers supply ongoing services including consulting services, access to a virtual CISO, threat monitoring and detection, threat response 
and mitigation strategies, updates on emerging trends and developments and policy and procedure guidance.  Other service providers offer targeted 
assistance such as security and forensic expertise on an as needed basis. We also maintain cybersecurity insurance. 

With respect to our employees, we run a multi-faceted security awareness program that includes regular, mandatory trainings for our personnel 
on data protection and malware detection, policy and process awareness, periodic phishing simulations and other kinds of preparedness testing.

As part of our Sarbanes-Oxley controls, our Internal Audit department tests our IT policies including those pertaining to passwords, backup and 
recovery, user access, change control and hardware and software maintenance. These audits assess key information security and cybersecurity risks in the 
environment that may affect the confidentiality, integrity and availability of financial reporting systems and data.  Additionally, key employees complete a 
survey containing questions about cybersecurity in connection with the quarterly Sarbanes-Oxley certification process. If any control deficiencies that 
represent material cybersecurity risks are identified in connection with these audits, those would be reported to the Audit Committee and Board of 
Directors.  We also obtain SOC 2 certifications from certain of our third-party service providers.   

As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have not implemented formal processes to oversee and identify risks from cybersecurity 
threats associated with our use of third parties.  We are working toward the implementation of a third-party risk management program. We believe that this 
program will better enable us to identify and manage material risks from cybersecurity threats related to our third-party service providers.

As of December 31, 2023, we have not identified any risks from cybersecurity threats (including any previous cybersecurity incidents) that have 
materially affected us, our business strategy, our results of operations or our financial condition. For a discussion of risks from cybersecurity threats that 
could be reasonably likely to materially affect us, please see our Risk Factors discussion under the heading, “Cybersecurity and Information Technology 
Risks” in this Form 10-K.  

Governance

The Audit Committee is tasked with overseeing our risks related to cybersecurity, including reviewing the state of our cybersecurity, emerging 
cybersecurity developments and threats, and our strategy to mitigate cybersecurity risks.  From time to time, members of our executive management team 
and our directors of Information Technology and Internal Audit provide updates to the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors regarding cybersecurity 
incidents and cybersecurity planning.    
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES. 

We own approximately 174 acres in Turkey, NC for which we are using to develop Montauk Ag Renewables.  Montauk Ag Renewables is reported 
in our Renewable Electricity Generation segment.

Our principal executive office is located in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. We lease an approximate 24,000 square foot office space at this site for 
approximately $43,000 per month pursuant to a lease which expires on April 30, 2033. 

We also lease an 8,400 square foot regional office and warehouse to service our sites in Houston, Texas, pursuant to a lease which expires on 
December 31, 2026, for approximately $5,000 per month. We currently own and operate 15 projects, 12 of which are RNG projects and three of which are 
Renewable Electricity projects. See “Item 1. Business—Our Current Operating Portfolio” for further descriptions of our projects, which information is 
incorporated into this item by reference. 

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS. 

From time to time we and our subsidiaries may be parties to legal proceedings arising in the normal course of our business. We and our subsidiaries 
are currently not a party, nor is our property subject, to any material pending legal proceedings. None of our directors, officers, affiliates, or any owner of 
record or beneficial owner of more than 5% of our common stock, is involved in a material proceeding adverse to us or our subsidiaries or has a material 
interest adverse to us or our subsidiaries. 

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES. 

Not Applicable. 
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PART II 

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF 
EQUITY SECURITIES. 

Market Information 

The Company’s common stock has traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the ticker symbol of “MNTK” and on the JSE under the ticker 
symbol of “MKR” since January 22, 2021. Prior to that time, there was no established public trading market for the Company’s common stock. 

Holders of Montauk Common Stock 

As of March 8, 2024, there were 12 holders of record of 143,623,805 shares of Montauk common stock outstanding as of such date. The number of 
holders of record of Montauk common stock does not reflect the number of beneficial holders whose shares are held by depositaries, brokers or other 
nominees. 

Performance Graph 

The following stock performance graph compares our total stock return with the total return for (a) NASDAQ Composite Index and (b) an industry 
peer group. Our 2023 peer group, which is comprised of companies that we believe have comparable characteristics and are in the same industry or line-of-
business, consists of Ameresco, Inc., Aemetis, Inc., Anaergia, Inc., Clean Energy Fuels Corp., Gevo, Inc., and Opal Fuels, Inc.  With Opal Fuels, Inc. 
having sufficient trading activity to be included in our 2023 peer group, we refined our 2023 peer group to companies in the same industry or line-of-
business. Our 2022 peer group consisted  of Aemetis Inc., Clean Energy Fuels Corp., and Gevo Inc. Our eleven month 2021 peer group also included 
Archaea Energy, Inc., and Renewable Energy Group Inc. but these entities were acquired and ceased trading during 2022 and, as such, a separate line 
showing the total returns for this group is not possible in the below performance graph through December 31, 2022. The graph assumes that on January 22, 
2021, the date our common stock began trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market, $100 was invested in our common stock and in each index based on the 
closing market price on that day and that all dividends were reinvested. The returns shown are based on historical events and are not intended to suggest 
future performance. 

The following performance graph and related information is being furnished and shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or “filed” with the SEC 
for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that section, nor shall such information be incorporated by 
reference into any future filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent we specifically incorporate it into reference into such 
filing. 
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 1/22/21  3/21  6/21  9/21  12/21  3/22  6/22  
Montauk Renewables, Inc.  100.00   116.49   73.87   108.29   98.84   108.00   96.91  
NASDAQ Composite  100.00   102.95   112.92   112.66   122.18   111.25   86.46  
2022 Peer Group  100.00   121.76   85.76   78.41   54.99   65.34   34.06  
2023 Peer Group  100.00   105.94   94.35   87.29   88.23   89.02   50.82  
               

 9/22  12/22  3/23  6/23  9/23  12/23    
Montauk Renewables, Inc.  168.18   106.36   75.89   71.75   87.85   85.92    
NASDAQ Composite  83.08   82.43   96.48   109.07   104.77   119.22    
2022 Peer Group  38.35   34.48   27.97   34.11   25.33   26.02    
2023 Peer Group  64.52   55.01   47.23   49.77   42.25   35.22    

 
 
Dividend Policy 

The Company did not pay any dividends in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 and currently intends to retain future earnings, if any, to 
finance the operations, growth and development of its business. Any future determination as to the declaration and payment of dividends, if any, will be at 
the discretion of our Board of Directors, subject to compliance with contractual restrictions and covenants in the agreements governing our current and 
future indebtedness and the DGCL. Any such determination will also depend upon our business prospects, results of operations, financial condition, cash 
requirements and availability, and other factors that our Board of Directors may deem relevant. 
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans 

The information required by Item 5 of Form 10-K regarding equity compensation plans is incorporated herein by reference to Item 12 of Part III of 
this Annual Report. 

Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities 

None. 

Use of Proceeds from Sale of Registered Securities 

On January 21, 2021, our Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-251312) (the “Registration Statement”), was declared 
effective by the SEC in connection with the IPO. The underwriter for the IPO was Roth Capital Partners. A total of 3,399,515 shares of our common stock 
were sold pursuant to the Registration Statement, which was comprised of (1) 2,702,500 shares of new common stock issued by the Company and (2) 
697,015 shares of the Company’s common stock held by MNK. The 3,399,515 shares were sold at an offering price of $8.50 per share and resulting in net 
proceeds to the Company of approximately $15.0 million, after deducting the underwriting discount of approximately $1.6 million and offering expenses 
payable by the Company of approximately $6.2 million. 

The IPO closed on January 26, 2021. No payments for such expenses were made directly or indirectly to (i) any of our officers or directors or their 
associates, (ii) any persons owning 10% or more of any class of our equity securities or (iii) any of our affiliates. 

From the closing of the IPO through December 31, 2023, approximately $15.0 million of the net proceeds from the IPO have been used by Montauk 
for the following: the Montauk Ag Asset Acquisition in May 2021, the purchase of the real-estate and property in October 2021 related to Montauk Ag, and 
subsequent development activities related to Montauk Ag Renewables. An immaterial amount has been used relating to other possible acquisitions and 
projects. As of December 31, 2023, all net proceeds were used by the Company.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities 

None. 

ITEM 6. RESERVED 
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS. 

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our financial 
statements and the related notes to those statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The historical consolidated financial data 
discussed below reflects the historical results of operations and financial position of Montauk USA, prior to the Equity Exchange on January 4, 2021. 
Following the Equity Exchange on January 4, 2021, the consolidated financial statements of Montauk USA became our historical financial statements for 
the periods prior to the Equity Exchange. 

In addition to historical financial information, the following discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, 
uncertainties, and assumptions. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of many 
factors, including those discussed under “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and “Item 1A.–Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this 
report. 

This section generally discusses our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. 
For discussion and analysis of our results for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the year ended December 31, 2021, refer to “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on 
March 16, 2023. 

Overview 

Montauk is a renewable energy company specializing in the recovery and processing of biogas from landfills and other non-fossil fuel sources for 
beneficial use as a replacement to fossil fuels. We develop, own, and operate RNG projects, using proven technologies that supply RNG into the 
transportation industry and use RNG to produce Renewable Electricity. We are one of the largest U.S. producers of RNG, having participated in the 
industry for over 30 years. We established our operating portfolio of 12 RNG and three Renewable Electricity projects through self-development, 
partnerships, and acquisitions that span six states. 

Biogas is produced by microbes as they break down organic matter in the absence of oxygen (during a process called anaerobic digestion). Our two 
current sources of commercial scale biogas are LFG and ADG, which is produced inside an airtight tank used to breakdown organic matter, such as 
livestock waste. We typically secure our biogas feedstock through long-term fuel supply agreements and property lease agreements with biogas site hosts. 
Once we secure long-term fuel supply rights, we design, build, own, and operate facilities that convert the biogas into RNG or use the processed biogas to 
produce Renewable Electricity. We sell the RNG and Renewable Electricity through a variety of short-, medium-, and long-term agreements. Because we 
are capturing waste methane and making use of a renewable source of energy, our RNG and Renewable Electricity generate valuable Environmental 
Attributes, which we are able to monetize under federal and state initiatives. 

Recent Developments 

Capital Development Summary 

The following summarizes our ongoing development growth plans expected capacity contribution, anticipated commencement of operations, and 
capital expenditure estimate, respectively, excluding Montauk Ag Renewables Development project:

 
Development Opportunity Estimated Capacity 

Contribution
(MMBtu/day)

Anticipated 
Commencement Date

Estimated Capital 
Expenditure

Pico Digestion Capacity Increase 300 2024 second quarter Up to $20,000
Second Apex RNG Facility 2,100 2024 fourth quarter $25,000-$35,000
Blue Granite RNG Facility 900 2026 $25,000-$35,000
Bowerman RNG Facility 3,600 2026 $85,000-$95,000
European Energy Facility N/A 2027 Up to $15,000/facility

 

RINs Generated but Unsold 

Our profitability is highly dependent on the market price of Environmental Attributes, including the market price for RINs. As we self-market a 
significant portion of our RINs, a decision not to commit to transfer available RINs during a period will impact our revenue and operating profit.  We 
determined not to transfer a significant amount of D3 RINs generated and available for transfer during the first quarter of 2024. As a result, we have 
approximately 2,887 RINs in inventory from 2023 gas production and have approximately 7,250 RINs in inventory from 2024 gas production as of the 
filing of this Report. We have not entered into commitments to transfer these RINs in inventory nor have we entered into agreements to transfer future 
RINs generated from forecasted future production. The average D3 RIN index price for the fourth quarter of 2023 and January 2024 and through the end of 
February 2024 was approximately $3.30 and $3.06, respectively.
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Carbon Dioxide Beneficial Use Opportunity 

In February 2024, we signed a contract for the delivery of 140 thousand tons per year of biogenic carbon dioxide (“CO2”) from our four Texas 
facilities.   We intend to capture, clean and liquefy CO2 at select Texas facilities, at which point it will be transported to EE North America (“EENA”), a 
Texas-based e-methanol facility.  The delivery term is expected to last at least 15 years with first delivery expected to begin in 2027.  With targeting a 
commissioning start in 2027, we expect the capital investment to be approximately $15,000 per facility with anticipating spend beginning second half of 
2024.

REG Facility Sale

In February 2024, we reached an agreement with the site host to sell the gas rights ahead of the fuel supply expiration of one of our existing REG 
operating facilities.  We received proceeds of $1,000 and no longer have obligations to decommission or remove any machinery or equipment at the site. 
The proceeds received were in excess of the carrying value of the site.  The PPA at this site expires during 2024 at which time we estimated that the 
revenues from this site would significantly decrease adversely impacting this sites future cash flows from operations.  The effective date of the sale is 
October 1, 2024. In connection with the sale, we secured fuel supply agreement amendments to extend the terms of our existing RNG operating facilities, 
Atascocita and Coastal Plains.

Montauk Ag Asset Acquisition 

In 2021, through a wholly-owned subsidiary Montauk Ag Renewables, we completed an asset purchase related to developing technology to recover 
residual natural resources from the waste streams of modern agriculture and to refine and recycle such waste products through proprietary and other 
processes in order to produce high quality renewable natural gas and recapture nitrogen, phosphorus, and micronutrient organic fertilizer alternatives (the 
“Montauk Ag Renewables Acquisition”).

While these project developments continue, we continue to engage with regulatory agencies in North Carolina related to the resulting power 
generation derived from swine waste to confirm its eligibility for Renewable Energy Credits under North Carolina’s Renewable Energy Portfolio Standards 
in anticipation of commercial production.  The Turkey location was approved to participate in the Piedmont Natural Gas Renewable Gas Pilot Program 
which is a step towards obtaining the New Renewable Energy Facility (“NREF”) designation under the North Carolina Utilities Commission.  In January 
2024, we received notification from the North Carolina Utilities Commission that the Turkey, NC location was approved for an NREF and Certificate of 
Public Convenience and Necessity.  In March 2024, we submitted an amendment to our NREF application for which we expect a decision on the NREF 
designation during 2024.  Obtaining this designation could have an impact on the timing of utility infrastructure at the location.  We signed a receipt 
interconnection agreement with Piedmont Natural Gas for the Turkey, NC location. This agreement is structured to coincide with the development timeline 
at the Turkey, NC location.

In connection with the July 2023 REC agreement with Duke Energy (“Duke”), our Board of Directors approved funding for the first phase of the 
North Carolina development project in September 2023. Once construction has been completed on the first phase and the facility has been fully 
commissioned, the project will provide sufficient capacity to satisfy the Duke REC agreement through the deployment of up to eight operational processing 
lines at the Turkey Creek facility. Including the original equipment acquired in the Montauk Ag Renewables Acquisition, the Turkey, NC asset acquisition, 
and the relocation of the Magnolia, NC site reactor to Turkey, NC, we currently expect the first phase capital investment to range between $140,000 and 
$160,000.

We continue to expect to have the first of the eight processing lines operational in the second quarter of 2024 and, we are currently planning for a 
rolling commissioning schedule for the remaining processing lines beginning in the second half of 2024 through the second half of 2025. We continue to 
expect to begin generating revenues in 2025 and expect to have sufficient capacity to satisfy the Duke REC agreement upon final commissioning during the 
second half of 2025. At full first phase capacity, we anticipate the ability to process feedstock from over 120 thousand hog spaces per day, which equates to 
over 200 tons of daily waste collection. We currently estimate the first phase of the project will annually produce approximately 45 to 50 thousand MWh 
equivalents through the combination of 190 to 200 thousand MMBtu and 25 to 30 thousand MWh. We also estimate that at full processing capabilities, the 
first phase of the project will additionally produce annually 17 to 20 thousand tons of organic fertilizer alternatives.

We continue to work with our engineer of record through the optimization of improvements to the now patented reactor technology. However, we 
have not completed our improvements, and we have not reached commercial operations at the Turkey, NC location. The improvements to the reactor 
technology are intended to be deployed at the Turkey, NC location. In 2023, we completed the relocation of the reactor in Magnolia, NC to the Turkey, NC 
location to centralize processing at one location.  And as part of the centralization and in connection with the optimization of the reactor, we assessed 
various assets of the Magnolia, NC reactor as no longer being applicable to the improved reactor process. As a result, we recorded an impairment charge of 
approximately $1,393 in 2022 related to assets originally acquired in the May 2021 Montauk Ag Renewables Acquisition we determined were no longer 
usable. 

We continue to develop the opportunities with Montauk Ag Renewables and can give no assurances that our plans related to this acquisition will 
meet our expectations. Utility interconnection, both inbound to and outbound from our centralized Turkey, NC processing facility is dependent on factors 
outside of our control. Our current construction timeline and costs are subject to delays or costs increases, respectively. We continue to design and plan for 
the development of the Turkey, NC facility to be used for 
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commercial production. We expect the Magnolia, NC location to be used for various feedstock processing needs. Based on our current development 
timeline expectations, we expect to commence significant revenue generating activities in 2025. We intend to contract with additional farms to secure 
feedstock sources for future production processes.

Pico Digestion Capacity Increase
 

Related to our Pico feedstock amendment, which increased the amount of feedstock supplied to the facility for processing over a one to four-year 
period (the “Pico Feedstock Amendment”), the dairy began delivering the first and second increases in feedstock in 2022 and we made three payments to 
the dairy as required in the Pico Feedstock Agreement. The improved efficiencies of our existing digestion process and the water management 
improvements have enabled us to process the increased feedstock volumes which we currently expect to increase by five to ten percent once all increased 
feedstock deliveries have been received from the dairy.  Our dairy host informed us that they expect to deliver the final increase in feedstock volumes in 
2025, at which point we will make the final contractual payment to the dairy.

In 2023, CARB finalized the engineering review of the Pico facility's provisional CI application and released it for public comment. The public 
comment period ended March 14, 2023 and we did not receive any significant comments.  CARB certified our Tier 2 application and the certified CI value 
was used beginning in the fourth quarter of 2022 to report and generate LCFS credits. We released the remaining gas from storage in the second quarter of 
2023.

 We completed the design of the digestion capacity project in 2022 and continue to incur capital expenditures related to the final commissioning 
phase of the project.  During 2023, we successfully commissioned additional digestion capacity and our new reception pit, both of which are currently 
operational. We have begun utilizing the increased reception pit capacity and have been working to increase feedstock gas availability through the 
additional digestion capacity. We continue to commission the last expansion of our digestion capacity increase during the second quarter of 2024 and 
currently expect to ramp up production into the third quarter of 2024.

Second Apex RNG Facility 

In 2022, we announced the planned construction of a second RNG processing facility at the Apex landfill. Currently, the landfill host is providing 
biogas feedstock in excess of our existing processing capacity, therefore triggering the addition of a second facility based on our existing fuel supply 
agreement.  As the landfill host continues to increase waste intake, we believe that the additional 2,100 MMBtu per day of production capacity will allow 
us to process the currently forecasted increase in biogas feedstock volumes from this increase in waste intake.  While the landfill host continues to increase 
waste intake, we expect there could be a period where we have excess available capacity after the second facility is commissioned.  We currently expect 
commercial operations in the fourth quarter of 2024.  We continue to incur capital expenditures for this project.

Bowerman RNG Project 

In 2023, we announced a planned development of a renewable natural gas landfill project in Irvine, CA at the Frank R. Bowerman Landfill. The 
project is anticipated to process the large and growing volumes of biogas in excess of the existing capacity of the REG facility. With target commissioning 
in 2026, we continue to expect the capital investment to range between $85,000 - $95,000, which is anticipated to have production nameplate capacity of 
approximately 3,600 MMBtu per day, assuming currently forecasted biogas feedstock volumes that are projected to be available from the host landfill at the 
time of commissioning.

Blue Granite RNG Project 

In 2023, we announced the planned entrance into South Carolina with the development of a new landfill gas-to-RNG facility. The planned project is 
expected to contribute approximately 900 MMBtu per day of production capacity upon commissioning. We continue to design and plan for the 
development and location of the facility as we continue to incur capital expenditures. We continue to review various alternatives related to interconnection 
opportunities as part of our considerations for offtake options with the understanding those alternatives may differ from initial development project 
assumptions. We expect the utility interconnection initially included in our development assumptions to accept the production from this facility, but will 
require other upgrades not impacting our interconnection.  However, these upgrades have delayed our expectation of commissioning of the facility into 
2026. 

Raeger Capital Improvement 

In 2022, our Board of Directors approved a capital improvement project to make upgrades to our Raeger facility to production. Construction on this 
capital project commenced in 2022 and the improvements became commercially operational during the second half of 2023. 
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Key Trends 

Market Trends Affecting the Renewable Fuel Market 

We believe rising demand for RNG is attributable to a variety of factors, including growing public support for renewable energy, U.S. governmental 
actions to increase energy independence, environmental concerns increasing demand for natural gas-powered vehicles, job creation, and increasing 
investment in the renewable energy sector. 

Key drivers for the long-term growth of RNG include the following factors: 

• Regulatory or policy initiatives, including the federal RFS program and state-level low-carbon fuel programs in states such as California 
and Oregon, that drive demand for RNG and its derivative Environmental Attributes (as further described below). 

• Efficiency, mobility and capital cost flexibility in RNG operations enable it to compete successfully in multiple markets. Our operating 
model is nimble, as we commonly use modular equipment; our RNG processing equipment is more efficient than its fossil-fuel equivalents. 

• Demand for compressed natural gas (“CNG”) from natural gas-fueled vehicles. The RNG we create is pipeline-quality and can be used for 
transportation fuel when converted to CNG. CNG is commonly used by medium-duty fleets that are close to fueling stations, such as city 
fleets, local delivery trucks and waste haulers. 

• Regulatory requirements, market pressure and public relations challenges increase the time, cost and difficulty of permitting new fossil 
fuel-fired facilities. 

Factors Affecting Our Future Operating Results: 

Conversion of Electricity Projects to RNG Projects: 

We periodically evaluate opportunities to convert existing facilities from Renewable Electricity to RNG production. These opportunities tend to be 
most attractive for any merchant electricity facilities given the favorable economics for the sale of RNG plus RINs relative to the sale of market rate 
electricity plus RECs. This strategy has been an increasingly attractive avenue for growth since 2014 when RNG from landfills became eligible for D3 
RINs. However, during the conversion of a project, there is a gap in production while the electricity project is offline until it commences operation as an 
RNG facility, which can adversely affect us. This timing effect may adversely affect our operating results as a result of our potential conversion of 
Renewable Electricity projects. Upon completion of a conversion, we expect that the increase in revenue upon commencement of RNG production will 
more than offset the loss of revenue from Renewable Electricity production. Historically, we have taken advantage of these opportunities on a gradual basis 
at our merchant electricity facilities, such as Atascocita and Coastal Plains. 

Acquisition and Development Pipeline 

The timing and extent of our development pipeline affects our operating results due to: 

• Impact of Higher Selling, General and Administrative Expenses Prior to the Commencement of a Project’s Operation: We incur significant 
expenses in the development of new RNG projects. Further, the receipt of RINs is delayed, and typically does not commence for a period of 
four to six months after the commencement of injecting RNG into a pipeline, pending final registration approval of the project by the EPA 
and then the subsequent completion of a third-party quality assurance plan certification. During such time, the RNG is either physically or 
theoretically stored and later withdrawn from storage to allow for the generation of RINs. 

• Shifts in Revenue Composition for Projects from New Fuel Sources: As we expand into livestock farm projects, our revenue composition 
from Environmental Attributes will change. We believe that livestock farms offer us a lucrative opportunity, as the value of LCFS credits 
for dairy farm projects, for example, are a multiple of those realized from landfill projects due to the significantly more attractive CI score 
of livestock farms. 

• Incurrence of Expenses Associated with Pursuing Prospective Projects That Do Not Come to Fruition: We incur expenses to pursue 
prospective projects with the goal of a site host accepting our proposal or being awarded a project in a competitive bidding process. 
Historically, we have evaluated opportunities which we decided not to pursue further due to the prospective project not meeting our internal 
investment thresholds or a lack of success in a competitive bidding process. To the extent we seek to pursue a greater number of projects or 
bidding for projects becomes more competitive, our expenses may increase. 
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Regulatory, Environmental and Social Trends 

Regulatory, environmental and social factors are key drivers that incentivize the development of RNG and Renewable Electricity projects and 
influence the economics of these projects. We are subject to the possibility of legislative and regulatory changes to certain incentives, such as RINs, RECs 
and GHG initiatives. On July 12, 2023, the EPA issued final rules in the Federal Register for the RFS volume requirements for 2023-2025. Final volumes 
for cellulosic biofuel were set at 838, 1,090 and 1,376 million RINs for the three years 2023, 2024 and 2025, respectively. The EPA did not finalize the 
eRIN program in this ruling, however, it indicated that it will continue to work on potential paths forward for the eRIN program. However, the EPA did not 
set a new date for a revised eRIN program. The cellulosic biofuel volumes in the final rule for 2024 and 2025 are lower than the proposed volume as they 
do not include cellulosic biofuel from eRINs. The final rule also included significant changes to the existing RFS program, referred to as biogas regulatory 
reform, that will require the RNG industry to modify how all RINs are generated. New RFS participating facilities that register July 1, 2024, or after will 
have to meet the biogas regulatory reform provisions beginning July 1, 2024. Existing RFS participating facilities which registered prior to July 1, 2024, 
will have until January 1, 2025, to come into compliance with biogas regulatory reforms. For existing registrants, registration updates must be submitted by 
October 1, 2024. On January 1, 2025, all RFS participants must comply with biogas regulatory reform provisions. The EPA finalized a limitation that 
biogas from one facility has a single use under the RFS as proposed (i.e., biointermediate, RNG or CNG/LNG via biogas closed distribution system). The 
EPA clarified that this does not preclude non-RFS uses at same facility. 

In December 2023, CARB released the formal proposal for new LCFS rules. The proposed rules will increase the stringency of CI reduction targets 
from 20% to 30% in 2030 and create a 2045 target of 90%. This reduction would have the potential impact of reducing the number of net credits in the 
program.  However, the industry may see pricing volatility including potential increase to LCFS credit prices. Also in the proposed rules is a phase out of 
avoided methane crediting for dairy and swine manure pathways by 2040 for CNG usage and through 2045 for RNG used to produce hydrogen. The RNG 
deliverability/book and claim provisions for out-of-region projects will be eliminated for all projects that break ground after 2030. These projects will be 
required to demonstrate physical deliverability requirements beginning in 2041. 

Changes to the LCFS program require annual verification of the CI score assigned to a project. Annual verification could significantly affect the 
profitability of a project, particularly in the case of a livestock farm project.

Factors Affecting Revenue 

Our total operating revenues include renewable energy and related sales of Environmental Attributes. Renewable energy sales primarily consist of 
the sale of biogas, including LFG and ADG, which is either sold or converted to Renewable Electricity. Environmental Attributes are generated and 
monetized from the renewable energy. 

We report revenues from two operating segments: Renewable Natural Gas and Renewable Electricity Generation. Corporate relates to additional 
discrete financial information for the corporate function; primarily used as a shared service center for maintaining functions such as executive, accounting, 
treasury, legal, human resources, tax, environmental, engineering, and other operations functions not otherwise allocated to a segment. As such, the 
corporate entity is not determined to be an operating segment but is discretely disclosed for purposes of reconciliation to the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements. 

• Renewable Natural Gas Revenues: We record revenues from the production and sale of RNG and the generation and sale of the 
Environmental Attributes derived from RNG, such as RINs and LCFS credits. Our RNG revenues from Environmental Attributes are 
recorded net of a portion of Environmental Attributes shared with off-take counterparties as consideration for such counterparties using the 
RNG as a transportation fuel.  We have certain pathway provider sharing arrangements expiring throughout 2024. If we are unable to renew 
these arrangements based on our historical counterparty share percentages, our ability to monetize RINs from RNG may be impacted.  We 
monetize a portion of our RNG production under fixed-price agreements which provide floor prices in excess of commodity indices. 

• Renewable Electricity Generation Revenues: We record revenues from the production and sale of Renewable Electricity and the generation 
and sale of the Environmental Attributes, such as RECs, derived from Renewable Electricity. All of our Renewable Electricity production is 
monetized under fixed-price PPAs from our existing operating projects. 

• Corporate Revenues: Corporate reports realized and unrealized gains or losses under our gas hedge programs. Corporate also relates to 
additional discrete financial information for the corporate function; primarily used as a shared service center for maintaining functions such 
as executive, accounting, treasury, legal, human resources, tax, environmental, engineering and other operations functions not otherwise 
allocated to a segment. 

Our operating revenues are priced based on published index prices which can be influenced by factors outside our control, such as market impacts 
on commodity pricing and regulatory developments. Strategic decisions to not monetize RINs available to be transferred will have an impact on our 
operating revenues and operating profit. As we self-market a significant portion of our RINs and as the RFS is based on annual compliance, any strategic 
decision to not monetize available RINs in a quarter could impact the timing of operating revenues recognized during a fiscal year. With our royalty 
payments structured as a percentage of revenue, royalty 
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payments fluctuate with changes in revenues. Due to these factors, we place a primary focus on managing production volumes and operating and 
maintenance expenses as these factors are more controllable by us.
 

RNG Production 

Our RNG production levels are subject to fluctuations based on numerous factors, including: 

Disruptions to Production: Disruptions to waste placement operations at our active landfill sites, severe weather events, or failure or degradation of 
our or a landfill operator’s equipment or interconnection or transmission problems could result in a reduction of our RNG production. We strive to 
proactively address any issues that may arise through preventative maintenance, process improvement and flexible redeployment of equipment to maximize 
production and useful life. 

• Many of our operating locations are in areas that experienced lower than historical rainfall, higher than average temperatures, or both, 
during the second half of 2023. This had a negative impact on our production and ability to generate and sell RINs.

• Though we collaborate with the landfill host at our Rumpke facility on our gas collection efforts, in addition to drought weather anomalies, 
other wellfield extraction environmental factors have impacted gas extraction at the site. While the site continues to expand their waste 
intake and we continue to expand wellfield collection, our volumes could be impacted throughout 2024. Mitigation efforts related to 
wellfield environmental factors will continue into 2024.

• The landfill host at our McCarty facility recently changed its wellfield collection system which has contributed to elevated nitrogen in the 
feedstock received by our facility. Additionally, the landfill host modified the wellfield bifurcation approach which has impacted the 
quantity of feedstock received at the facility. We are working with the landfill host but have currently experienced lower volumes of 
feedstock available to be processed at the McCarty facility. 

• Our processing of increased Pico feedstock during first half of 2024 may be impacted while we expand the receiving capacity associated 
with the Pico digestion capacity increase.

• Quality of Biogas: We are reliant upon the quality and availability of biogas from our site partners. The quality of the waste at our landfill 
project sites is subject to change based on the volume and type of waste accepted. Variations in the quality of the biogas could affect our 
RNG production levels. At three of our projects, we operate the wellfield collection system, which allows greater control over the quality 
and consistency of the collected biogas. At two of our projects, we have operating and management agreements by which we earn revenue 
for managing the wellfield collection systems. Additionally, our dairy farm project benefits from the consistency of feedstock and 
controlled environment of collection of waste to improve biogas quality. 

• RNG Production from Our Growth Projects: We anticipate increased production at certain of our existing projects as open landfills continue 
to take in additional waste and the amount of gas available for collection increases. Delays in commencement of production or extended 
commissioning issues at a new project or a conversion project would delay any realization of production from that project. 

Pricing 

Our Renewable Natural Gas and Renewable Electricity Generation segments’ revenues are primarily driven by the prices under our off-take 
agreements and PPAs and the amount of RNG and Renewable Electricity that we produce. We sell the RNG produced from our projects under a variety of 
short-term and medium-term agreements to counterparties, with contract terms varying from three years to five years. Our contracts with counterparties are 
typically structured to be based on varying natural gas price indices for the RNG produced. All of the Renewable Electricity produced at our biogas-to-
electricity projects is sold under long-term contracts to creditworthy counterparties, typically under a fixed price arrangement with escalators. 

The pricing of Environmental Attributes, which accounts for a substantial portion of our revenues, is subject to volatility based on a variety of 
factors, including regulatory and administrative actions and commodity pricing. 

During the first quarter of 2023, our Pico dairy farm project was awarded a more attractive CI by CARB, thereby generating LCFS credits at a 
multiple of those generated by our landfill projects.

The sale of RINs, which is subject to market price fluctuations, accounts for a substantial portion of our revenues. We manage against the risk of 
these fluctuations through forward sales of RINs, although currently we only sell RINs in the calendar year they are generated. We have not entered into 
commitments to transfer significant RINs generated from 2024 production. Realized prices for Environmental Attributes monetized in a year may not 
correspond directly to index prices due to the forward selling of commitments. 
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Factors Affecting Operating Expenses 

Our operating expenses include royalties, transportation, gathering and production fuel expenses, project operating and maintenance expenses, 
general and administrative expenses, depreciation and amortization, net loss (gain) on sale of assets, impairment loss and transaction costs. 

• Project Operating and Maintenance Expenses: Operating and maintenance expenses primarily consist of expenses related to the collection 
and processing of biogas, including biogas collection system operating and maintenance expenses, biogas processing, operating and 
maintenance expenses, and related labor and overhead expenses. At the project level, this includes all labor and benefit costs, ongoing 
corrective and proactive maintenance, project level utility charges, rent, health and safety, employee communication, and other general 
project level expenses. Unanticipated feedstock processing or gas conditioning equipment failures occurring outside our planned 
preventative maintenance program can increase project operating and maintenance expenses and reduce production volumes.

• Royalties, Transportation, Gathering and Production Fuel Expenses: Royalties represent payments made to our facility hosts, typically 
structured as a percentage of revenue. Transportation and gathering expenses include capacity and metering expenses representing the costs 
of delivering our RNG and Renewable Electricity production to our customers. These expenses include payments to pipeline operators and 
other agencies that allow for the transmission of our gas and electricity commodities to end users. Production fuel expenses generally 
represent alternative royalty payments based on quantity usage of biogas feedstock. 

• General and Administrative Expenses: General and administrative expenses primarily consist of corporate expenses and unallocated 
support functions for our operating facilities, including personnel costs for executive, finance, accounting, investor relations, legal, human 
resources, operations, engineering, environmental registration and reporting, health and safety, IT and other administrative personnel and 
professional fees and general corporate expenses. From time to time, we may be parties to legal proceedings arising in the normal course of 
business which could increase our legal expenses. We expect increased general and administrative expenses associated with our ongoing 
development of Montauk Ag Renewables in 2024.  We also expect increased general and administrative expenses associated with share-
based compensation related to the board of directors approval of grants of stock options to the executives of the Company in April 2023. 
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation related to grants made through its equity and incentive compensation plan under 
FASB ASC 718. For more information, see Note 15 to our audited consolidated financial statements. 

• Depreciation and Amortization: Expenses related to the recognition of the useful lives of our intangible and fixed assets. We spend 
significant capital to build and own our facilities. In addition to development capital, we annually reinvest to maintain these facilities. 

• Impairment Loss: Expenses related to reductions in the carrying value(s) of fixed and/or intangible assets based on periodic evaluations 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. 

• Transaction Costs: Transaction costs primarily consist of expenses incurred for due diligence and other activities related to potential 
acquisitions and other strategic transactions. 

Key Operating Metrics 

Total operating revenues reflect both sales of renewable energy and sales of related Environmental Attributes. As a result, our revenues are primarily 
affected by unit production of RNG and Renewable Electricity, production of Environmental Attributes, and the prices at which we monetize such 
production. Set forth below is an overview of these key metrics: 

• Production Volumes: We review performance by site based on unit of production calculations for RNG and Renewable Electricity, 
measured in terms of MMBtu and MWh, respectively. While unit of production measurements can be influenced by schedule facility 
maintenance schedules, the metric is used to measure the efficiency of operations and the impact of optimization improvement initiatives. 
We monetize a majority of our RNG commodity production under variable-price agreements, based on indices. A portion of our Renewable 
Natural Gas segment commodity production is monetized under fixed-priced contracts. Our Renewable Electricity Generation segment 
commodity production is primarily monetized under fixed-priced PPAs. 

• Production of Environmental Attributes: We monetize Environmental Attributes derived from our production of RNG and Renewable 
Electricity. We carry-over a portion of the RINs generated from RNG production to the following year and monetize the carried over RINs 
in such following calendar year. A majority of our Renewable Natural Gas segment Environmental Attributes are self-monetized, though a 
portion are generated and monetized by third parties under counterparty sharing agreements. A majority of our Renewable Electricity 
Generation segment Environmental Attributes are monetized as a component of our fixed-price PPAs. 

• Average realized price per unit of production: Our profitability is highly dependent on the commodity prices for natural gas and electricity, 
and the Environmental Attribute prices for RINs, LCFS credits, and RECs. Realized prices for 
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Environmental Attributes monetized in a year may not correspond directly with that year’s production as attributes may be carried over and 
subsequently monetized. We may elect to not commit to transfer all available RINs in a given period which could impact our revenue and 
operating profit. Realized prices for Environmental Attributes monetized in a year may not correspond directly to index prices due to the 
forward selling of commitments. 

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

The following table summarizes the key operating metrics described above, which metrics we use to measure performance. 
 

  
For the year ended

 December 31,      Change  
  2023   2022   Change   %  
(in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)             
Revenues             
Renewable Natural Gas Total Revenues  $ 156,455   $ 196,218   $ (39,763 )   (20.3 %)
Renewable Electricity Generation Total Revenues  $ 18,449   $ 17,170   $ 1,279    7.4 %
             
RNG Metrics             
CY RNG production volumes (MMBtu)   5,499    5,522    (23 )   (0.4 %)

Less: Current period RNG volumes under fixed/floor-
    price contracts   (1,287 )   (1,278 )   (9 )   0.7 %

Plus: Prior period RNG volumes dispensed in current
   period   368    372    (4 )   (1.1 %)
Less: Current period RNG production volumes not

    dispensed   (358 )   (378 )   20    (5.3 %)
Total RNG volumes available for RIN generation (1)   4,222    4,238    (16 )   (0.4 %)

             
RIN Metrics             
Current RIN generation ( x 11.727) (2)   49,508    49,697    (189 )   (0.4 %)

Less: Counterparty share (RINs)   (5,203 )   (5,275 )   72    (1.4 %)
Plus: Prior period RINs carried into current period   739    140    599    427.9 %
Less: CY RINs carried into next CY   (108 )   (739 )   631    (85.4 %)

Total RINs available for sale (3)   44,936    43,823    1,113    2.5 %
Less: RINs sold   (44,936 )   (43,823 )   (1,113 )   2.5 %

RIN Inventory   —    —    —    0.0 %
RNG Inventory (volumes not dispensed for RINs) (4)   358    368    (10 )   (2.7 %)
Average Realized RIN price  $ 2.71   $ 3.25   $ (0.54 )   (16.6 %)
             
Operating Expenses             
Renewable Natural Gas Operating Expenses  $ 80,762   $ 86,068   $ (5,306 )   (6.2 %)
Operating Expenses per MMBtu (actual)  $ 14.69   $ 15.59   $ (0.90 )   (5.8 %)
             
REG Operating Expenses  $ 13,730   $ 14,910   $ (1,180 )   (7.9 %)

$/MWh (actual)  $ 70.77   $ 78.47   $ (7.70 )   (9.8 %)
             
Other Metrics             
Renewable Electricity Generation Volumes Produced

    (MWh)   194    190    4    2.1 %
Average Realized Price $/MWh (actual)  $ 95.10   $ 90.37   $ 4.73    5.2 %

 

(1) RINs are generated the month following the month gas is produced and dispensed. Volumes under fixed/floor arrangements generate RINs which we 
do not self-market.

(2) One MMBtu of RNG has the same energy content as 11.727 gallons of ethanol, and thus may generate 11.727 RINs under the RFS program.
(3) Represents RINs available to be self-marketed by us during the reporting period.
(4) Represents gas production on which RINs are not generated.
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Results of Operations 

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

The following table summarizes our revenues, expenses and net income for the periods set forth below: 
 

  For the year ended
 December 31,      Change  

  2023   2022   Change   %  
Total operating revenues  $ 174,904   $ 205,559   $ (30,655 )   (14.9 )%
Operating expenses:             

Operating and maintenance expenses   59,762    57,267    2,495    4.4 %
General and administrative expenses   34,403    34,139    264    0.8 %
Royalties, transportation, gathering and

    production fuel   34,861    44,163    (9,302 )   (21.1 )%
Depreciation, depletion and amortization   21,158    20,700    458    2.2 %
Gain on insurance proceeds   —    (313 )   313    (100.0 )%
Impairment loss   902    4,852    (3,950 )   (81.4 )%
Transaction costs   178    185    (7 )   (3.8 )%

Total operating expenses   151,264    160,993    (9,729 )   (6.0 )%
Operating income  $ 23,640   $ 44,566   $ (20,926 )   (47.0 )%

Other expenses (income):   5,274    1,324    3,950    298.4 %
Income before income taxes:   18,366    43,242    (24,876 )   (57.5 )%
Income tax expense   3,418    8,048    (4,630 )   (57.5 )%

Net income  $ 14,948   $ 35,194   $ (20,246 )   (57.5 )%

 
Revenues for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 

Total revenues in 2023 were $174,904, a decrease of $30,655 (14.9%) compared to $205,559 in 2022. The primary driver for this decrease relates to 
the average realized RIN price decrease of approximately 16.6% in 2023 of $2.71 compared to $3.25 in 2022.  Also contributing to this decrease was the 
natural gas index price decrease of approximately 58.7% during 2023 of $2.74 compared to $6.64 in 2022. 

Renewable Natural Gas Revenues 

We produced 5,499 MMBtu of RNG during 2023, a decrease of 23 MMBtu (0.4%) from the 5,522 MMBtus produced in 2022.  Reduced 
preventative maintenance and wellfield optimization led to increased production, notably with our Atascocita facility producing 84 MMBtu more in 2023 
compared to 2022.  Offsetting these improvements were unrelated wellfield quality issues and weather anomalies which lowered production, led by our 
Rumpke facility producing 95 fewer MMBtu in 2023 compared to 2022. 

Revenues from the Renewable Natural Gas segment in 2023 were $156,455, a decrease of $39,763 (20.3%) compared to $196,218 in 2022. Average 
commodity pricing for natural gas for 2023 was 58.7% lower than the prior year. During 2023, we self-marketed 44,936 RINs, representing a 1,113 
increase (2.5%) compared to 43,823 in 2022. The increase was primarily related to the prior period RIN volumes carried over into 2023 compared to 2022.  
Average pricing realized on RIN sales during 2023 was $2.71 as compared to $3.25 in 2022, a decrease of 16.6%. This compares to the average D3 RIN 
index price for 2022 of $2.63 being approximately 11.7% lower than the average D3 RIN index price in 2022 of $2.98. At December 31, 2023, we had 
approximately 0.4 million MMBtus available for RIN generation and had approximately 0.1 million RINs generated and unsold. We had approximately 0.4 
million MMBtus available for RIN generation and approximately 0.7 million RINs generated and unsold at December 31, 2022. 

Renewable Electricity Generation Revenues 

We produced 194 MWh in Renewable Electricity in 2023, an increase of approximately 4 MWh (2.1%) compared to 190 MWh in 2022. Our 
Security facility produced 5 MWh more in 2023 compared to 2022 as a result of the prior period engine maintenance.

Revenues from Renewable Electricity facilities in 2023 were $18,449, an increase of $1,279 (7.4%) compared to $17,170 in 2022.  The increase is 
primarily driven by the timing of generation and monetization of RECs and PPA pricing step up at our Bowerman facility.
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Corporate Analysis 

While we did not have any gas commodity hedge programs in 2023, we recorded losses of $7,829 related to our gas commodity hedge in 2022, 
which was recorded in revenues in the 2022 consolidated statement of operations.  

Expenses for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

General and Administrative Expenses 

Total general and administrative expenses were $34,403 in 2023, an increase of $264 (0.8%) compared to $34,139 in 2022. Our general and 
administrative expenses for 2023 increased approximately $2,106 compared to 2022 associated with Montauk Ag Renewables. The increase was primarily 
driven by stock-based compensation expense as a result of the 2022 amendments to restricted share awards issued in the Montauk Ag Renewables 
acquisition and professional fees. Partially offsetting this increase was a reversal of approximately $1,024 in stock based compensation expense related to 
forfeited stock awards.  Our professional fees expense was $4,609 in 2023, a decrease of $657 (12.5%) compared to $5,266 in 2022.  Montauk Ag 
Renewables professional fees for 2023 increased approximately $381 compared to 2022. Finally, our rent expense was $713 in 2023, an increase of $293 
(69.6%) compared to $420 in 2022.

Renewable Natural Gas Expenses 

Operating and maintenance expenses for our RNG facilities in 2023 were $47,886, an increase of $4,157 (9.5%) compared to $43,729 in 2022.  
Total RNG facility utility expense decreased approximately $2,098 in 2023 as compared to 2022.  Offsetting this decrease in RNG utility were increases in 
our RNG site operating and maintenance expenses.  Our Rumpke facility operating and maintenance expenses increased approximately $1,271 as a result 
of timing of preventative maintenance interval costs and previously disclosed process equipment failure repair costs.  Our McCarty facility operating and 
maintenance expenses increased approximately $925 as a result of timing of preventative maintenance interval costs and wellfield operational 
enhancements.  Our Atascocita facility operating and maintenance expenses increased approximately $840 as a result of timing of preventative 
maintenance intervals as well as wellfield operational enhancements.  Our Galveston facility operating and maintenance expenses increased approximately 
$703 primarily driven by wellfield operational enhancements.  Our Pico facility operating and maintenance expenses increased approximately $630 as a 
result of non-capitalizable costs associated to the Pico Digestion Capacity Increase project as well as timing of preventative maintenance interval costs.  
Our Apex facility operating and maintenance expenses increased approximately $487 as a result of increased waste disposal fees and wellfield operational 
enhancements. Our Coastal facility operating and maintenance expenses increased approximately $336 as a result of wellfield operational enhancements. 
 

Royalties, transportation, gathering and production fuel expenses for the Company’s RNG facilities for 2023 were $32,876, a decrease of $9,463 
(22.4%) compared to $42,339 in 2022.  Our Pico facility earnout increased approximately 12.8% during 2023 compared to 2022 based on our current 
estimate of the present value of the earnout.  Royalties, transportation, gathering and production fuel expenses decreased as a percentage of RNG revenues 
to 21.0% for 2023 from 21.6% in 2022.  

Renewable Electricity Expenses 

Operating and maintenance expenses for our Renewable Electricity facilities in 2023 were $11,745, a decrease of $1,341 (10.2%) compared to 
$13,086 in 2022.  Our Bowerman facility operating and maintenance expenses decreased approximately $2,579 driven by the timing of scheduled engine 
preventative maintenance intervals at our Bowerman facility in 2023 compared to 2022.  Offsetting the decrease was an increase in Montauk Ag 
Renewables operating and maintenance expenses of approximately $295.  Also, our Tulsa facility operating and maintenance expenses increased 
approximately $532 as a result of scheduled preventative maintenance interval costs and wellfield operational maintenance

Royalties, transportation, gathering and production fuel expenses for our Renewable Electricity facilities for 2023 were $1,985, an increase of $161 
(8.8%) compared to $1,824 in 2022 and as a percentage of Renewable Electricity Generation segment revenues increased from 10.6% to 10.8%.   

Royalty Payments 

Royalties, transportation, gathering, and production fuel expenses in 2023 were $34,861, a decrease of 9,302 (21.1%) compared to $44,163 in 2022. 
We make royalty payments to our fuel supply site partners on the commodities we produce and the associated Environmental Attributes. These royalty 
payments are typically structured as a percentage of revenue subject to a cap, with fixed minimum payments when Environmental Attribute prices fall 
below a defined threshold. To the extent commodity and Environmental Attributes’ prices fluctuate, our royalty payments may fluctuate upon renewal or 
extension of a fuel supply agreement or in connection with new projects. Our fuel supply agreements are typically structured as 20-year contracts, 
providing long-term visibility into the margin impact of future royalty payments. 

-47-



Table of Contents

 

Depreciation 

Depreciation and amortization in 2023 was $21,158, an increase of $458 (2.2%) compared to $20,700 in 2022. The increase is associated with the 
timing of capital investments placed into service in 2023.

Impairment loss 

We calculated and recorded impairment losses of $902 for 2023, a decrease of $3,950 (81.4%) compared to $4,852 for 2022. In 2023, we recorded 
impairments of $777 for specifically identified RNG machinery and feedstock processing equipment that were no longer in operational use as well as $125 
in obsolete REG critical spares.  In 2022, we recorded an impairment of $2,133 for a REG site wherein the forecast future cash flows did not exceed the 
carrying value of the site’s long lived assets. A second REG site was impaired for $1,393 due to discrete conclusion that certain assets acquired in the May 
2021 Montauk Ag Renewables Acquisition would no longer be utilized. Also in 2022, we recorded an impairment at an RNG facility for approximately 
$1,108 due to the specific identification of certain assets no longer being capable of use as designed.

Other Expenses 

Other expenses in 2023 were $5,274, an increase of $3,950 (298.4%) compared to $1,324 in 2022.   The increase is primarily related to an increase 
in interest expense of $3,961 in 2023 as compared to 2022 as a result of rising interest rates.   

Income Tax Expense 

As of December 31, 2023, we utilized all of our limited NOLs. We have an additional $12,986 of federal net operating losses that are not expected 
to be realizable due to loss limitation rules.  As of December 31, 2022, we had utilized all of our non-limited NOLs.

We have approximately $13,042 in federal tax credit carryforwards that expire 20 years from the date incurred, which will begin to expire in tax 
year 2026.   We have pre-tax state net operating loss carryforwards of $18,059 which will begin to expire in tax year 2026.   

For the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, income tax expense was $3,418 and $8,048, respectively and has been calculated resulting in an 
annual effective tax rate (“AETR”) of 18.61%, respectively.

Operating Profit (Loss) for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 

Operating profit in 2023 was $23,640, a decrease of $20,926 (47.0%) compared to $44,566 in 2022. RNG operating profit for 2023 was $59,286, a 
decrease of $35,153 (37.2%) compared to $94,439 in 2022. Renewable Electricity Generation operating loss for 2022 was $595, a decrease of $6,424 
(91.5%) compared to $7,019 in 2022. 

Non-GAAP Financial Measures: 

The following table presents EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, non-GAAP financial measures for each of the periods presented below. We present 
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA because we believe the measures assist investors in analyzing our performance across reporting periods on a consistent 
basis by excluding items that we do not believe are indicative of our core operating performance. In addition, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are financial 
measurements of performance that management and the Board of Directors use in their financial and operational decision-making and in the determination 
of certain compensation programs. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are supplemental performance measures that are not required by, or presented in 
accordance with GAAP. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered alternatives to net income or any other performance measure derived in 
accordance with GAAP, or as an alternative to cash flows from operating activities or a measure of our liquidity or profitability. 
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The following table provides our EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA for the periods presented, as well as a reconciliation to net income: 
 

  
For the year ended

 December 31,  

  2023   2022  
Net income  $ 14,948   $ 35,194  
Depreciation, depletion and amortization   21,158    20,700  
Interest expense   5,753    1,792  
Income tax expense   3,418    8,048  

Consolidated EBITDA   45,277    65,734  
       
Impairment loss (1)   902    4,852  
Net loss (gain) on sale of assets   94    (233 )
Transaction costs   178    185  

Adjusted EBITDA  $ 46,451   $ 70,538  

 
(1) For the year ended December 31, 2023, we recorded impairments of $777 for specifically identified RNG machinery and feedstock processing 

equipment that were no longer in operational use as well as $125 in obsolete REG critical spares.  For the year ended December 31, 2022, we 
recorded an impairment of $2,133 for a REG site wherein the forecast future cash flows did not exceed the carrying value of the site’s long lived 
assets. A second REG site was impaired for $1,393 due to discrete conclusion that certain assets acquired in the May 2021 Montauk Ag Renewables 
Acquisition would no longer be utilized. Also in 2022, we recorded an impairment at an RNG facility for approximately $1,108 due to the specific 
identification of certain assets no longer being capable of use as designed. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Sources of Liquidity 

At December 31, 2023 and 2022, our cash and cash equivalents, net of restricted cash, was $73,811 and $105,177, respectively. We intend to fund 
development projects using cash flows from operations and borrowings under our revolving credit facility. We believe that we will have sufficient cash 
flows from operations and borrowing availability under our credit facility to meet our debt service obligations and anticipated required capital expenditures 
(including for projects under development) for the next 12 to 24 months. However, we are subject to business and operational risks that could adversely 
affect our cash flows and liquidity. 

At December 31, 2023, we had debt before debt issuance costs of $64,000, compared to debt before debt issuance costs of $72,000 at December 31, 
2022. 

Our debt before issuance costs (in thousands) is as follows: 
 

  
December 31, 

2023   
December 31, 

2022  

Term loan  $ 64,000    72,000  
Revolving credit facility   —    —  

Debt before debt issuance costs  $ 64,000   $ 72,000  

 
Amended Credit Agreement 

On December 21, 2021, the Company entered into the Fourth Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan 
Agreement (the “Amended Credit Agreement”), with Comerica Bank (“Comerica”) and certain other financial institutions. The Amended Credit 
Agreement, which is secured by substantially all of our assets and assets of certain of our subsidiaries, provides for a five-year $80,000 term loan and a 
five-year $120,000 revolving credit facility. 

As of December 31, 2023, $64,000 was outstanding under the term loan and we had no outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit facility. 
The term loan amortizes in quarterly installments of $2,000 through December 2024, quarterly installments of $3,000 from 2025 through the maturity, with 
a final payment of $32,000, on December 21, 2026.  Interest rates were 6.11% and 4.12% at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The revolving and 
term loans under the Amended Credit Agreement bear interest at the BSBY Margin or Base Rate Margin based on our Total Leverage Ratio (in each case, 
as those terms are defined in the Amended Credit Agreement). 
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The Amended Credit Agreement contains customary covenants applicable to us and certain of our subsidiaries, including financial covenants. The 
Amended Credit Agreement is subject to customary events of default, and contemplates that we would be in default if, for any fiscal quarter (x) the average 
monthly D3 RIN price (as determined in accordance with the Amended Credit Agreement) is less than $0.80 per RIN and (y) the consolidated EBITDA for 
such quarter is less than $6.0 million. Consolidated EBITDA is defined under the Amended Credit Agreement as net income plus (a) income tax expense, 
(b) interest expense, (c) depreciation, depletion, and amortization expense, (d) non-cash unrealized derivative expense, (e) any extraordinary, unusual, or 
non-recurring cash expenses and/or losses not exceeding $500,000 in the aggregate to the extent not included in the determination of operating income on 
MEH’s consolidated statements of profits and loss, (f) subject to Comerica’s approval, which may be granted or withheld in its reasonable credit judgment, 
any extraordinary, unusual, or non-recurring cash expenses or losses to the extent not included in the determination of operating income on MEH’s 
consolidated statements of profits and losses exceeding $500,000 in the aggregate, (g) any extraordinary, unusual, or non-recurring non-cash expenses 
and/or losses not included in the determination of operating income on MEH’s consolidated statements of profits and loss, and (h) any extraordinary, 
unusual, or non-recurring non-cash expenses and/or losses included in the determination of operating income on MEH’s consolidated statements of profits 
and loss, plus, to the extent not included in the calculation of net income, the amount of dividends and distributions paid by the Excluded Entities (as 
defined in the Amended Credit Agreement) to MEH during such period minus the sum of (j) any non-cash unrealized derivative income during such 
period, (k) any extraordinary, unusual or non-recurring cash or non-cash income and/or gains not included in the determination of operating income on 
MEH’s consolidated statements of profits and loss, (l) any extraordinary, unusual, or non-recurring non-cash income and/or gains included in the 
determination of operating income on MEH’s consolidated statements of profits and loss, all as determined on a consolidated basis for MEH and its 
subsidiaries (excluding the Excluded Entities except where an Excluded Entity is specifically included in the calculation) in accordance with GAAP. 

Under the Amended Credit Agreement, we are required to maintain the following ratios: 

• a Total Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement) of not more than 3.25 to 1.00 as of the end of any fiscal quarter from 
June 30, 2023 through June 29, 2024, and 3.00 to 1.00 as of the end of any fiscal quarter from June 30, 2024 and thereafter.; and 

• as of the end of each fiscal quarter, a Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement) of not less than 1.2 to 
1.0. 

As of December 31, 2023, we were in compliance with all financial covenants related to the Amended Credit Agreement. 

The Amended Credit Agreement replaced our prior credit agreements with Comerica Bank and a portion of the proceeds of the term loan made 
under the Amended Credit Agreement were used by us to, among other things, fully satisfy an aggregate of $59,197 outstanding principal under such credit 
agreements. For additional information regarding the Amended Credit Agreement, see the sections entitled “Description of Indebtedness" and Note 13 to 
our audited consolidated financial statements. 

Capital Expenditures 

We have historically funded our growth and capital expenditures with our working capital, cash flow from operations and debt financing.  We expect 
our non-development 2024 capital expenditures to range between $14,000 and $17,000. Our 2024 capital plans include preventative maintenance 
expenditures, wellfield expansion projects, critical spare expenditures, and other specific facility improvements. Additionally, we currently estimate that 
our existing 2024 development capital expenditures will range between $135,000 and $150,000. The majority of our 2024 development capital 
expenditures are related to our ongoing development of Montauk Ag Renewables, the second Apex facility, the Blue Granite RNG project Bowerman RNG 
project, and our EENA CO2 project. Our Amended Credit Agreement provides us with a $120,000 revolving credit facility, with a $75,000 accordion 
option, providing us with access to additional capital to implement our acquisition and development strategy. We are currently in various stages of 
discussions regarding a variety of development and strategic growth opportunities. Development opportunities include: up to five LFG RNG sites, waste 
water treatment RNG, and CNG distribution opportunities. If we ultimately enter into definitive agreements for any of these opportunities, we expect to 
incur material capital expenditures related to either acquisitions costs or development costs, or both. As we continue to explore strategic growth 
opportunities and while we have entered into nonbinding letters of intent for certain of these opportunities, we provide no assurances that our plans related 
to any or all of these strategic opportunities will progress to definitive agreements. We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, cash generated 
from operations, and credit availability under our Amended Credit Agreement would allow us to pursue and close on our identified strategic growth 
opportunities. 
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Cash Flow 

The following table presents information regarding our cash flows and cash equivalents for years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022: 
 

  For the year ended December 31,  
  2023   2022  
Net cash provided by (used in):       

Operating activities  $ 41,053   $ 81,066  
Investing activities   (63,087 )   (20,794 )
Financing activities   (9,330 )   (8,279 )

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents   (31,364 )   51,993  
Restricted cash, end of the period   431    429  
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   74,242    105,606  

 
For the year ended December 31, 2023, we generated $41,053 of cash from operating activities, a 49.4% decrease compared to $81,066 for the year 

ended December 31, 2022. For the year ended December 31, 2023, income and adjustments to income from operating activities provided $49,896 
compared to $75,832 in 2022. Working capital and other assets and liabilities used $8,843 in 2023 compared to $5,234 being provided in 2022. When we 
commission new sites, we invest capital to ramp up operations prior to the project generating revenue. 

Our net cash flows used in investing activities has historically focused on project development and facility maintenance. For 2023, our capital 
expenditures were $63,091, of which $18,593, $13,655, and $13,092, were related to the ongoing development of the Montauk Ag Renewables, Pico 
facility digestion capacity increase and second Apex RNG facility, respectively.  For 2022, our capital expenditures were $22,277, of which $6,860 and 
$3,555 were related to the Pico facility digestion capacity increase and Montauk Ag Renewables in North Carolina, respectively. 

Our net cash flows used in financing activities of $9,330 for 2023 increased by $1,051 compared to cash used in financing activities of $8,279 in 
2022.  The increase is primarily related to the Fourth Amended and Restated Loan Agreement and Secured Promissory Note amended during 2023.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments 

Off-balance sheet arrangements comprise those arrangements that may potentially impact our liquidity, capital resources and results of operations, 
even though such arrangements are not recorded as liabilities under GAAP. Our off-balance sheet arrangements are limited to the outstanding letters of 
credit and operating leases described below. Although these arrangements serve a variety of our business purposes, we are not dependent on them to 
maintain our liquidity and capital resources, and we are not aware of any circumstances that are reasonably likely to cause the off-balance sheet 
arrangements to have a material adverse effect on liquidity and capital resources. 

We have contractual obligations involving asset retirement obligations. See Note 9 to our audited consolidated financial statements for further 
information regarding the asset retirement obligations. 

We have contractual obligations under our debt agreement, including interested payments and principal repayments. See Note 13 to our audited 
consolidated financial statements for further discussion of the contractual commitments under our debt agreements, including the timing of principal 
repayments. During 2023, we had $2,505 of off-balance sheet arrangements of outstanding letters of credit. These letters of credit reduce the borrowing 
capacity of our revolving credit facility under our Amended Credit Agreement. Certain of our contracts require these letters of credit to be issued to provide 
additional performance assurances. There have been no usage against these outstanding letters of credit. During 2022, we did not have off-balance sheet 
arrangements other than outstanding letters of credit of approximately $3,905. 

We have contractual obligations involving operating leases. See Note 19 to our audited consolidated financial statements for further information 
related to the lease obligations. 

We have other contractual obligations associated with our fuel supply agreements. The expiration of these agreements range between 3-20 years. 
The minimum royalty and capital obligation associated with these agreements range from $8 to $1,640. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

There were no changes during 2023 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial 
reporting. 
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with GAAP and require our management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, costs and expenses and related disclosures. We base our estimates on historical experience and 
on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates, and such estimates 
may change if the underlying conditions or assumptions change. 

Revenue Recognition 

Our revenues are comprised of renewable energy and the related Environmental Attribute sales provided under a variety of short-term and medium-
term agreements with our customers. All revenue is recognized when we satisfy our performance obligation(s) under the contract (either implicit or 
explicit) by transferring the promised product to the customer either when (or as) the customer obtains control of the product. A performance obligation is a 
promise in a contract to transfer a distinct product or service to a customer. A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance 
obligation. We allocate the contract’s transaction price to each performance obligation using the product’s observable market standalone selling price for 
each distinct product in the contract. 

Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration we expect to receive in exchange for transferring our products. As such, revenue is recorded 
net of allowances and customer discounts as well as net of transportation and gathering costs incurred. To the extent applicable, sales, value add, and other 
taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities are accounted for on a net (excluded from revenues) basis. 

The nature of our contracts may give rise to several types of variable consideration, such as periodic price increases. This variable consideration is 
outside of our influence as the variable consideration is dictated by the market. Therefore, the variable consideration associated with the long-term 
contracts is considered fully constrained. Refer to Item 7A for an estimate of the impact of decreases in the wholesale price of gas on our operating profit. 

RINs 

We generate D3 RINs through our production and sale of RNG used for transportation purposes as prescribed under the RFS program. Our 
operating costs are associated with the production of RNG. The RINs are government incentives that are generated through our renewable operating 
projects and not a result of physical attributes of our RNG production. The RINs that we generate are able to be separated and sold as credits independently 
from the energy produced. Therefore, no cost is allocated to the RIN when it is generated. Revenue is recognized on these Environmental Attributes when 
there is an agreement in place to monetize the credits at an agreed upon price with a customer and transfer of control has occurred. We enter into forward 
commitments to transfer RINs. These forward commitments are based on D3 RIN index prices at the time of the commitment. Realized prices for RINs 
monetized in a year may not correspond directly to index prices due to the forward selling of commitments. Refer to Item 7A for an estimate of the impact 
of decreases in the realized price per RIN on our operating profit. 

RECs 

We generate RECs through our production and conversion of landfill methane into Renewable Electricity in various states, including California, 
Oklahoma, and Texas. These states have various laws requiring utilities to purchase a portion of their energy from renewable resources. Our operating costs 
are associated with the production of Renewable Electricity. The RECs are generated as an output of our renewable operating projects. The RECs that we 
generate are able to be separated and sold independently from the electricity produced. Therefore, no cost is allocated to the REC when it is generated. 
Revenue is recognized on these Environmental Attributes when there is an agreement in place to monetize the credits at an agreed upon price with a 
customer and transfer of control has occurred. 

Income Taxes 

We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and local jurisdictions. Tax regulations within each jurisdiction are 
subject to the interpretation of the related tax laws and regulations and require significant judgment to apply. 

Our net deferred tax asset position is a result of NOLs, fixed assets, intangibles, and tax credit carryforwards. The realization of deferred tax assets is 
dependent upon our ability to generate sufficient future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible, prior to 
the expiration of the tax attributes. The evaluation of deferred tax assets requires judgment in assessing the likely future tax consequences of events that 
have been recognized in our financial statements or tax returns and forecasting future profitability by tax jurisdiction.  
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We evaluate our deferred tax assets at reporting periods on a jurisdictional basis to determine whether adjustments to the valuation allowance are 
appropriate considering changes in facts or circumstances. As of each reporting date, management considers new evidence, both positive and negative, 
when determining the future realization of our deferred tax assets. We account for uncertain tax positions using a “more-likely-than-not” threshold for 
recognizing and resolving uncertain tax positions. The evaluation of uncertain tax positions is based on factors that include, but are not limited to, changes 
in tax law, the measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in tax returns, the effective settlement of matters subject to audit, new audit 
activity and changes in facts or circumstances related to a tax position. Given our current level of pre-tax earnings and forecasted future pre-tax earnings, 
we expect to generate income before taxes in the United States in future periods at a level that would fully utilize our U.S. federal NOL carryforwards and 
the majority of its state NOL carryforwards prior to their expiration. See Note 14 to our audited consolidated financial statements for additional 
information. 

Intangible Assets 

Separately identifiable intangible assets are recorded at their fair values upon acquisition. We account for intangible assets in accordance with ASC 
350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other. Finite-lived intangible assets include interconnections, customer contracts, and trade names and trademarks. The 
interconnection intangible asset is the exclusive right to utilize an interconnection line between the operating project and a utility substation to transmit 
produced electricity. Included in that right is full maintenance provided on this line by the utility. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized on 
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life. We evaluate our finite-lived intangible assets for impairment as events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying value of these assets may not be fully recoverable. Events that could result in an impairment include, among others, a significant 
decrease in the market price or the decision to close a site. 

Indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized and include emission allowances and land use rights. Emission allowances consist of credits that 
need to be applied to nitrogen oxide (“NOx”) emissions from internal combustion engines. These engines emit levels of NOx for which environmental 
permits are required in certain regions in the United States. Except for permanent allocations of NOx credits, allowances available for use each year are 
capped at a level necessary for ozone attainment per the National Ambient Air Quality Standards. We assess the impairment of intangible assets that have 
indefinite lives at least on an annual basis or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be 
recoverable. 

If finite-lived or indefinite-lived intangible assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by 
which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. The fair value is determined based on the present value of expected future cash 
flows. We use our best estimates in making these evaluations, however, actual future pricing, operating costs and discount rates could vary from the 
assumptions used in our estimates and the impact of such variations could be material. 

Our assessment of the recoverability of finite-lived and indefinite-lived intangible assets is determined by performing monitoring assessment of the 
future cash flows associated with the underlying gas rights agreements. The cash flows estimates are performed at the operating unit level and based on the 
average remaining length of the gas rights agreements. Based on our analysis, we concluded the cashflows generated to be well in excess of the carrying 
amounts. Changes in market conditions related to the various price indexes used in estimating these cash flows could adversely effect these estimates. 

Finite-Lived Asset Impairment 

In accordance with FASB ASC Topic 360, Property, Plant and Equipment and intangible assets with finite useful lives are evaluated for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and 
used is measured by comparing the carrying amount of an asset or asset group to future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or 
asset group. Such estimates are based on certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and may materially differ from actual results, including 
considering project specific assumptions for long-term credit prices, escalated future project operating costs and expected site operations. If such assets are 
considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of 
the assets. Fair value is generally determined by considering (i) internally developed discounted cash flows for the asset group, (ii) third-party valuations, 
and/or (iii) information available regarding the current market value for such assets. We use our best estimates in making these evaluations and consider 
various factors, including future pricing and operating costs. However, actual future market prices and project costs could vary from the assumptions used 
in our estimates and the impact of such variations could be material.  Based on our annual cash flow assessment conduction for monitoring potential 
indicators of impairment, we concluded the cashflows to be generated are significantly in excess of their carrying value of our operating sites primarily due 
to the lengths of the underlying gas rights agreements.

As to the remaining long lived asset groups, the Company further concluded, based on our annual cashflow assessment conducted for monitoring 
potential indicators of impairment, that the cashflows to be generated are significantly in excess of their carrying values of our operating sites primarily due 
to the lengths of the underlying gas rights agreements and the Company did not 
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record any other impairments related to its cash flows assessment. Separate from our cash flows assessment, we identified discrete events and recorded 
impairment of We identified discrete events and recorded impairment of $902 and $4,852 for 2023 and 2022, respectively. See Note 3 to our audited 
consolidated financial statements for further information related to asset impairments. 

Emerging Growth Company 

We are an emerging growth company, as defined in the JOBS Act. The JOBS Act allows emerging growth companies to delay the adoption of new 
or revised accounting standards until such time as those standards apply to private companies. We intend to utilize these transition periods, which may 
make it difficult to compare our financial statements to those of non-emerging growth companies and other emerging growth companies that have opted out 
of the transition periods afforded under the JOBS Act. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

For a description of our recently adopted accounting pronouncements and recently issued accounting standards not yet adopted, see Note 2 to our 
consolidated financial statements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK. 

We are exposed to market risks related to Environmental Attribute pricing, commodity pricing, changes in interest rates and credit risk with our 
contract counterparties. We currently have no foreign exchange risk and do not hold any derivatives or other financial instruments purely for trading or 
speculative purposes.  

We employ various strategies to economically hedge these market risks, including derivative transactions relating to commodity pricing and interest 
rates. Any realized or unrealized gains or losses from our derivative transactions are reported within corporate revenue in our consolidated financial 
statements. For information about our realized or unrealized gains or losses with respect to our derivative transactions and the fair value of such financial 
instruments, see Note 10 and Note 11 to our audited consolidated financial statements. 

RIN and Environmental Attribute Pricing Risk 

We attempt to negotiate the best prices for our Environmental Attributes and to competitively price our products to reflect the fluctuations in market 
prices. Reductions in the market prices of Environmental Attributes may have a material adverse effect on our revenues and profits as they directly reduce 
our revenues. To manage this market risk, we use a mix of short-, medium-, and long-term sales contracts and sell a portion of our Environmental 
Attributes at fixed-prices, through floor-price margin share agreements and pursuant to forward contracts with terms between one and two years. We also 
sell our Environmental Attributes bundled with RNG in contracts between two to five years. 

We have prepared a sensitivity analysis to estimate our exposure to market risk with respect to RIN prices. Our analysis, which may differ from 
actual results, was based on a 2024 estimated D3 RIN Index price of approximately $3.06 and our actual 2023 RINs sold. The estimated annual impact of a 
hypothetical 10% decrease in the average realized price per RIN would have a negative effect on our operating profit of approximately $10.9 million. 

RNG and Renewable Electricity Pricing Risk 

The price of RNG and Renewable Electricity changes in relation to the market prices of wholesale gas and wholesale electricity, respectively. 
Pricing for wholesale gas and wholesale electricity is volatile and we expect this volatility to continue in the future. Further, volatility of wholesale gas and 
electricity prices also creates volatility in the prices of Environmental Attributes. 

We use a mix of short-, medium-, and long-term sales contracts and commodity hedging derivatives to manage our exposure to our pricing risk. In 
particular, during 2022, we entered into derivative transactions to hedge our exposure to the market price of wholesale gas. We did not enter into a 2023 
derivative contract to hedge a portion of our RNG production. 

We have prepared a sensitivity analysis to estimate our exposure to market risk with respect to the market price of wholesale gas. Our analysis, 
which may differ from actual results, was based on a 2024 estimated NYMEX average Index Price of approximately $2.373/MMBtu and our actual 2023 
gas production sold pursuant to contracts that do not provide for a fixed or floor price. The estimated annual impact of a hypothetical 10% decrease in the 
market price of wholesale gas would have a negative effect on our operating profit of approximately $0.8 million. 
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Interest Rate Risk 

In order to maintain liquidity and fund a portion of development and working capital needs, we have the Amended Credit Facility, which bears a 
variable interest rate based on BSBY (the Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield Index rate plus a margin based on our Total Leverage Ratio (in each case, as 
those terms are defined in the Amended Credit Agreement). We use interest rate swaps to set the variable interest rates under the Amended Credit Facility 
at a fixed interest rate to manage our interest rate risk. 

As of December 31, 2023, we had $64.0 million outstanding under the Amended Credit Facility. Our weighted average interest rate on variable debt 
balances during 2023 was approximately 6.11%. We have prepared a sensitivity analysis to estimate our exposure to market risk with respect to changes in 
interest rates. Based on our analysis, which may differ from actual results, a hypothetical increase in our effective borrowing rate of 10% would not have a 
material effect on our annual interest expenses and consolidated financial statements. 

Credit Risk 

We have certain financial and derivative instruments that subject us to credit risk. These consist of our commodity hedging derivatives and interest 
rate swaps contracts. We are exposed to credit losses in the event of non-performance by the counterparties to our financial and derivative instruments. 

We are also subject to credit risk due to concentration of our RNG receivables with a limited number of significant customers. This concentration 
increases our exposure to credit risk on our receivables, since the financial insolvency of these customers could have a significant impact on our results of 
operations. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Montauk Renewables, Inc. 

Opinion on the financial statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Montauk Renewables, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries (the “Company”) 
as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ and member’s equity, and cash flows for each of the 
three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the 
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its 
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for opinion 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial 
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules 
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor 
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of 
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and 
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP 

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2007. 

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 
March 14, 2024 
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MONTAUK RENEWABLES, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
 
(in thousands, except per share data)  As of December 31,  

ASSETS  2023   2022  
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 73,811   $ 105,177  
Accounts and other receivables   12,752    7,222  
Current restricted cash   8    22  
Related party receivable  —    9,000  
Current portion of derivative instruments   785    879  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   2,819    2,568  

Total current assets  $ 90,175   $ 124,868  
Non-current restricted cash  $ 423   $ 407  
Property, plant and equipment, net   214,289    175,946  
Goodwill and intangible assets, net   18,421    15,755  
Deferred tax assets   2,076    3,952  
Non-current portion of derivative instruments   470    936  
Operating lease right-of-use assets   4,313    4,742  
Finance lease right-of-use assets   36    96  
Related party receivable   10,138   —  
Other assets   9,897    5,614  

Total assets  $ 350,238   $ 332,316  

       
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY       

Current liabilities:       
Accounts payable  $ 7,916   $ 4,559  
Accrued liabilities   12,789    15,090  
Income tax payable   313    402  
Current portion of operating lease liability   420    410  
Current portion of finance lease liability   26    71  
Current portion of long-term debt   7,886    7,870  

Total current liabilities  $ 29,350   $ 28,402  
Long-term debt, less current portion  $ 55,614   $ 63,505  
Non-current portion of operating lease liability   4,133    4,341  
Non-current portion of finance lease liability   10    25  
Asset retirement obligations   5,900    5,493  
Other liabilities   4,992    3,459  
       

Total liabilities  $ 99,999   $ 105,225  
       

Commitments and contingencies (note 20)       
       

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY       
       
Common stock, $0.01 par value, authorized 690,000,000 shares; 143,732,811 and 143,682,811 shares issued at 
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 141,986,189 and 141,633,417  shares outstanding at 
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively  

 1,420  
 

 1,416  

Treasury stock, at cost, 984,762 and 971,306 shares December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively   (11,173 )   (11,051 )
Additional paid-in capital   214,378    206,060  
Retained earnings   45,614    30,666  

Total stockholders' equity   250,239    227,091  
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 350,238   $ 332,316  

 
The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 
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MONTAUK RENEWABLES, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
(in thousands, except per share data)  For the year ended December 31,  
  2023   2022   2021  
Total operating revenues  $ 174,904   $ 205,559   $ 148,127  
          
Operating expenses:          

Operating and maintenance expenses   59,762    57,267    49,477  
General and administrative expenses   34,403    34,139    42,552  
Royalties, transportation, gathering and production fuel   34,861    44,163    28,683  
Depreciation, depletion and amortization   21,158    20,700    22,869  
Gain on insurance proceeds   —    (313 )   (332 )
Impairment loss   902    4,852    1,191  
Transaction costs   178    185    352  

Total operating expenses  $ 151,264   $ 160,993   $ 144,792  
Operating income  $ 23,640   $ 44,566   $ 3,335  

          
Other expenses (income):          

Interest expense  $ 5,753   $ 1,792   $ 2,928  
Loss on extinguishment of debt   —    —    154  
Other (income) expense   (479 )   (468 )   620  

Total other expenses  $ 5,274   $ 1,324   $ 3,702  
Income (loss) before income taxes  $ 18,366   $ 43,242   $ (367 )

          
Income tax expense   3,418    8,048    4,161  

Net income (loss)  $ 14,948   $ 35,194   $ (4,528 )
          

Income (loss) per share:          
Basic  $ 0.11   $ 0.25   $ (0.03 )
Diluted  $ 0.11   $ 0.25   $ (0.03 )

          
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:          

Basic   141,727,905    141,238,851    141,015,213  
Diluted   142,151,640    142,579,389    141,015,213  

 
The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 
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MONTAUK RENEWABLES, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ 
AND MEMBER’S EQUITY 

 
  Common stock   Treasury stock      Additional   Retained   Total  

(in thousands, except share data):  Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   
Member's 

equity   
paid-in 
capital   

(deficit) 
earnings   equity  

Balance at December 31, 2020   —   $ —    —   $ —   $ 159,622   $ —   $ —   $ 159,622  
Effect of reorganization transactions   138,312,713    1,383    —    —    (159,622 )   158,239    —    —  
IPO common stock   2,702,500    27    —    —    —    15,566    —    15,593  
Treasury stock   —    —    950,214    (10,813 )   —    —    —    (10,813 )
Net loss   —    —    —    —    —    —    (4,528 )   (4,528 )
Stock-based compensation   —    —    —    —    —    22,419    —    22,419  

Balance at December 31, 2021   141,015,213   $ 1,410    950,214   $ (10,813 )  $ —   $ 196,224   $ (4,528 )  $ 182,293  
Vesting of stock awards   618,204    6    —    —    —    —    —    6  
Treasury stock   —    —    21,092    (238 )   —    —    —    (238 )
Net income   —    —    —    —    —    —    35,194    35,194  
Stock-based compensation   —    —    —    —    —    9,836    —    9,836  

Balance at December 31, 2022   141,633,417   $ 1,416    971,306   $ (11,051 )  $ —   $ 206,060   $ 30,666   $ 227,091  
Vesting of stock awards   352,772    4    —    —    —    -    —    4  
Treasury stock   —    —    13,456    (122 )   —    —    —    (122 )
Net income   —    —    —    —    —    -    14,948    14,948  
Stock-based compensation   —    —    —    —    —    8,318    —    8,318  

Balance at December 31, 2023   141,986,189   $ 1,420    984,762   $ (11,173 )  $ —   $ 214,378   $ 45,614   $ 250,239  

 
The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 
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MONTAUK RENEWABLES, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 

  For the year ended  
(in thousands):  December 31,  
  2023   2022   2021  
Cash flows from operating activities:          
Net income (loss)  $ 14,948   $ 35,194   $ (4,528 )
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating

    activities:          
Depreciation, depletion and amortization   21,158    20,700    22,869  
Provision for deferred income taxes   1,876    6,618    4,252  
Loss on extinguishment of debt   —    —    154  
Stock-based compensation   8,318    9,836    22,419  
Gain on property insurance proceeds   —    (313 )   (332 )
Derivative mark-to-market adjustments and settlements   560    (2,652 )   (1,421 )
Net loss (gain) on sale of assets   94    (233 )   822  
Increase in earn-out liability   1,266    1,122    801  
Accretion of asset retirement obligations   407    296    (160 )
Amortization of debt issuance costs   367    412    483  
Impairment loss   902    4,852    1,191  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:          

Accounts and other receivables and other current assets   (9,820 )   (3,054 )   (1,522 )
Accounts payable and other accrued expenses   977    8,288    (2,149 )

Net cash provided by operating activities  $ 41,053   $ 81,066   $ 42,879  
Cash flows from investing activities:          
Capital expenditures  $ (63,091 )  $ (22,277 )  $ (9,986 )
Asset acquisitions   —    —    (9,673 )
Cash collateral deposits, net   2    82    (220 )
Proceeds from insurance recovery   —    313    332  
Proceeds from sale of assets   2    1,088    73  

Net cash used in investing activities  $ (63,087 )  $ (20,794 )  $ (19,474 )
Cash flows from financing activities:          
Borrowings of long-term debt  $ —   $ —   $ 80,000  
Repayments of long-term debt   (8,000 )   (8,000 )   (66,698 )
Debt issuance costs   —    —    (339 )
Debt extinguishment costs   —    —    (154 )
Common stock issuance   4    6    15,593  
Treasury stock purchase   (122 )   (238 )   (10,813 )
Related party receivable   (1,138 )   —    (8,940 )
Finance lease payments   (74 )   (47 )   —  

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities  $ (9,330 )  $ (8,279 )  $ 8,649  
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash  $ (31,364 )  $ 51,993   $ 32,054  
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period  $ 105,606   $ 53,613   $ 21,559  
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period  $ 74,242   $ 105,606   $ 53,613  
Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of

    period:          
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 73,811   $ 105,177   $ 53,266  
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - current   8    22    19  
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - non-current   423    407    328  
  $ 74,242   $ 105,606   $ 53,613  
          
Supplemental cash flow information:          
Cash paid for interest  $ 5,003   $ 3,463   $ 3,787  
Cash paid for income taxes   1,915    696    280  
Accrual for purchase of property, plant and equipment included in accounts

    payable and accrued liabilities   5,471    2,635    1,212  
 

The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 
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MONTAUK RENEWABLES, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1—DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 

Operations and organization 

Montauk Renewables’ Business 

Montauk Renewables, Inc. (the “Company” or “Montauk Renewables”) is a renewable energy company specializing in the management, recovery 
and conversion of biogas into Renewable Natural Gas (“RNG”). The Company captures methane, preventing it from being released into the atmosphere, 
and converts it into either RNG or electrical power for the electrical grid (“Renewable Electricity”). The Company, headquartered in Pittsburgh, 
Pennsylvania, has more than 30 years of experience in the development, operation and management of landfill methane-fueled renewable energy projects. 
The Company has current operations at 15 operating projects located in California, Idaho, Ohio, Oklahoma, Pennsylvania, North Carolina and Texas. The 
Company sells RNG and Renewable Electricity, taking advantage of Environmental Attribute premiums available under federal and state policies that 
incentivize their use. 

Two of the Company’s key revenue drivers are sales of captured gas and sales of Renewable Identification Numbers (“RINs”) to fuel blenders. The 
Renewable Fuel Standard (“RFS”) is an Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) administered federal law that requires transportation fuel to contain a 
minimum volume of renewable fuel. RNG derived from landfill methane, agricultural digesters and wastewater treatment facilities used as a vehicle fuel 
qualifies as a D3 (cellulosic biofuel with a 60% greenhouse gas reduction requirement) RIN. The RINs are compliance units for fuel blenders that were 
created by the RFS program in order to reduce greenhouse gases and imported petroleum into the United States. 

An additional program utilized by the Company is the Low Carbon Fuel Standard (“LCFS”). This is state specific and is designed to stimulate the 
use of low-carbon fuels. To the extent that RNG from the Company’s facilities is used as a transportation fuel in states that have adopted an LCFS program, 
it is eligible to receive an Environmental Attribute additional to the RIN value under the federal RFS. 

Another key revenue driver is the sale of captured electricity and the associated environmental premiums related to renewable sales. The Company’s 
electric facilities are designed to conform to and monetize various state renewable portfolio standards requiring a percentage of the electricity produced in 
that state to come from a renewable resource. Such premiums are in the form of Renewable Energy Credits (“RECs”). The Company’s largest electric 
facility, located in California, receives revenue for the monetization of RECs as a part of a purchase power agreement. 

Collectively, the Company benefits from federal and state government incentives in the United States, provided in the form of RINs, RECs, LCFS 
credits, tax credits and other incentives to end users, distributors, system integrators and manufacturers of renewable energy projects, that promote the use 
of renewable energy, as Environmental Attributes. 

Background and Reorganization Transactions 

On January 4, 2021, the Company, Montauk Holdings Limited (“MNK”) and Montauk Holdings USA, LLC (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of 
MNK at the time, “Montauk USA”) entered into a series of transactions, including an equity exchange and a distribution collectively referred to as the 
“Reorganization Transactions,” that resulted in the Company owning all of the assets and entities (other than Montauk USA) previously owned by Montauk 
USA, and Montauk Renewables became a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of MNK. Prior to the Reorganization Transactions, MNK’s business and 
operations were conducted entirely through Montauk USA and its U.S. subsidiaries, and MNK held no substantial assets other than equity of Montauk 
USA. The Company had no significant operations or assets prior to January 4, 2021 when it engaged in the equity exchange with Montauk USA and MNK. 

After completion of the Reorganization Transactions, (i) Montauk USA ceased to own any substantial assets and (ii) all entities through which 
MNK’s business and operations were conducted became owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company. MNK adopted a plan contemporaneously with the 
completion of the Reorganization Transactions that authorized the liquidation and dissolution of MNK. 

On January 15, 2021, MNK sold the membership interest of Montauk USA to a third party. On January 26, 2021, MNK distributed all of the 
outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock as a pro rata dividend to the holders of MNK’s ordinary shares (the “Distribution”), subject to any tax 
withholding obligations under applicable South African law. Each ordinary share of MNK outstanding on January 21, 2021, the record date for the 
Distribution (the “Record Date”), entitled the holder thereof to receive one share of the Company’s common stock. 
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On January 26, 2021, the Company closed the initial public offering of its common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market (the “IPO”) with the shares 
traded under the symbol “MNTK”. Montauk Renewables issued 2,702,500 shares at $8.50 per share and received gross proceeds of $22,971. The 
Company’s common stock was also secondarily listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (“JSE”) under the trading symbol “MKR”. 

On January 26, 2021, the Company entered into a Loan Agreement and Secured Promissory Note (as amended on February 22, 2021, December 22, 
2021, December 22, 2022 and December 27, 2023) with MNK pursuant to which the Company advanced a cash loan to MNK for MNK to pay its 
dividends tax liability arising from the Reorganization Transactions under the South African Income Tax Act, 1962 (Act No. 58 of 1962), as amended. The 
terms of the loan following the amendments are substantially similar to the initial loan agreement and were primarily entered into to (1) increase the 
principal amount outstanding under the loan to $10,040 in the aggregate (2) extended the maturity date to December 31, 2033 also, in accordance with 
Montauk Renewables’ obligations set forth in the Transaction Implementation Agreement. MNK is currently an affiliate of the Company and certain of the 
Company’s directors are also directors of MNK. See Note 17 for more information. 

MNK was delisted from the JSE on January 26, 2021. The MNK Board of Directors and Shareholders held its annual general meeting in March 
2023 and voted to take MNK private. 

NOTE 2—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Principles of Consolidation 

The historical consolidated financial information included reflects the historical results of operations and financial position of Montauk USA 
through January 4, 2021 when MNK sold the membership interest of Montauk USA. The consolidated financial statements of Montauk USA became the 
Company’s historical financial statements following the IPO. Certain historical financial information included relates to periods prior to the Reorganization 
Transactions. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The Company utilizes the equity method of accounting for 
companies where its ownership is greater than 50% and significant but controlling interest does not exist. 

Retrospective Presentation of Ownership Related to the Reorganization Transactions 

As discussed in Note 1, as a result of the Reorganization Transactions, the Company acquired the assets and entities (excluding Montauk USA) 
which were previously owned by MNK. As part of the Reorganization Transactions, a 1:1 pro rata distribution of shares of the Company’s common stock 
was made to holders of MNK’s ordinary shares. The Reorganization Transactions resulted in a pro rata distribution whereby the ownership of the Company 
after the Reorganization Transactions was identical to the ownership of MNK prior to the Reorganization Transaction and was therefore akin to a common 
control transaction. All member’s equity in the financial statements and notes have been retrospectively adjusted to give effect to the Distribution, as if such 
pro rata distribution on a 1:1 basis occurred as of all pre-IPO periods presented, including periods presented on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, 
Consolidated Statements of Operations, Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ and Member’s Equity and notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements contained herein. 

Reclassifications

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period financial statement presentation. These reclassifications had no 
effect on the previously reported total assets, total liabilities, stockholders’ equity, results of operations or cash flows.

Segment Reporting 

The Company reports segment information in three segments: RNG, Renewable Electricity Generation and Corporate. This is consistent with the 
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker who evaluates operating results and performance. The aforementioned business services 
and offerings described in Note 1 are grouped and defined by management as two distinct operating segments: RNG and Renewable Electricity Generation. 
Below is a description of the Company’s operating segments and other activities. 

The RNG segment represents the sale of gas sold at fixed-price contracts, counterparty share RNG volumes and applicable Environmental 
Attributes. This business unit represents the majority of the revenues generated by the Company. 

The Renewable Electricity Generation segment represents the sale of captured electricity and applicable Environmental Attributes. Corporate & 
Other relates to additional discrete financial information for the corporate function. It is primarily used as a shared service center for maintaining functions 
such as executive, accounting, treasury, legal, human resources, tax, environmental, 
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engineering and other operations functions not otherwise allocated to a segment. As such, the corporate entity is not determined to be an operating segment 
but is discretely disclosed for purposes of reconciliation to the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”), requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash 

Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with maturity dates of three months or less from the date of purchase and are recorded 
at cost. The Company may hold cash in excess of federally insured limits. Restricted cash is classified as current or non-current based on the terms of the 
underlying agreements and represents cash held as deposits, cash held in escrow and cash collateral for financial letters of credit. 

Accounts and Other Receivables 

Accounts and other receivables on the Consolidated Balance Sheets represent outstanding billings for goods and services delivered to customers on 
an unsecured basis as well as reimbursable expenses. In evaluating its allowance for doubtful accounts for accounts receivable, the Company performs 
ongoing reviews of its outstanding receivables to determine if any amounts are uncollectible and adjusts the allowance for doubtful accounts accordingly. 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment purchases are stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization are based on costs less estimated salvage values, primarily 
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives or, if applicable, the term of the related gas rights agreements or power purchase agreements, 
whichever is shorter. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Major improvements that extend the useful lives of property are capitalized. 

The estimated useful lives of the Company’s property, plant and equipment reflect the expected consumption of the economic benefit of these assets 
as noted in the following table: 
 

Buildings and improvements 5 - 30 years
Machinery and equipment 1 - 43 years
Gas mineral rights 15 - 25 years

 
$313 and $332 in insurance proceeds were received for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, related to an engine failure at an 

RNG Facility. These insurance proceeds are included in Gain on insurance proceeds for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively within 
the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

Goodwill is the cost of an acquisition less the fair value of the identified net assets of the acquired business. 

Separately identifiable intangible assets are recorded at their fair values upon acquisition. The Company accounts for its intangible assets in 
accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (“ASC 350”). Finite-lived intangible assets include interconnections, customer contracts and 
trade names & trademarks. The interconnection intangible asset is the exclusive right to utilize an interconnection line between the operating plant and a 
utility substation to transmit produced natural gas and electricity. Included in that right is full maintenance provided on this line by the utility. Intangible 
assets with finite useful lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life as depicted in the chart below. Indefinite intangible assets 
are not amortized and include emission allowances and land use rights. 

The estimated useful lives of separately identified intangible assets are as follows: 
 

Interconnection 10 - 25 years
Customer contracts 2 - 15 years
Emissions allowances Indefinite
Land use rights Indefinite
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Assets Held for Sale 

Assets classified as held for sale are reported at the lower of their carrying value or fair value less costs to sell. Assets are classified as held for sale 
if their carrying amounts will be recovered through a sale transaction, rather than through continued use. This condition is met only when the sale is highly 
probable and the assets are available for immediate sale in their present condition, subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such 
assets. Management must be committed to a sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of 
classification as held for sale and actions required to complete the plan of sale indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan will be made or 
that the plan will be withdrawn. Impairment losses on initial classification as held-for-sale are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 
Assets classified as held for sale are no longer depreciated or amortized. 

Leases 

The Company assesses leases in accordance with ASU 2016-02, Leases, (“ASU 2016-02”). This ASU requires lessees to recognize a right-of-use 
asset and lease liability on the Consolidated Balance Sheet for leases classified as either operating or finance leases. For leases with a term of 12 months or 
less, a lessee is permitted to make an accounting policy election by class of underlying asset not to recognize a right-of-use asset and lease liability. 
Additionally, when measuring assets and liabilities arising from a lease, optional payments should be included only if the lessee is reasonably certain to 
exercise an option to extend the lease, exercise a purchase option, or not exercise an option to terminate the lease. A right-of-use asset represents an entity’s 
right to use the underlying asset for the lease term, and a lease liability represents an entity’s obligation to make lease payments. The measurement, 
recognition and presentation of expenses and cash flows arising from leases by a lessee remains the same. The Company has included further lease 
disclosures in Note 19. 

Long-lived Asset Impairment 

In accordance with ASC 360, Property, plant, equipment and intangible assets with finite useful lives are evaluated for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured 
by comparing the carrying amount of an asset or asset group to future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or asset group. Such 
estimates are based on certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and may materially differ from actual results. If such assets are considered to 
be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. 

A summary of impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 is included in Note 3. 

Indefinite-Lived Asset Impairment 

Indefinite-lived intangible assets are required to be evaluated for impairment at least annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. The evaluation of impairment under ASC 350 requires the use of projections, estimates 
and assumptions as to the future performance of the Company’s operations, including anticipated future revenues, expected operating costs and the discount 
factor used. Actual results may differ from projections. If such indefinite-lived assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is 
measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. 

Asset Retirement Obligations 

The Company accounts for asset retirement obligations as required under ASC 410, Asset Retirement and Environmental Obligations, (“ASC 410”). 
ASC 410 requires the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be recognized in the period in which the legal obligation arises, with the 
associated discounted asset retirement costs being capitalized as a part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset and the annual accretion expense 
recorded in operations. The Company has recorded in the consolidated financial statements estimates for asset retirement obligations related to the 
decommissioning and removal requirements for specific gas processing and distribution assets, as required by their associated gas rights agreements. 

Revenue 

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”). Revenue from the 
Company’s point in time product sales is recognized when products are transferred, or services are invoiced and control transferred. Revenue from the 
Company’s product and service sales provided under long-term agreements is recognized as the Company transfers control of the product or renders service 
to its customers, which approximates the time when the customer is invoiced. The Company has presented the disclosures required by ASC 606 in Note 4.  
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Income Taxes 

The Company is treated as a corporation for income tax purposes. Therefore, income taxes are accounted for under the liability method on a 
consolidated basis by the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”). Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax 
rates and laws. The provision for income taxes includes federal and state income taxes. 

The Company recognizes the financial statement benefit of a tax position only after determining the relevant tax authority would more-likely-than-
not sustain the position following an audit. For tax positions meeting the more-likely-than-not threshold, the amount recognized in the consolidated 
financial statements is the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant tax 
authority. The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. 

Derivative Instruments 

The Company applies the provisions of ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, (“ASC 815”). ASC 815 requires each derivative instrument to be 
recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at its fair value. Changes in a derivative instrument’s fair value are recognized currently in earnings.     

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The Company employs varying methods and assumptions in estimating the fair value of each class of financial instruments for which it is practical 
to estimate fair value. For cash and cash equivalents, receivables and payables, the carrying amounts approximate fair value due to the short maturity of 
these instruments. For long-term debt, the carrying amounts approximate fair value as the interest rates obtained by the Company approximate the 
prevailing interest rates available to the Company for similar instruments. 

In accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement (“ASC 820”), a hierarchy is established which requires an entity to maximize the use of 
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The hierarchy defines three levels of inputs that may be used to 
measure fair value: 

Level 1—Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical unrestricted assets and liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to access 
at the measurement date. 

Level 2—Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the assets and liabilities or can be corroborated with 
observable market data for substantially the entire contractual term of the assets or liabilities. 

Level 3—Unobservable inputs that reflect the entity’s own assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in the pricing of the 
assets or liabilities and are consequently not based on market activity but rather through particular valuation techniques. The Company uses the fair value 
methodology to value the assets and liabilities recorded at fair value, including the Company’s asset retirement obligations and earn out liability. 

The values of the Level 2 interest rate derivatives were determined using a model, which incorporates market inputs including the implied forward 
interest rate yield curve for the same period as the future interest rate swap settlement. The Company has also considered both its own credit risk and 
counterparty credit risk in determining fair value and determined these adjustments were insignificant for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. 
The Company’s asset retirement obligations are recorded at fair value at the time the liability is incurred if a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. 
Fair value is determined by calculating the estimated present value of the cost to retire the asset as determined by qualified engineers, based on currently 
available information and inflation estimates and is considered a Level 3 measurement. The Company’s earn-out liability fair value is determined by 
calculating the estimated present value of future obligations based on currently available information and the discount factor used and is considered a Level 
3 measurement. 

A summary of changes in the fair values of the Company’s Level 3 instruments, attributable to asset retirement obligations and the earn out liability, 
for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 is included in Note 11. 

Renewable Identification Numbers (“RINs”) 

The Company generates D3 RINs through its production and sale of RNG used for transportation purposes as prescribed under the Federal 
Renewable Fuel Standard. The RINs that the Company generates as government incentives through its renewable operating projects can be separated and 
sold as credits independent from the energy produced and not a result of physical attributes of the Company’s production. Therefore, no cost is allocated to 
the RIN when it is generated. Revenue is recognized on these 
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Environmental Attributes when there is an agreement in place to monetize the credits at an agreed upon price with a customer and transfer of control has 
occurred. Realized prices for Environmental Attributes monetized in a year may not correspond directly to index prices due to the forward selling of 
commitments. The Company had 0.1 and 0.7 million RINs generated and unsold as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

Renewable Energy Credits (“RECs”) 

The Company generates RECs through its production and sale of landfill methane into renewable electric energy as prescribed by the State of 
California Renewables Portfolio Standard or the EPA. The RECs that the Company generates as government incentives through its renewable operating 
projects are able to be separated and sold as credits independent from the electricity produced and not a result of physical attributes of the Company’s 
production. Therefore, no cost is allocated to the REC when it is generated. Revenue is recognized on these Environmental Attributes when there is an 
agreement in place to monetize the credits at an agreed upon price with a customer and transfer of control has occurred. 

Equity-Based Compensation 

The Company accounts for equity-based compensation under the provisions of ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation, (“ASC 718”). ASC 
718 requires compensation costs related to share-based payment transactions, measured based on the fair value of the instruments issued, be recognized in 
the consolidated financial statements over the requisite service period of the award. Stock options are initially measured on the grant date using the Black-
Scholes valuation model, which requires the use of subjective assumptions related to the expected stock price volatility, term, risk-free interest rate and 
dividend yield. For restricted stock shares, the Company determines the grant date fair value based on the closing market price of the stock on the date of 
the grant. 

Employee Benefits 

Leave entitlement 

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized when they accrue to employees. An accrual is made for the estimated liability to the 
employees for annual leave up to the financial year end date. This liability is included in “Accrued liabilities” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

Bonus Plans 

The Company recognizes a liability and an expense for incentive compensation bonuses awarded based on the achievement of Company and 
personnel goals where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation. An accrual is maintained for the 
appropriate proportion of the expected bonuses which would become payable at year end. 

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards 

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Debt: Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging—
Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40), which simplifies the accounting for convertible instruments and contracts in an entity’s own equity. 
This guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2021, including interim periods within those years, with early 
adoption permitted only as of annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2020. The ASU does not have a material impact on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements or related financial statement disclosures. 

In June 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU 2016-13”). 
This ASU and subsequent amendments are codified as Accounting Standards Codification Topic 326, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (“ASC 326”). 
Application of ASC 326 was effective for SEC Issuers (excluding smaller reporting companies) for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. 
Adoption for smaller reporting companies, emerging growth companies and nonpublic entities was deferred due to the COVID-19 pandemic and was 
required for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022. The ASU did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements 
or related financial statement disclosures. 

Recently Issued Accounting Standards 

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848), which provides optional expedients and exceptions to the 
current guidance on contract modifications and hedging relationships to ease the financial reporting burdens of the expected market transition from London 
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) and other interbank offered rates to alternative reference rates. The guidance was effective upon issuance and may be 
applied prospectively to contract modifications made and hedging relationships entered into or evaluated on or before December 31, 2022. The FASB 
included a sunset provision within Topic 848 based on expectations of when the LIBOR would cease being published. The sunset provision has been 
amended from December 
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31, 2022, to December 31, 2024, after which entities will no longer be permitted to apply the relief in Topic 848. The Company’s current debt agreement 
bears interest at the Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield Index Rate plus an applicable margin. LIBOR is no longer utilized as a reference rate. 

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280):  Improvements to Reportable Segments.  The amendments 
in 2023-07 aim to improve reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses.  ASU 
2023-07 is effective for the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024, and subsequent interim periods, with early 
adoption permitted.  The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740):  Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures.  The amendments in 
2023-09 aim to enhance the transparency and decision usefulness of income tax disclosures.  ASU 2023-09 is effective for the Company's Annual Report 
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2025, with early adoption permitted.  The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on 
its consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 3—ASSET IMPAIRMENT 

The Company recorded $902, $4,852 and $1,191 in impairment losses for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 2023 
impairments included $777 for specifically identified RNG machinery and feedstock processing equipment that were no longer in operational use and 
recorded in the Company's RNG segment.  The remaining $125 in impairments were for specifically identified obsolete REG critical spares.  The 2022 
impairments included $2,133 for a REG site wherein the forecasted future cash flows did not exceed the carrying value of the site’s long lived assets. A 
second REG site was impaired for $1,393 due to a discrete conclusion that certain assets acquired in the May 2021 Asset acquisition would no longer be 
utilized by the Company. More information on the Asset acquisition can be found in Note 7. An RNG site was impaired for $1,108 due to the specific 
identification of certain assets no longer capable of being used as designed. Additional impairments were recorded for computer software and hardware no 
longer being utilized ($191) and an amended customer contract ($27) no longer in use. The 2021 impairment loss of $1,191 was due to the closure of two 
REG Sites and also the disposal of machinery at one RNG site.  

Impairment loss was recorded under Operating expenses within the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2023, 
2022, and 2021. 

NOTE 4—REVENUES FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS 

The Company’s revenues are comprised of renewable energy and related Environmental attribute sales provided under long-term contracts with its 
customers. All revenue is recognized when (or as) the Company satisfies its performance obligation(s) under the contract (either implicit or explicit) by 
transferring the promised product or service to its customer either when (or as) its customer obtains control of the product or service. A performance 
obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct product or service to a customer. A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct 
performance obligation. The Company allocates the contract’s transaction price to each performance obligation using the product’s observable market 
standalone selling price for each distinct product in the contract. 

Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for transferring its products or services. As such, 
revenue is recorded net of allowances and customer discounts as well as net of transportation and gathering costs incurred by the customer following the 
transfer of control of the commodities sold. To the extent applicable, sales, value add and other taxes collected from customers and remitted to 
governmental authorities are accounted for on a net (excluded from revenues) basis. 

The Company’s performance obligations related to the sale of renewable energy (i.e. RNG and Renewable Electricity) are generally satisfied over 
time. Revenue related to the sale of renewable energy is generally recognized over time using an output based upon the product quantity delivered to the 
customer. This measure is used to best depict the Company’s performance to date under the terms of the contract. Revenue from products transferred to 
customers over time accounted for approximately 23%, 29% and 28% of revenue for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

The nature of the Company’s long-term contracts may give rise to several types of variable consideration, such as periodic price increases. This 
variable consideration is outside of the Company’s influence as the variable consideration is dictated by the market. Therefore, the variable consideration 
associated with the long-term contracts is considered fully constrained. 

The Company’s performance obligations related to the sale of Environmental Attributes are generally satisfied at a point in time and were 
approximately 77%, 71% and 72% of revenue for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The Company recognizes 
Environmental Attribute revenue at the point in time in which the customer obtains control of the Environmental Attributes, which is generally when the 
title of the Environmental Attribute passes to the customer upon delivery. In limited cases, title does not transfer to the customer and revenue is not 
recognized until the customer has accepted the Environmental Attributes. The 
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Company’s performance obligations under its counterparty sharing agreements are generally satisfied at a point in time when the earnings process is 
completed by the counterparty. Counterparty sharing arrangement revenues were approximately 1% and 10% of revenue for the years ended December 31, 
2022 and 2021, respectively.  The Company does not currently recognize revenues under counterparty sharing arrangements. 

The following tables display the Company’s disaggregated revenue by major source, excluding realized and unrealized gains or losses under the 
Company’s gas hedge program, based on product type and timing of transfer of goods and services for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021: 
 

  Year ended December 31, 2023  
 

 

Goods 
transferred at a 

point in time   

Goods 
transferred over 

time   Total  
Major goods/Service line:          

Natural gas commodity  $ 977   $ 29,230   $ 30,207  
Natural gas environmental attributes   125,874    —    125,874  
Electric commodity   —    11,301    11,301  
Electric environmental attributes   7,522    —    7,522  

  $ 134,373   $ 40,531   $ 174,904  
Operating segment:          

RNG  $ 126,851   $ 29,230   $ 156,081  
REG   7,522    11,301    18,823  

  $ 134,373   $ 40,531   $ 174,904  

 
  Year ended December 31, 2022  
 

 

Goods 
transferred at a 

point in time   

Goods 
transferred over 

time   Total  
Major goods/Service line:          

Natural gas commodity  $ 2,053   $ 50,845   $ 52,898  
Natural gas environmental attributes   143,025    —    143,025  
Electric commodity   —    10,449    10,449  
Electric environmental attributes   7,016    —    7,016  

  $ 152,094   $ 61,294   $ 213,388  
Operating segment:          

RNG  $ 145,078   $ 50,845   $ 195,923  
REG   7,016    10,449    17,465  

  $ 152,094   $ 61,294   $ 213,388  

 
  Year ended December 31, 2021  
 

 

Goods 
transferred at a 

point in time   

Goods 
transferred over 

time   Total  
Major goods/Service line:          

Natural gas commodity  $ 15,178   $ 32,143   $ 47,321  
Natural gas environmental attributes   84,906    —    84,906  
Electric commodity   —    9,692    9,692  
Electric environmental attributes   6,208    —    6,208  

  $ 106,292   $ 41,835   $ 148,127  
Operating segment:          

RNG  $ 100,084   $ 32,143   $ 132,227  
REG   6,208    9,692    15,900  

  $ 106,292   $ 41,835   $ 148,127  

 
Practical expedients and remaining performance obligations 

The Company recognizes the sale of natural gas and electric commodities using the right to invoice practical expedient.  The Company determined 
that the revenues recognized as of period end correspond directly with the value transferred to customers and the Company's satisfaction of the 
performance obligations to date. Furthermore, with the application of the right to invoice practical 
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expedient and in consideration that contracts related to future environmental attributes sales do not exceed one year, there are no remaining unsatisfied or 
partially satisfied performance obligations as of December 31, 2023. 

NOTE 5—ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

The Company extends credit based upon an evaluation of the customer’s financial condition. Credit terms are consistent with industry standards and 
practices. Accounts Receivable consist of sales to large creditworthy energy and utility companies.  Reserves for uncollectible accounts, if any, are recorded 
as part of general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. No reserve expense was recorded for the years ended 
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021. 

Accounts and other receivables consist of the following as of December 31, 2023 and 2022: 
 

 December 31, 2023  December 31, 2022  
Accounts receivables $ 12,557  $ 7,148  
Other receivables  148   57  
Reimbursable expenses  47   17  

Accounts and other receivables, net $ 12,752  $ 7,222  

 
NOTE 6—ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 

In 2021, the Company initiated a plan to sell nitrogen oxide (“NOx”) emissions allowances credits. The Company concluded that it met the criteria 
under applicable guidance for a long-lived asset to be held for sale, and accordingly reclassified the emissions allowances of $777 as current assets held for 
sale on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2021. The Company estimated the fair value of these assets and concluded that the fair value 
exceeded the carrying value and no impairment was recorded by the Company for the year ended December 31, 2021. In March 2022, the NOx emissions 
allowances credits were sold for $1,088. A $311 gain on sale of intangible assets was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2022. 
 

NOTE 7—PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET 

Property, plant and equipment consists of the following as of December 31, 2023 and 2022: 
 

 December 31, 2023  December 31, 2022  
Land $ 748  $ 595  
Buildings and improvements  30,329   29,268  
Machinery and equipment  255,421   247,631  
Gas mineral rights  35,526   34,526  
Construction work in progress  67,747   20,745  
Total $ 389,771  $ 332,765  
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization  (175,482 )  (156,819 )

Property, plant & equipment, net $ 214,289  $ 175,946  

 
Depreciation expense for property plant and equipment was $19,624, $19,251 and $19,617 and amortization expense for gas mineral rights was 

$489, $515 and $1,828 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

In 2023, the Company specifically identified $777 in discrete RNG machinery and feedstock processing equipment that were no longer in 
operational use and recorded an impairment in the Company's RNG segment.  The remaining $125 in impairments were for obsolete REG critical spares.

In 2022, the Company performed a recoverability test for one REG site when it was determined that it was more likely than not the carrying value of 
the long-lived assets would not be recoverable. The results of the testing indicated that the site had carrying values in excess of the asset group’s fair value. 
As a result of the analysis, the company recorded an impairment totaling $2,089 in property, plant and equipment for the year ended December 31, 2022. 
Additionally, $1,393 in property, plant and equipment at another REG site was impaired due a discrete conclusion that certain assets acquired in the Asset 
acquisition would no longer be utilized by the Company. An RNG site was impaired for $1,108 due specific identification of certain assets no longer 
capable of being used as designed. Finally, computer software and hardware no longer being utilized ($191) were impaired in 2022. The 2021 impairment 
loss of $1,191 was due to the closure of two REG Sites and also the disposal of machinery at one RNG site. 
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NOTE 8—GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET 

Intangible assets consist of the following as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022: 
 

  
December 31, 

2023   
December 31, 

2022  
Goodwill  $ 60   $ 60  
Intangible assets with indefinite lives:       

Land use rights   329    329  
Total intangible assets with indefinite lives:  $ 329   $ 329  

Intangible assets with finite lives:       
Interconnection, net of accumulated amortization

    of $3,847 and $3,107  $ 14,584   $ 11,686  
Customer contracts, net of accumulated

    amortization of $17,254 and $17,022   3,448    3,680  
Total intangible assets with finite lives:  $ 18,032   $ 15,366  

Total Goodwill and Intangible assets  $ 18,421   $ 15,755  

 
The weighted average remaining useful life of the customer contracts and interconnection is approximately 15 years for both intangible asset 

categories. Amortization expense was $972, $887 and $1,424 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Impairments related to 
intangibles totaled $71 for the year ended December 31, 2022, which included $44 related to one REG site discussed in Note 7 and $27 related to an RNG 
site associated with the early termination of a customer contract. 

Amortization expense for customer contracts and interconnection the next five years is as follows: 
 

  Customer   Inter-  
Year ending  Contracts   connections  
2024  $ 231   $ 740  
2025   230    740  
2026   230    740  
2027   230    740  
2028   230    740  
Thereafter   2,297    10,884  

 
NOTE 9—ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS 

The Company accounts for asset retirement obligations by recording the fair value of the liability in the period in which it is incurred. The Company 
estimates the fair value of asset retirement obligations by calculating the estimated present value of the cost to retire the asset.  Factors that are considered 
when determining the present value of the cost to retire the asset include future inflation and discount rates, along with estimates date(s) of retiring the 
asset.  Additionally, changes in legal, regulatory, environmental, and political environments can affect the fair value of the obligations.  As such, asset 
retirement obligations are considered a level 3 financial instrument. The following table summarizes the activity associated with asset retirement 
obligations of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021: 
 

 Year ended December 31,  
 2023   2022   2021  
Asset retirement obligations—beginning of period $ 5,493   $ 5,301   $ 5,689  

Accretion expense  407    296    (160 )
Decommissioning —    (104 )   (228 )

Asset retirement obligations—end of period $ 5,900   $ 5,493   $ 5,301  
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NOTE 10—DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS 

To mitigate market risk associated with fluctuations in energy commodity prices (natural gas) and interest rates, the Company utilizes various 
derivative contracts to secure energy commodity pricing and interest rates under a board-approved program. The Company does not apply hedge 
accounting to any of its derivative instruments, and all realized and unrealized gains and losses from changes in derivative values are recognized in 
earnings each period.  As a result of the hedging strategy employed, the Company had the following cash received (paid) on derivatives in the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021: 
 

  Year ended December 31,  
Derivative Instrument Location 2023  2022  2021  

Commodity contracts:        
Cash paid on derivatives Operating revenue $ —  $ (7,829 ) $ —  

Interest rate swaps Interest expense  (560 )  2,652   1,422  
Net gain (loss)  $ (560 ) $ (5,177 ) $ 1,422  

 
NOTE 11—FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis include the following as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
set forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy: 
 

 December 31, 2023  
 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total  

Interest rate swap derivative asset $ —  $ 1,255  $ —  $ 1,255  
Asset retirement obligations  —   —   (5,900 )  (5,900 )
Pico earn-out liability  —   —   (5,109 )  (5,109 )
 $ —  $ 1,255  $ (11,009 ) $ (9,754 )

 
 December 31, 2022  
 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total  

Interest rate swap derivative asset $ —  $ 1,815  $ —  $ 1,815  
Asset retirement obligations  —   —   (5,493 )  (5,493 )
Pico earn-out liability  —   —   (3,843 )  (3,843 )
 $ —  $ 1,815  $ (9,336 ) $ (7,521 )

 
A summary of change in the fair value of the Company’s Level 3 instrument, attributable to asset retirement obligations, for the years ended 

December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 is included in Note 9. The Company’s earn-out fair value liability is determined by calculating the estimated present 
value of the future obligation.  The present value is assessed quarterly and is based on macro-economic factors such as inflation and risk-free US Treasury 
rates.  Company specific estimates utilized include current and future interest rates, inlet gas flow, and projected EBITDA, as defined in the underlying 
earnout agreement.  The earn-out is classified as a Level 3 financial instrument.  Interest rate swap derivatives are classified as Level 2 financial 
instruments and are valued utilizing quoted forward Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield Index Rates.  In addition, certain assets are measured at fair value 
on a non-recurring basis when an indicator of impairment is identified and the assets’ fair values are determined to be less than its carrying value. See Note 
3 for additional information.  

NOTE 12—ACCRUED LIABILITIES 

The Company’s accrued liabilities consists of the following as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022: 
 

 December 31, 2023  December 31, 2022  
Accrued expenses $ 3,983  $ 3,221  
Payroll and related benefits  2,355   1,561  
Royalty  3,897   7,836  
Utility  1,653   1,605  
Accrued interest  827   794  
Other  74   73  

Accrued liabilities $ 12,789  $ 15,090  
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NOTE 13—DEBT 

The Company’s debt consists of the following as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022: 
 

 December 31, 
2023  

December 31, 
2022  

Term loans $ 64,000  $ 72,000  
Less: current principal maturities  (8,000 )  (8,000 )
Less: debt issuance costs (on long-term debt)  (386 )  (495 )

Long-term debt $ 55,614  $ 63,505  
Current portion of long-term debt  7,886   7,870  

Total debt $ 63,500  $ 71,375  

 
Amended Credit Agreement 

On December 12, 2018, Montauk Energy Holdings LLC (“MEH”) entered into the Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan 
Agreement (as amended, “Credit Agreement”), by and among MEH, the financial institutions from time to time party thereto as lenders and Comerica 
Bank, as the administrative agent, sole lead arranger and sole bookrunner (“Comerica”). The Credit Agreement (i) amended and restated in its entirety 
MEH’s prior revolving credit and term loan facility, dated as of August 4, 2017, as amended, with Comerica and certain other financial institutions and (ii) 
replaced in its entirety the prior credit agreement, dated as of August 4, 2017, as amended, between Comerica and Bowerman Power LFG, LLC, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of MEH. 

On March 21, 2019, MEH entered into the first amendment to the Credit Agreement (the “First Amendment”), which clarified a variety of terms, 
definitions and calculations in the Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement requires the Company to maintain customary affirmative and negative 
covenants, including certain financial covenants, which are measured at the end of each fiscal quarter. 

On August 28, 2019, the Company received a temporary waiver for an anticipated Event of Default (as defined in the Credit Agreement) for the 
consecutive three-month period ended on August 31, 2019 (the “Specified Event of Default”). The Specified Event of Default was waived through October 
1, 2019. On September 12, 2019, the Company entered into the Second Amendment. Among other matters, the Second Amendment redefined the Fixed 
Charge Coverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement), reduced the commitments under the revolving credit facility to $80,000, redefined the Total 
Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) and eliminated the RIN Floor (as defined in the Second Amendment) as an Event of Default. In 
connection with the Second Amendment, the Company paid down the outstanding term loan by $38,250 and the resulting quarterly principal installments 
were reduced to $2,500. 

In connection with the completion of the Reorganization Transactions and the IPO, the Company entered into the third amendment to the Credit 
Agreement (the “Third Amendment”). This amendment permitted the Change of Control provisions, as defined in the underlying agreement, to permit the 
Reorganization Transactions and IPO to be completed. 

On December 21, 2021, MEH entered into the Fourth Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan 
Agreement. The current credit agreement, which is secured by a lien on substantially all assets of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries, provides for a
$80,000 term loan and a $120,000 revolving credit facility. The term loan amortizes in quarterly installments of $2,000 through 2024, then increases to 
$3,000 from 2025 to 2026 with a final payment of $32,000 in late 2026. 

As of December 31, 2023, $64,000 was outstanding under the term loan. In addition, the Company had $2,505 of outstanding letters of credit as of 
December 31, 2023. Amounts available under the revolving credit facility are reduced by any amounts outstanding under letters of credit. As of December 
31, 2023, the Company’s capacity available for borrowing under the revolving credit facility was $117,495. Borrowings of the term loan and revolving 
credit facility bear interest at the Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield Index Rate plus an applicable margin. Interest rates as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 
were 6.11% and 4.12%, respectively. 

The Company accounted for the Fourth amendment as both a debt modification and debt extinguishment in accordance with ASC 470, Debt (“ASC 
470”). In connection with the Credit Agreement, the Company paid $2,027 in fees. Of this amount, $326 was expensed and $1,701 was capitalized and will 
be amortized over the life of the Credit Agreement. Amortized debt issuance expense in the amount of $367, $412 and $483 for the years ended December 
31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively, was recorded in interest expense on the Statement of Operations. 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company was in compliance with all financial covenants related to the Credit Agreement. 
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Annual Maturities of Long-Term Debt 

The following is a summary of annual principal maturities of long-term debt as of December 31, 2023: 
 

Year ending Amount  
2024 $ 8,000  
2025  12,000  
2026  44,000  
Total $ 64,000  

 
NOTE 14—INCOME TAXES 

The Company is subject to income taxes in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and local jurisdictions. Tax regulations within each 
jurisdiction are subject to the interpretation of the related tax laws and regulations and require significant judgment to apply.  

On March 11, 2021, the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 (“ARPA”) was signed into law. The ARPA contains several corporate income tax 
provisions which include (i) extending the $1,000 limitation on deductions for compensation paid to executives of publicly traded corporations to include 
compensation paid to the eight highest paid individuals (rather than three highest), plus the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer (effective 
for tax years after 2026), and (ii) extending the period for which companies may claim an employee retention credit. The ARPA did not have a material 
impact on the Company’s financial statements for the years ending December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021. 

The following table details the components of the Company’s income tax provision (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 
2021: 
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2023   2022   2021  

Current expense (benefit):          
Federal  $ 1,006   $ 321   $ —  
State   536    1,109    (91 )
  $ 1,542   $ 1,430   $ (91 )
          

Deferred expense:          
Federal  $ 1,869   $ 6,446   $ 3,368  
State   7    172    884  
  $ 1,876   $ 6,618   $ 4,252  

          

Income tax expense  $ 3,418   $ 8,048   $ 4,161  
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The following table illustrates the deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022: 
 

  
December 31, 

2023   
December 31, 

2022  
Deferred tax assets:       

Net operating loss carry forwards  $ 4,107   $ 6,744  
Federal tax credits   13,042    13,691  
Book reserves   1,473    1,368  
Intangible asset amortization   5,799    6,701  
Stock compensation   1,370    1,087  
Impairment   306   —  

Total deferred tax assets   26,097    29,591  
Less:  valuation analysis   (3,950 )   (3,950 )

Net deferred tax assets  $ 22,147   $ 25,641  
       
Deferred tax liabilities:       

Property depreciation  $ (20,048 )  $ (21,683 )
Other   (23 )   (6 )

Total deferred tax liabilities   (20,071 )   (21,689 )

Net deferred tax assets   2,076    3,952  

 
As of December 31, 2023, the Company has no remaining federal net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards that it is able to utilize. The Company 

does have $12,986 of federal net operating losses that are not expected to be realizable due to loss limitation rules.  In 2022, the Company utilized all of its 
non-limited NOLs.   

The Company has $13,042 of federal tax credit carryforwards that expire 20 years from the date incurred, which begin to expire in tax year 2026. 

The Company has pre-tax state net operating loss carryforwards of $18,059 which will begin to expire in tax year 2026. 

The following table details the components of the Company’s income tax provision for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021: 
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2023   2022   2021  
Tax provision at federal statutory rate of 21%  $ 3,857   $ 9,081   $ (77 )
State tax provision   430    998    800  
Permanent differences   114    15    79  
Stock compensation   (175 )   (24 )   723  
162(m) compensation limitation   1,530    —    4,382  
Valuation allowance   —    50    12  
Production tax credit   (2,324 )   (2,052 )   (2,112 )
Return to provision   —    (20 )   (29 )
Deferred tax adjustments   —    —    383  
Other   (14 )   —    —  

Total income tax expense  $ 3,418   $ 8,048   $ 4,161  

 
As of December 31, 2023, the tax years 2020, 2021 and 2022 are open for examination by the IRS. 

Valuation Allowance 

The Company annually reviews its deferred tax assets for the possibility they will not be realized. A valuation allowance will be recorded if it is 
determined more than a 50% likelihood exists that a deferred tax asset will not be realized. A $3,950 valuation allowance exists at December 31, 2023, 
which represents the Company’s deferred tax assets that are not expected to be realized. The balance at December 31, 2022, was also $3,950. 
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Uncertain Tax Position 

The calculation of the Company’s tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax laws and regulations in both 
federal and state jurisdictions. ASC 740 states that a tax benefit from an uncertain tax position may be recognized when it is more likely than not that the 
position will be sustained upon examination, including resolutions of any related appeals or litigation processes, on the basis of each situation’s technical 
merits. 

At this point in time the Company is not aware of any tax positions taken that would give rise to recording an uncertain tax position. As such, the 
Company has not recorded any liability for unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2023 or 2022. The Company records interest and penalties as a 
component of income tax expense. However, as there are no unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the 
Company has no penalties or interest accrued at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

NOTE 15—SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 

In January 2021, Montauk Renewables undertook the Reorganization Transactions which resulted in the Company owning all of the assets and 
entities (excluding Montauk USA) through which MNK’s business and operations were conducted. As a result of the Distribution, the options outstanding 
under MNK’s Employee Share Appreciation Rights Scheme (the “SAR Plan”) were cancelled. The Company recorded $2,050 of accelerated compensation 
expense in its consolidated statements of operations within general and administrative expenses in connection with the cancellation of the options under the 
SAR Plan for the year ended December 31, 2021. 

The board of directors of Montauk Renewables adopted the Montauk Renewables, Inc. Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan (“MRI EICP”) in 
January 2021. Following the closing of the IPO, the board of directors of Montauk Renewables approved the grant of non-qualified stock options, restricted 
stock units and restricted share awards to the employees of Montauk Renewables and its subsidiaries in January 2021. In connection with the restricted 
share awards, the officers of the Company made elections under Section 83(b) of the Code. Pursuant to such elections, the Company withheld 950,214 
shares of common stock from such awards at a price of $11.38 per share from such awards. The Company records and reports restricted shares and 
restricted stock units when vested and in the case of options, when such awards are settled in the Company’s common stock. Stock compensation expense 
related to these awards was $1,723, $6,979 and $9,474 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

In connection with a May 2021 asset acquisition, 1,250,000 restricted share awards (“RS Awards”) were granted to two employees that were hired 
by the Company in connection with such acquisition. The RS Awards were to vest over a five-year period and subject to the achievement of time and 
performance-based vesting criteria over such period. In May 2022, the RS Awards were amended to remove the performance-based vesting criteria and will 
only be subject to time-based vesting requirements over a five-year period. The awards were revalued at $15,500. Stock compensation expense related to 
the two awards was $4,908, $2,863 and $0 for the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

In April 2023, the board of directors of the Company approved the grant of non-qualified stock options to the executive officers of the Company, 
which vest ratably over a period of three to five years.  In September 2023, the board of directors approved the grant of non-qualified stock options to a 
new executive officer of the Company, which also vest ratably over a period of three to five years.  Stock compensation expense related to these awards 
was $1,692 for the year ended December 31, 2023.  

The restricted shares, restricted stock units and option awards are subject to vesting schedules and are subject to the terms and conditions of the MRI 
EICP and related award agreements including, in the case of the restricted share awards, each officer having made an election under Section 83(b) of the 
Code.  The Company recorded $10,813 of compensation expense in its consolidated statements of operations within general and administrative expenses 
for the year ended December 31, 2021 in connection with the withheld 950,214 shares associated with the Section 83(b) elections. 
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Options granted under the MRI EICP allow the recipient to receive the Company’s common stock equal to the appreciation in the fair market value 
of the Company’s common stock between the grant date and the exercise and settlement of options into shares as of the exercise date(s). The fair value of 
the MRI EICP options was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions (no dividends were 
expected): 
 

  
September 2023 

Awards  
Options awarded   225,000  
Risk-free interest rate  4.44%-4.65%  
Expected volatility  71%-73%  
Expected option life (in years)  3.5-5.5  
Grant-date fair value  $ 5.72  
    

  April 2023 Awards  
Options awarded   2,100,000  
Risk-free interest rate  3.71%-3.97%  
Expected volatility  78%-80%  
Expected option life (in years)  3.5-5.5  
Grant-date fair value  $ 4.25  
    

  January 2021 Awards  
Options awarded   950,214  
Risk-free interest rate   0.5 %
Expected volatility   32 %
Expected option life (in years)   5.5  
Grant-date fair value  $ 3.44  

 
The following table summarizes the restricted shares, restricted stock units and options outstanding under the MRI EICP for the years ended 

December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021: 
 

  Restricted Shares   Restricted Stock Units   Options  

  
Number of

 shares   

Weighted
 Average

 Grant Date
 Fair Value   

Number of
 shares   

Weighted
 Average

 Grant Date
 Fair Value   

Number of
 shares   

Weighted
 Average

 Exercise
 Price  

End of period - December 31, 2021   2,569,613   $ 10.08    377,984   $ 10.23    950,214   $ 11.38  
Beginning of period - January 1, 2022   2,569,613   $ 10.08    377,984   $ 10.23    950,214   $ 11.38  
Granted   1,250,000    12.40    —    —    —    —  
Vested   (541,312 )   11.38    (97,984 )   10.49    (950,214 )   11.38  
Forfeited   (1,250,000 )   9.04    —    —    —    —  
End of period - December 31, 2022   2,028,301   $ 11.80    280,000   $ 10.13    —   $ —  
Beginning of period - January 1, 2023   2,028,301   $ 11.80    280,000   $ 10.13    —   $ —  
Granted   —    —    —    —    2,325,000    7.04  
Vested   (316,228 )   11.38    (50,000 )   10.09    —    —  
Forfeited   (73,395 )   11.38    (80,000 )   10.23    —    —  
End of period - December 31, 2023   1,638,678   $ 11.91    150,000   $ 10.09    2,325,000   $ 7.04  

 
As of December 31, 2023 none of the 950,214 vested options have been exercised. Unrecognized MRI EICP compensation expense for awards the 

Company expects to vest as of December 31, 2023, was $18,158 and will be recognized over approximately 5 years.
 

NOTE 16—DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN 

The Company maintains a 401(k) defined contribution plan for eligible employees. The Company matches 50% of an employee’s deferrals up to 
4%. The Company also contributes 3% of eligible employee’s compensation expense as a safe harbor contribution. The matching contributions vest ratably 
over four years of service, while the safe harbor contributions vest immediately. Incurred expense related to the 401(k) plan was approximately $640, $589 
and $502 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 
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NOTE 17—RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Related Party Loan 

On January 26, 2021, the Company entered into a Loan Agreement and Secured Promissory Note (the “Initial Promissory Note”) with Montauk 
Holdings Limited (“MNK”).  MNK is currently an affiliate of the Company and certain of the Company’s directors are also directors of MNK. Pursuant to 
the Initial Promissory Note, the Company advanced a cash loan of $5,000 to MNK for MNK to pay its dividend's tax liability arising from the 
Reorganization Transactions under the South African Income Tax Act, 1962 (Act No. 58 of 1962), as amended (the “South African Income Tax Act”).  On 
February 22, 2021, the Company and MNK entered into an Amended and Restated Promissory Note (the “Amended Promissory Note”) to increase the 
principal amount of the loan to a total of $7,140, in the aggregate, on December 22, 2021 entered into the Second Amended and Restated Loan Agreement 
and Secured Promissory Note (the “Second Amended Promissory Note”) to increase the principal amount of the loan to a total of $8,940, in the aggregate, 
and on December 22, 2022 entered into the First Amendment of the Second Amended and Restated Loan Agreement and Secured Promissory Note (the 
“First Amendment of Second Amended Promissory Note”) to amend the maturity date to June 30, 2023, and on June 21, 2023 entered into the Third 
Amended and Restated Loan Agreement and Secured Promissory Note (the "Third Amended and Restated Loan Agreement and Secured Promissory 
Note") to increase the principal amount of the loan to a total of $10,040, in the aggregate and extend the maturity date of the loan to December 31, 2023 
and on December 27, 2023 entered into the Fourth Amended and Restated Loan Agreement and Secured Promissory Note to extend the maturity date of the 
loan to December 31, 2033 each in accordance with the Company’s obligations set forth in the transaction implementation agreement entered into by and 
among the Company, MNK and the other party thereto, dated November 6, 2020, and amended on January 14, 2021.  The "Third Amended and Restated 
Loan Agreement and Secured Promissory Note" increased the security interest of the Company from 800,000 shares of the common stock of the Company 
owned by MNK to 976,623 shares of the Company.  MNK is required to use the proceeds of any such sale of the shares to repay the note. The Amended 
Promissory Note has default provisions where MNK will deliver any unsold shares of the Company back to the Company to satisfy repayment of the note. 

Under applicable guidance for variable interest entities in ASC 810, Consolidation, the Company determined that MNK is a variable interest entity. 
The Company concluded that it is not the primary beneficiary of the variable interest entity, as the Company does not have a controlling financial interest 
and does not have the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of MNK. Accordingly, the Company 
concluded that presentation of the Amended Promissory Note as a related party receivable remains appropriate.  The maximum exposure to loss is limited 
to the Promissory Note principal and accrued interest, which totaled $10,138 and $9,000 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

MNK was delisted from the JSE on January 26, 2021. The MNK Board of Directors and Shareholders held its annual general meeting in March 
2023 and voted to take MNK private. 

Related Party Reimbursements 

Periodically the Company will reimburse MNK and HCI Managerial Services Proprietary Limited, the administrator for the Company’s secondarily 
listed Johannesburg Stock Exchange trading symbol, for expenses incurred on behalf of the Company. Amounts reimbursed were $156, $68 and $813 for 
the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. $11 and $26 were owed as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

NOTE 18—SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Company’s reportable segments for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 are Renewable Natural Gas and Renewable Electricity 
Generation. Renewable Natural Gas includes the production of RNG. Renewable Electricity Generation includes generation of electricity at biogas-to-
electricity plants. The corporate entity is not determined to be an operating segment but is discretely disclosed for purposes of reconciliation of the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements. The following table is consistent with the manner in which the chief operating decision maker evaluates the 
performance of each segment and allocates the Company’s resources. In the following tables “RNG” refers to Renewable Natural Gas and “REG” refer to 
Renewable Electricity Generation. 
 

  For the year ended December 31, 2023  
  RNG   REG   Corporate   Total  

Total revenue  $ 156,455   $ 18,449   $ —   $ 174,904  
Net income (loss)   59,271    (572 )   (43,751 )   14,948  
EBITDA   74,991    4,621    (34,335 )   45,277  
Adjusted EBITDA (1)   75,859    4,749    (34,157 )   46,451  
Total assets   176,951    73,369    99,918    350,238  
Capital expenditures   41,325    21,682    84    63,091  
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(1) 2023 EBITDA Reconciliation 

The following table is a reconciliation of the Company’s reportable segments’ net income from continuing operations to Adjusted EBITDA for the 
year ended December 31, 2023: 
 

  For the year ended December 31, 2023  
  RNG   REG   Corporate   Total  

Net income (loss)  $ 59,271   $ (572 )  $ (43,751 )  $ 14,948  
Depreciation, depletion and amortization   15,720    5,193    245    21,158  
Interest expense   —    —    5,753    5,753  
Income tax expense   —    —    3,418    3,418  
EBITDA  $ 74,991   $ 4,621   $ (34,335 )  $ 45,277  
Impairment loss   777    125    —    902  
Net loss on sale of assets   91    3    —    94  
Transaction costs   —    —    178    178  
Adjusted EBITDA  $ 75,859   $ 4,749   $ (34,157 )  $ 46,451  

 
  For the year ended December 31, 2022  
  RNG   REG   Corporate   Total  

Total revenue  $ 196,218   $ 17,170   $ (7,829 )  $ 205,559  
Net income (loss)   94,330    (6,756 )   (52,380 )   35,194  
EBITDA   109,297    (1,297 )   (42,266 )   65,734  
Adjusted EBITDA (2)   110,510    1,918    (41,890 )   70,538  
Total assets   151,998    53,255    127,063    332,316  
Capital expenditures   16,667    5,033    577    22,277  

 
(2) 2022 EBITDA Reconciliation 

The following table is a reconciliation of the Company’s reportable segments’ net income from continuing operations to Adjusted EBITDA for the 
year ended December 31, 2022: 
 

  For the year ended December 31, 2022  
  RNG   REG   Corporate   Total  

Net income (loss)  $ 94,330   $ (6,756 )  $ (52,380 )  $ 35,194  
Depreciation, depletion and amortization   14,967    5,443    290    20,700  
Interest expense   —    —    1,792    1,792  
Income tax expense   —    16    8,032    8,048  
EBITDA  $ 109,297   $ (1,297 )  $ (42,266 )  $ 65,734  
Impairment loss   1,135    3,526    191    4,852  
Net loss (gain) on sale of assets   78    (311 )   —    (233 )
Transaction costs   —    —    185    185  
Adjusted EBITDA  $ 110,510   $ 1,918   $ (41,890 )  $ 70,538  

 
  For the year ended December 31, 2021  
  RNG   REG   Corporate   Total  

Total revenue  $ 131,803   $ 15,449   $ 875   $ 148,127  
Net income (loss)   49,387    (3,129 )   (50,786 )   (4,528 )
EBITDA   66,549    2,399    (43,518 )   25,430  
Adjusted EBITDA (3)   67,812    3,149    (43,012 )   27,949  
Total assets   150,472    57,980    78,028    286,480  
Capital expenditures   7,647    2,296    43    9,986  

 
(3) 2021 EBITDA Reconciliation 
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The following table is a reconciliation of the Company’s reportable segments’ net income from continuing operations to Adjusted EBITDA for the 
year ended December 31, 2021: 
 

  For the year ended December 31, 2021  
  RNG   REG   Corporate   Total  

Net income (loss)  $ 49,387   $ (3,129 )  $ (50,786 )  $ (4,528 )
Depreciation, depletion and amortization   17,162    5,528    179    22,869  
Interest expense   —    —    2,928    2,928  
Income tax expense   —    —    4,161    4,161  
EBITDA  $ 66,549   $ 2,399   $ (43,518 )  $ 25,430  
Impairment loss   441    750    —    1,191  
Net loss on sale of assets   822    —    —    822  
Transaction costs   —    —    352    352  
Loss on extinguishment of debt   —    —    154    154  
Adjusted EBITDA  $ 67,812   $ 3,149   $ (43,012 )  $ 27,949  

 
For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, three, two and two customers, respectively, made up greater than 10% of our total 

revenues. 
 

  For the year ended December 31, 2023  
  RNG   REG   Corporate   Total  

Customer A   22.0 %  —    —    22.0 %
Customer B   11.7 %  —    —    11.7 %
Customer C   11.7 %  —    —    11.7 %
             
  For the year ended December 31, 2022  
  RNG   REG   Corporate   Total  
Customer A   32.0 %  —    —    32.0 %
Customer B   17.0 %  —    —    17.0 %
             
             

  For the year ended December 31, 2021  
  RNG   REG   Corporate   Total  

Customer A   13.1 %  —    —    13.1 %
Customer B   12.4 %  —    —    12.4 %

 
 
NOTE 19—LEASES 

The Company leases office space and other office equipment under operating lease arrangements (with initial terms greater than twelve months), 
expiring in various years through 2033. These leases have been entered into to better enable the Company to conduct business operations. Office space is 
leased to provide adequate workspace for all employees in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania and Houston, Texas. Office space and office equipment agreements 
that exceed 12 months are accounted for as operating leases in accordance with ASC 842, Leases. 

The Company also leases safety equipment for the various operational sites in the United States. The term of certain equipment exceeds twelve 
months and is accordingly classified as a finance lease under ASC 842. The finance leases expire in 2024 and were entered into in order to provide a safe 
work environment for operational employees. 

The Company determines if an arrangement is, or contains, a lease at inception based on whether that contract conveys the right to control the use of 
an identified asset in exchange for consideration for a period of time. For all operating lease arrangements, the Company presents at the commencement 
date: a lease liability, which is a lessee’s obligation to make lease payments arising from a lease, measured on a discounted basis; and a right-of-use asset, 
which is an asset that represents the lessee’s right to use, or control the use of, a specified asset for the lease term. 

The Company has elected, as a practical expedient, not to separate non-lease components from lease components, and instead account for each 
separate component as a single lease component for all lease arrangements, as lessee. In addition, the Company has elected, as a practical expedient, not to 
apply lease recognition requirements to short-term lease arrangements, generally those with a lease term of less than twelve months, for all classes of 
underlying assets. In determination of the lease term, the Company considers the likelihood of lease renewal options and lease termination provisions. 
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The Company uses its incremental borrowing rate, as the basis to calculate the present value of future lease payments, at lease commencement. The 
incremental borrowing rate represents the rate of interest a lessee would have to pay to borrow an amount equal to the total lease payments on a 
collateralized basis over a similar term in a similar economic environment. 

As of December 31, 2023, there were no leases entered into which have not yet commenced and that would entitle the Company to significant rights 
or create additional obligations. The total lease cost included in our consolidated financial statements statement of operations for the years ended December 
31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 were $695, $412, and $349, respectively. 

Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheet and the lease expense for those leases is 
recognized on a straight-line basis. The short-term lease expense for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 were approximately $1,182, $895 
and $494, respectively. 

Supplemental information related to operating lease arrangements was as follows as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021: 
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2023   2022   2021  

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of
    operating lease liabilities  $ 431   $ 385   $ 304  

Weighted average remaining lease term (in years)   5.24    5.87    1.03  
Weighted average discount rate   5.00 %  5.00 %  5.00 %

 
Future minimum lease payments for the years ending December 31, are as follows: 

 
Year Ending    
2024  $ 611  
2025   624  
2026   573  
2027   583  
2028   594  
Thereafter   2,714  
Imputed interest   (1,146 )
Total  $ 4,553  

 
Supplemental information related to finance lease arrangements was as follows: 

 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2023   2022  

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of
    financing lease liabilities  $ 79   $ 50  

Weighted average remaining lease term (in years)   3.54    1.25  
Weighted average discount rate   5.00 %  5.00 %

 
Future minimum finance lease payments are as follows: 

 
Year Ending    
2024  $ 27  
2025   1  
2026   1  
2027   1  
2028   1  
Thereafter   10  
Imputed interest   (5 )
Total  $ 36  
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NOTE 20—COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Concentrations 

A substantial portion of the Company’s revenues are generated from five locations in 2023, 2022, and 2021, each in separate areas of the country. 
For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, excluding the impact of derivative instruments, approximately 68%, 72% and 76%, respectively, 
of operating revenues were derived from these locations. In addition, five customers make up approximately 71% and 69% of trade receivables as of 
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. 

Environmental 

The Company is subject to a variety of environmental laws and regulations governing discharges to the air and water, as well as the handling, 
storage and disposing of hazardous or waste materials. The Company believes its operations currently comply in all material respects with all 
environmental laws and regulations applicable to its business. However, there can be no assurance that environmental requirements will not change in the 
future or that the Company will not incur significant costs to comply with such requirements. 

Contingencies 

The Company, from time to time, may be involved in litigation. At December 31, 2023, management does not believe there are any matters 
outstanding that would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations. 
 

Note 21—INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE 

Basic and diluted income (loss) per share was computed using the following common share data for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 
2021, respectively: 
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2023   2022   2021  

Net income (loss)  $ 14,948   $ 35,194   $ (4,528 )
Basic weighted-average shares outstanding   141,727,905    141,238,851    141,015,213  
Dilutive effect of share-based awards   423,735    1,340,538    —  
Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding   142,151,640    142,579,389    141,015,213  
Basic income (loss) per share  $ 0.11   $ 0.25   $ (0.03 )
Diluted income (loss) per share  $ 0.11   $ 0.25   $ (0.03 )

 
As a result of incurring a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2021, 3,897,811 potential antidilutive shares were excluded from the above loss 

per share calculation. 

NOTE 22—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Subsequent Events 

The Company evaluated its December 31, 2023 consolidated financial statements through the date the financial statements were issued. The 
Company is not aware of any subsequent events which would require recognition or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements, except for the 
matters discussed below. 

On February 18, 2024, for one of its renewable electrical sites, the Company entered into a bill of sale, assignment and assumption agreement to sell 
its rights to the existing fuel supply agreement and property back to the site host in advance of the fuel supply agreement termination date.   The agreement 
will transfer all rights, titles, interests and landfill improvements back to the site host.  The Company received proceeds of $1,000 and will no longer have 
any obligation to decommission or remove any machinery or equipment at the site.  The site is reported within the Company’s REG segment and the 
consideration received is in excess of the carrying value of the assets.  The effective date of the sale, assignment and assumption agreement is October 1, 
2024.     

In connection with the bill of sale, assignment and assumption agreement, the Company entered into agreements with the same site host to extend 
the fuel supply agreements at two RNG sites for an additional five years.   
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE. 

None. 

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES. 

Management’s Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. 

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the Company’s reports under 
the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such 
information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. Any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, 
can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. The Company, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, concluded that, as of December 31, 2023 (the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K), the 
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective, pursuant to Rule 13a-15 and Rule 15d-15 of the Exchange Act. 

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) 
under the Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP and includes those policies and 
procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; 
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that 
our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with appropriate authorizations; and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or 
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements. 

Our management has conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, using the criteria set forth by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) (“COSO”). Based on the results 
of this evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2023. 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of internal controls from our independent registered public accounting firm 
due to our status as an emerging growth company under the JOBS Act. 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting. 

There have been no changes during the quarter ended December 31, 2023, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, 
our internal control over financial reporting 

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION. 

None. 
 

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS. 

None. 
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PART III 

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The information required by this item is set forth in our Proxy Statement in the section entitled “Proposal No. 1—Election of Directors” under the 
headings “—Nominees for Election for a Term Expiring at the 2027 Annual Meeting,” and “Information Regarding our Board of Directors and Corporate 
Governance” under the sub-headings “Code of Business Conduct and Ethics,” “Communications with the Board,” “Board Committees,” “Committee 
Functions,” and “Audit Committee” and in the section entitled “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports.” The information in these sections is incorporated by 
reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Information regarding our executive officers is included in Part I of this Report under the header “Information About Our Executive Officers.” 

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

The information required by this item is set forth in our Proxy Statement under the headings “Proposal No. 1—Election of Directors—Information 
Regarding our Board of Directors and Corporate Governance—Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” and “Executive 
Compensation” and is incorporated herein by reference. 

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER 
MATTERS 

Except as set forth herein, the information required by this item is set forth in our Proxy Statement under the heading “Security Ownership of 
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and is incorporated herein by reference. 

As of December 31, 2023, our securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans were as follows: 
 

Plan Category  

Number of
 securities

 to be issued
 upon

 exercise of
 outstanding
 awards   

Weighted-
 average

 exercise
 price

 of
 outstanding

 awards   

Number of
 securities

 remaining
 available for
 future

 issuance
 under equity

 compensation
 plans

 (excluding
 securities
 reflected
 in column
 (a))  

  (a) (1)   (b) (2)   (c) (3)  
Equity compensation plan approved by security

    holders   3,275,214   $ 8.30    12,826,975  
Equity compensation plan not approved by security

    holders   —    —    —  

Total   3,275,214    8.30    12,826,975  
 

(1) Included in column (a) are stock options and restricted stock units issued in connection with the IPO under the MRI EICP.  The stock options issued 
in connection with the IPO are fully vested. Column (a) does not include 3,869,827 shares of restricted stock issued under the Plan. 

(2) Reflects the weighted-average exercise price of outstanding stock options only, and not restricted stock and restricted stock units that do not have an 
exercise price. 

(3) This amount represents 12,826,975 shares of common stock remaining available for future issuance under the MRI EICP. 

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 

The information required by this item is set forth in our Proxy Statement under the headings “Proposal No. 1—Election of Directors—Information 
Regarding the Board of Directors and Corporate Governance—Director Independence and Controlled Company Exemption” and “Certain Relationships 
and Related Party Transactions” under the subheadings “Certain Transactions” and “Policies and Procedures for Related Party Transactions” and is 
incorporated herein by reference. 
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES 

The information required by this item is set forth in our Proxy Statement under the heading “Proposal No. 2—Ratification of the Appointment of 
Grant Thornton LLP as Independent Auditor” under the subheadings “Principal Accountant Fees and Services” and “Pre-Approval Policies and 
Procedures” and is incorporated herein by reference. 
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PART IV 

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

(a)(1) Financial Statements 

See Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

(a)(2) Financial Statements 

Schedules not filed with this Annual Report on Form 10-K are omitted because of the absence of conditions under which they are required or 
because the information called for is shown in the financial statements or related notes. 

(a)(3) Exhibits 
 

Exhibit
Number  Description

   

2.1.1+  Transaction Implementation Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2020, between Montauk Renewables, Inc., Montauk Holdings Limited 
and Montauk Holdings USA, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-
251312), filed December 11, 2020) 

   

2.1.2  Letter Agreement, dated as of January 3, 2021, to the Transaction Implementation Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2020, between 
Montauk Renewables, Inc., Montauk Holdings Limited and Montauk Holdings USA, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 of 
Amendment No. 3 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-251312), filed January 8, 2021) 

   

2.2.1+  Membership Interest and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated May 10, 2021, by and among J.P. Carroll & Co., LLC, Eagle Creek Ranch, 
L.L.C., NR Nutrient Recovery, LLC, Joseph P. Carroll, Jr., Martin A. Redeker and Montauk Swine Ag, LLC (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 2.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on May 11, 2021) 

   

2.2.2  First Amendment to Membership Interest and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated May 26, 2022, by and among J.P. Carroll & Co., LLC, 
Eagle Creek Ranch, L.L.C., NR3 Nutrient Recovery, LLC, Joseph P. Carroll, Jr., Martin A. Redeker, Montauk Ag Renewables, LLC and 
Montauk Energy Holdings, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 1, 2022) 

   

  2.3+  Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated May 10, 2021, by and among Greensboro Ecosystems, LLC and Montauk Swine Ag, LLC 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on May 11, 2021) 

   

  3.1  Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Montauk Renewables, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of Amendment 
No. 3 of our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-251312), filed January 8, 2021) 

   

  3.2  Amended and Restated Bylaws of Montauk Renewables, Inc., as adopted on October 18, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of 
our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed October 19, 2023)

   

     4.1  Description of Securities (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed March 31, 2021)
   

10.1^  Montauk Renewables, Inc. Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Amendment No. 3 to our 
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-251312), filed January 8, 2021) 

   

10.2^  Form of Key Employee Separation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 
333-251312), filed December 11, 2020) 

   

10.3^  Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File 
No. 333-251312), filed December 11, 2020) 

   

10.4^  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Employees) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of our Registration Statement on 
Form S-1 (File No. 333-251312), filed December 11, 2020) 

   

10.5^  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Non-Employee Directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of our Registration 
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-251312), filed December 11, 2020) 

   

10.6^+  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-
251312), filed December 11, 2020) 
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Exhibit
Number  Description

   

10.7^  Form of Indemnification Agreement between Montauk Renewables, Inc. and each of its directors and executive officers (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed June 8, 2021) 

   

10.8^+  Employment Agreement, effective September 25, 2019, between Montauk Energy Holdings LLC and Sean F. McClain (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.9 to Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 31, 2021) 

   

10.9^+  Employment Agreement, effective September 25, 2019, between Montauk Energy Holdings LLC and Kevin A. Van Asdalan (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-251312), filed December 11, 2020) 

   

10.10^+  Employment Agreement, effective September 24, 2019, between Montauk Energy Holdings LLC and James A. Shaw (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.11 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-251312), filed December 11, 2020) 

   

10.11^+  Employment Agreement, effective June 1, 2020, between Montauk Energy Holdings LLC and John Ciroli (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.42 to Amendment No. 3 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-251312), filed January 8, 2021) 

   

10.12^  Promotion Letter, dated October 15, 2021, between Montauk Renewables, Inc. and Sharon Frank
   
10.13^  Employment Understanding, dated January 23, 2023, and Promotion Letter, dated September 14, 2023, between Montauk Renewables, Inc. 

and Michael Barsch
   

10.14.1+  Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of December 12, 2018, by and among Montauk 
Energy Holdings LLC, the financial institutions from time to time party thereto, as lenders, and Comerica Bank, as administrative agent, 
sole lead arranger and sole book runner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 
333-251312), filed December 11, 2020) 

   

10.14.2  First Amendment, dated as of March 21, 2019, to the Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as 
of December 12, 2018, by and among Montauk Energy Holdings LLC, the financial institutions from time to time party thereto, as lenders, 
and Comerica Bank, as administrative agent, sole lead arranger and sole book runner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to our 
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-251312), filed December 11, 2020) 

   

10.14.3  Second Amendment, dated as of September 12, 2019, to the Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, 
dated as of December 12, 2018, by and among Montauk Energy Holdings LLC, the financial institutions from time to time party thereto, as 
lenders, and Comerica Bank, as administrative agent, sole lead arranger and sole book runner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to 
our Registration Statement on Form S-1(File No. 333-251312), filed December 11, 2020) 

   

10.14.4  Third Amendment, dated as of January 4, 2021, to the Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated 
as of December 12, 2018, by and among Montauk Energy Holdings LLC, the financial institutions from time to time party thereto, as 
lenders, and Comerica Bank, as administrative agent, sole lead arranger and sole book runner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to 
Amendment No. 3 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-251312), filed January 8, 2021) 

   

10.14.5+  Fourth Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of December 22, 2021, by and 
among Montauk Energy Holdings, LLC, the financial institutions from time to time signatory thereto and Comerica Bank, as 
Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K (file No. 001-39919), filed on 
December 23, 2021) 

   

10.15.1†+  Second Amended & Restated Landfill Gas Rights & Production Facilities Agreement, by and between County of Orange and Bowerman 
Power LFG, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Amendment No. 2 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 
333-251312), filed December 31, 2021) 

   

10.15.2†+  First Amendment to the Second Amended & Restated Landfill Gas Rights & Production Facilities Agreement, by and between County of 
Orange and Bowerman Power LFG, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to Amendment No. 2 to our Registration Statement 
on Form S-1(File No. 333-251312), filed December 31, 2021) 

   

   10.15.3†+  

Third Amendment to the Landfill Gas Rights and Production Facilities Agreement and Settlement Agreement, dated as of June 27, 2023, 
by and between the County of Orange and Bowerman Power LFG, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our Current Report 
on Form 8-K, filed June 30, 2023)
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Exhibit
Number  Description

10.16+  Renewable Power Purchase and Sale Agreement by and between the City of Anaheim and Bowerman Power LFG, LLC (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.19 to Amendment No. 2 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-251312), filed December 31, 
2021) 

   

10.17†+  Amended and Restated Gas Sale and Purchase Agreement, by and between McCarty Road Landfill TX, LP and GSF Energy, LLC 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to Amendment No. 3 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-251312), filed 
January 8, 2021) 

   

10.18†+  Third Amended and Restated Gas Lease Agreement, dated January 1, 2018, by and between Rumpke Sanitary Landfill, Inc. and GSF 
Energy, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to Amendment No. 2 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-
251312), filed December 31, 2021) 

   

10.19†+  Amended and Restated Landfill Gas Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated October 17, 2016, by and between Waste Management of Texas, 
Inc. and TX LFG Energy, LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to Amendment No. 2 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 
(File No. 333-251312), filed December 31, 2021) 

   

10.20  Fourth Amended and Restated Loan Agreement and Secured Promissory Note, dated as of December 27, 2023 by and between Montauk 
Holdings Limited and Montauk Renewables (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on 
December 29, 2023) 

   

19.1  Insider Trading Policy
   

21.1  List of Subsidiaries of Montauk Renewables, Inc.
   

23.1  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
   

24.1  Power of Attorney 
   

31.1  Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act 
   

31.2  Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act 
   

32.1  Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley 
Act of 2002 

   

32.2  Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley 
Act of 2002 

   

   97.1  Clawback Policy
   

99.2+  Consortium Agreement, dated as of January 24, 2021, by and among the stockholders named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
99.2 of Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 31, 2021) 

   

101.INS  Inline XBRL Instance Document–the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File as its XBRL tags are embedded within 
the Inline XBRL document

   

101.SCH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema with Embedded Linkbase Documents
   

104  Cover page formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101
 

^ Exhibits marked with a (^) are management contracts or compensation plans or arrangements. 
+ Exhibits marked with a (+) exclude certain immaterial schedules and exhibits pursuant to the provisions of Regulation S-K, Item 601(a)(5) or Item 

601(a)(6). A copy of any of the omitted schedules and exhibits pursuant to Regulation S-K, Item 601(a)(5) will be furnished to the Securities and 
Exchange Commission upon request. 

† Exhibits marked with a (†) exclude certain portions of the exhibit pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation S-K. A copy of the omitted portions 
will be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request. 

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY 

None. 
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 SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on 
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
 
Date: March 14, 2024  Montauk Renewables, Inc.
    

  By: /s/ Sean F. McClain
   Name: Sean F. McClain
   Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the 
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 
 

Signature  Title  Date
     

     

/s/ Sean F. McClain  President, Chief Executive Officer and Director  March 14, 2024
Sean F. McClain  (Principal Executive Officer)   

     

     

/s/ Kevin A. Van Asdalan  Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer  March 14, 2024
Kevin A. Van Asdalan  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)   

     
     

*  Lead Director  March 14, 2024
Mohamed H. Ahmed     

     

     

*  Chairman of the Board and Director  March 14, 2024
John A. Copelyn     

     
     

*  Director  March 14, 2024
Jennifer Cunningham     

     
     

*  Director  March 14, 2024
Theventheran G. Govender     

     

     

*  Director  March 14, 2024
Yunis Shaik     

     

     

 
* The undersigned, by signing his name hereto, does hereby sign this report on behalf of each of the above named and designated directors of the Company 

pursuant to Powers of Attorney executed by such persons and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. 
 
  
  

By: /s/ Sean F. McClain
 Name: Sean F. McClain
 Title: Attorney-in-Fact

 

 



 

 
Exhibit 10.12

October 15, 2021
 
VIA EMAIL
Sharon Frank
 
 
Re: Promotion to VP Environmental Health and Safety
 
Dear Sharon:
 
Montauk Renewables, Inc. (Montauk) is pleased to offer you a promotion to VP Environmental Health and Safety of Montauk as of October 
25, 2021. This will be an executive level position as an Officer of the company and require the attendant disclosures of a public company and 
required regulatory filings. In this role you will be reporting directly to the CEO of Montauk.
 
Your duties will consist of all your current duties as described in the attached job description, plus the additional duties of serving as 
Responsible Corporate Officer (RCO) for all Montauk attribute programs.
 
Your compensation for this position, starting the next payroll period after acceptance of this letter, will be $220,500 per year, effective 
October 25, 2021.
 
You will be eligible for an annual bonus based on achieving objectives in accordance with Company incentive compensation plans for 
Executives as administered by the Compensation Committee of the Company's Board. The target annual bonus opportunity is 30% of your 
annual base compensation subject to a potential stretch goal for a maximum of up to 60% of your annual base salary based on Company 
performance. This annual bonus program will be pro-rated from October 25 - December 21, 2021.
 
Additionally, this position is eligible for participation in our stock equity plan, grants under which will be separately communicated. 
 
I hope you will accept this offer as all of us at Montauk look forward to your contribution and ultimate success of this new venture. If you 
agree with this promotion as described, please execute and date below.*
 
Kind Regards,
 
/s/ Sean McClain
 
Sean McClain – President and CEO – Montauk Renewables
 
Accepted:
 
Sharon Frank /s/ Sharon Frank
 
Date 10/18/21
 
*Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to confer on the Employee any right to continue in the employ of the Company or any 
Subsidiary, or to interfere with or limit in any way the right of the Company or any Subsidiary to terminate such employment at any time.

680 Andersen Drive, Foster Plaza 10 5th Floor, Pittsburgh, PA 15220



 

 
Exhibit 10.13

January 23, 2023
 
 
 
 

EMPLOYMENT UNDERSTANDING
 
Dear Michael;
 

On behalf of Montauk Renewables, Inc. and Montauk Energy Holdings, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company (the 
“Company”), I am pleased to offer you the posi�on of Director of Project Execu�on and Integra�on with the Company. Your 
employment by the Company shall be governed by the following terms and condi�ons (this “Understanding”):

 
1.  Du�es and Scope of Employment.

 
(a)  Posi�on.  For the term of your employment under this Understanding (your “Employment”), the Company 

agrees to employ you in the posi�on of Director of Project Execu�on and Integra�on.  You will report to the President & CEO or 
other manager as the Company may determine.  You will be expected to work approximately 40 hour per week, plus over�me 
when required.  You will perform the du�es and have the responsibili�es and authority customarily performed and held by an 
employee in your posi�on or as otherwise may be assigned or delegated to you by the Company.

 
(b)  Obliga�ons to the Company.  During your Employment, you shall devote your full business efforts and 

�me to the Company and, unless you have received prior wri�en approval of the Company, which approval will not be 
unreasonably withheld, you shall not render services in any capacity to any other person or en�ty and shall not act as a sole 
proprietor or partner of any other person or en�ty or own more than five percent of the stock of any other corpora�on. You 
further agree to comply with the Company’s policies and rules, as they may be in effect from �me to �me during your 
Employment.

 
(c)  No Conflic�ng Obliga�ons.  You represent and warrant to the Company that you are under no obliga�ons 

or commitments, whether contractual or otherwise, that are inconsistent with your obliga�ons under this Understanding or that 
would prohibit you from performing your du�es with the Company. In connec�on with your Employment, you shall not use or 
disclose any trade secrets or other proprietary informa�on or intellectual property in which you or any other person has any 
right, �tle or interest and your Employment will not infringe or violate the rights of any other person.  You represent and 
warrant to the Company that you have returned all property and confiden�al informa�on belonging to any prior employer.

680 Andersen Drive, Foster Plaza 10, 5th Floor ● Pittsburgh PA  15220
Phone (412) 747-8700 ● Fax (412) 921-2847

___MB___initials



 
 

(d) Non-Compete Provision.  Employee agrees that in exchange for acceptance of this employment offer, the 
receipt of Company’s confiden�al informa�on regarding technical informa�on as well as customer informa�on, Employee, for 
the dura�on of his/her Term with the Company, and for one (1) year a�er his/her Term ends for any reason, including but not 
limited to, voluntary termina�on by Employee or involuntary termina�on by the Company, or otherwise, that Employee will not 
have a financial interest in, or provide services similar to those he/she provided to the Company, to any person or en�ty in 
compe��on with the Company within the United States, or that of Company’s successors, assigns subsidiaries and affiliates 
including, but not limited to, Montauk Renewables, Inc., Montauk Energy Holdings, LLC. Employee acknowledges that this non-
compete provision is limited to the types of ac�vi�es and services Employee provided during his/her Term with the Company. 
The par�es agree that for purposes of this Understanding, a person or en�ty is in compe��on with the Company if it engages in 
businesses in which the Company engages. Provided, however, that this paragraph shall not prevent Employee from owning less 
than five percent (5%) of the outstanding and issued shares of common stock of any en�ty whose shares are traded on a 
na�onal stock exchange.

 
(e)  Commencement Date.  You shall commence full-�me Employment as soon as reasonably prac�cable and 

in no event later than January 31, 2023.
 

2.  Compensa�on.
 

(a)  Salary.  Your base compensa�on shall be $200,000.00 annually. You will be subject to a 90-day 
proba�onary period during which �me the Company will assess your performance and work habits. During the proba�onary 
period, your employment remains at-will and either you or the Company may terminate the employment rela�onship 
immediately, with or without cause and with or without no�ce.

 
(b)  Annual Bonus.  An annual bonus poten�al in the amount up to 10% of your annual base compensa�on 

based on achieving a combina�on of communicated individual and company objec�ves.
 
(c)  Yearly Project Comple�on Bonus.  A yearly bonus poten�al in the amount of up to 25% of your annual 

base compensa�on based on achieving the yearly project objec�ves communicated and agreed to in wri�ng which can include 
budget objec�ves, Commercial Opera�on Date, project milestones and other combina�ons of communicated individual and 
company objec�ves. This Bonus is only payable a�er a determina�on that the past year’s objec�ves have been achieved and 
only when the employee is ac�vely employed at Company on date of payment. To be clear, there is no par�al or pro-rata 
payment for work completed if the employee has not remained with the company for the en�rety of the evalua�on year and to 
bonus payout.
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(d)  Other Benefits.  During your employment, you shall be en�tled to addi�onal benefits as the Company may 

offer to its full-�me employees, however, Company reserves the right to alter or eliminate such benefits from �me to �me.
 

3.  Vaca�on/PTO and Employee Benefits.  Your employment shall begin with 160 hours of PTO annually, accruing at 
6.15 per pay period and will remain at this amount through year six (6) of employment. At which �me you shall be eligible to 
have vaca�on and PTO in accordance with the Company’s vaca�on / paid �me off policy, as it may be amended from �me to 
�me. During your Employment, you shall be eligible to par�cipate in the employee benefit plans maintained by the Company 
and generally available to similarly situated employees of the Company, subject in each case to the generally applicable terms 
and condi�ons of the plan in ques�on and to the determina�ons of any person or commi�ee administering such plan.

 
4. Business Expenses.  The Company will reimburse you for your necessary and reasonable business expenses 

incurred in connec�on with your du�es hereunder upon presenta�on of an itemized account and appropriate suppor�ng 
documenta�on, all in accordance with the Company’s generally applicable policies. For the avoidance of doubt and 
notwithstanding anything stated in this Understanding to the contrary, to the extent that any reimbursements payable or in-kind 
benefits provided by the Company to you under this Understanding, any such payments, reimbursements and/or benefits (i) will 
be paid no later than December 31st of the year following the year in which the expense was incurred, (ii) will not affect the 
amount eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits to be provided, in any other taxable year, and (iii) will not be subject to 
liquida�on or exchange for another benefit. You may be en�tled to use a Company vehicle for work related purposes and 
subject to our policies regarding same.  Any Company vehicle used will remain �tled and owned by the Company and no 
transfer of ownership is intended through use.

 
(a)  Use of Company Vehicle.  Pursuant to Vehicle Use Policy during employment with the company.
 

5.  Termina�on.
 
(a)  Term.  Your Employment shall be “at-will”. This Understanding cons�tutes the full and complete 

Understanding between you and the Company on the “at-will” nature of your Employment, which may only be changed in an 
express wri�en Understanding signed by you and a duly authorized officer of the Company.

 
(b)  Rights Upon Termina�on.  Except as expressly provided herein, upon the termina�on of your 

Employment, you shall only be en�tled to the compensa�on, benefits reimbursements then due and owing for the period 
ending as of the end of the effec�ve date of your termina�on (the “Termina�on Date”).  Accordingly, the Company shall make 
the following payments to you (or your beneficiaries or estate if applicable): (i) all earned but unpaid salary or 
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other earned but unpaid compensa�on or wages, and (ii) any unreimbursed business expenses incurred by you on or before 
your Termina�on Date and which are reimbursable under the Company’s business expense reimbursement policies, which will 
be paid to you promptly following your submission of any required receipts and other documenta�on to the Company in 
accordance with the Company’s business expense reimbursement policies, provided such receipts and documents are received 
by the Company within 45 days a�er your Termina�on Date.

 
6.  Pre-Employment Condi�ons.
 

(a) Confiden�ality.  Your offer of employment is also condi�oned upon your execu�on and delivery to an 
officer of the Company, of the Company’s Confiden�ality, Conflict of Interest, Non-Solicita�on and Compliance Agreement, which
is a�ached to this le�er as Exhibit 1.

 
(b)  Work Eligibility.  You represent and warrant to the Company that upon commencement of employment 

you shall be lawfully en�tled to work in the United States and understand that a condi�on precedent to your acceptance of this 
offer of employment is your eligibility to work in the United States in accordance with applicable federal and state laws at start 
of employment.  This Company uses the E-Verify system.  Informa�on gathered from your I-9 will be used in the E-Verify system 
to confirm your eligibility to work in the United States. Such documenta�on must be provided to us within 3 business days of 
your first date of employment, or our employment rela�onship with you may be terminated. Taxes, Withholding and 
Required Deduc�ons. All forms of compensa�on referred to in this Understanding are subject to all applicable taxes, 
withholding and any other deduc�ons required by applicable law.

 
7.  Miscellaneous.

 
(a)  Governing Law.  The validity, interpreta�on, construc�on and performance of this Understanding, and all 

acts and transac�ons pursuant hereto and the rights and obliga�ons of the par�es hereto shall be governed, construed and 
interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, without giving effect to principles of conflicts of 
law.  For purposes of li�ga�ng any dispute that may arise directly or indirectly from this Understanding, the par�es hereby 
submit and consent to the exclusive jurisdic�on of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and agree that any such li�ga�on shall 
be conducted only in the state or Federal courts located in Allegheny County, PA and no other courts.

 
(b)  En�re Understanding.  This Understanding sets forth the en�re agreement and understanding of the 

par�es rela�ng to the subject ma�er herein and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous discussions, understandings and 
agreements, whether oral or wri�en, between them rela�ng to the subject ma�er hereof.

 
(c)  Amendments and Waivers.  No modifica�on of or amendment to this Understanding, nor any waiver of 

any rights under this Understanding, shall be effec�ve unless in 
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wri�ng signed by the par�es to this Understanding. No delay or failure to require performance of any provision of this 
Understanding shall cons�tute a waiver of that provision as to that or any other instance.

 
(d)  Successors and Assigns.

 
(i)  Company’s Successors.  This Understanding shall be binding upon any successor (whether direct 

or indirect and whether by purchase, lease, merger, consolida�on, liquida�on or otherwise) to all or substan�ally all of the 
Company’s business and/or assets.  For all purposes under this Understanding, the term “Company” shall include any successor 
to the Company’s business or assets that becomes bound by this Understanding or any affiliate of any such successor that 
employs you.

 
(ii)  Assignment; Your Successors.  This Understanding and all of your rights and obliga�ons 

hereunder are personal to you and may not be transferred or assigned by you at any �me.  This Understanding and all of your 
rights hereunder shall inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, your personal or legal representa�ves, executors, 
administrators, successors, heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees.

 
(e)  No�ces.  Any no�ce, demand or request required or permi�ed to be given under this Understanding shall 

be in wri�ng and shall be deemed sufficient when delivered personally or by overnight courier or sent by email, or 48 hours 
a�er being deposited in the U.S. mail as cer�fied or registered mail with postage prepaid, addressed to the party to be no�fied 
at such party’s address as set forth on the signature page, as subsequently modified by wri�en no�ce, or if no address is 
specified on the signature page, at the most recent address set forth in the Company’s books and records.

 
(f) Severability.  If any provision of this Understanding becomes or is deemed invalid, illegal or unenforceable 

in any applicable jurisdic�on by reason of the scope, extent or dura�on of its coverage, then such provision shall be deemed 
amended to the minimum extent necessary to conform to applicable law so as to be valid and enforceable or, if such provision 
cannot be so amended without materially altering the inten�on of the par�es, then such provision shall be stricken and the 
remainder of this Understanding shall con�nue in full force and effect.  If any provision of this Understanding is rendered illegal 
by any present or future statute, law, ordinance or regula�on (collec�vely, the “Law”) then that provision shall be curtailed or 
limited only to the minimum extent necessary to bring the provision into compliance with the Law.  All the other terms and 
provisions of this Understanding shall con�nue in full force and effect without impairment or limita�on.

 
(g)  Construc�on.  This Understanding is the result of nego�a�ons between and has been reviewed by each of 

the par�es hereto and their respec�ve counsel, if any; accordingly, 
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this Understanding shall be deemed to be the product of all of the par�es hereto, and no ambiguity shall be construed in favor 
of or against any one of the par�es hereto.

 
(h)  Counterparts.  This Understanding may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when 

so executed and delivered shall be deemed an original, and all of which together shall cons�tute one and the same agreement. 
Execu�on of a facsimile or scanned copy will have the same force and effect as execu�on of an original, and a facsimile or 
scanned signature will be deemed an original and valid signature.

 
(i)  Electronic Delivery.  The Company may, in its sole discre�on, decide to deliver any documents or no�ces 

related to this Understanding by email or any other electronic means.  You hereby consent to (i) conduct business electronically 
(ii) receive such documents and no�ces by such electronic delivery and (iii) sign documents electronically and agree to 
par�cipate through an on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or a third party designated by 
the Company.

 
(j)  Data Privacy.  The Company intends to use and store your personal informa�on for the sole purposes of its 

management and in order to comply with applicable law. By accep�ng this offer of employment, you expressly authorize the 
Company to share with the companies with which it may sub-contract certain ac�vi�es the necessary informa�on for the 
execu�on of their ac�vi�es.

 
By accep�ng this offer, you confirm that you are able to accept this job and carry out the work that it would 

involve without breaching any legal restric�ons on your ac�vi�es, such as restric�ons imposed by a current or former employer. 
You also confirm that you will inform Company about any such restric�ons and provide Company with as much informa�on 
about them as possible, including any non-compe��on, non-solicita�on or other agreements between you and your current or 
former employer describing such restric�ons on your ac�vi�es.  You further confirm that you will not remove or take any 
documents or proprietary data or materials of any kind, electronic or otherwise, with you from your current or former employer 
to Company without wri�en authoriza�on from your current or former employer. If you have any ques�ons about the 
ownership of par�cular documents or other informa�on, discuss such ques�ons with your former employer before removing or 
copying the documents or informa�on.

 
[Signature Page Follows]
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If the foregoing is acceptable, please so indicate your acceptance by signing in the space provided below and by signing 

the Confiden�ality, Conflict of Interest, Non-Solicita�on and Compliance Understanding, and returning a copy of each signed 
document.
 

Very truly yours,
 
MONTAUK ENERGY HOLDINGS, LLC
 
 
By: /s/ Sean McClain   
  (Signature)
 
Sean F. McClain
CEO

 
ACCEPTED AND AGREED:
 
MICHAEL BARSCH
 
 
/s/ Michael Barsch     
(Signature)
 
1/24/23     
Date
 
Montauk Renewables, Inc. and all subsidiaries is an equal opportunity employer and does not discriminate in employment 
decisions and does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, sexual orienta�on, gender iden�ty, na�onal origin, 
and veteran or disability status. 
 

Montauk Renewables, Inc. is a drug free workplace.
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September 14, 2023
 
Michael Barsch
 
Re:  Summary of Employment Terms
 
Michael:
 

This le�er is intended to memorialize the understanding of the changes to your employment arrangement with 
Montauk Energy Holdings, LLC (the “Company”) from Director of Project Execu�on and Integra�on to your new posi�on as Vice 
President of Business Development. All other terms of your employment will remain unchanged. 
 
To that end, I am very pleased to offer you the posi�on of Vice President of Business
Development under the key terms as outlined below.
 

Posi�on: Vice President of Business Development
 

Key Responsibili�es: Repor�ng to Sean McClain, with the key responsibili�es outlined in the 
a�achment.
 

Promo�on Effec�ve Date: September 14, 2023
 

Primary Job Loca�on: Corporate – Remote
 

Base Salary: $225,000.00 annually.  You will be paid bi-weekly on alterna�ng 
Fridays via direct deposit.
 

Bonus Target (prorated to date of 
hire):

• 30% of annual base salary based on Company performance
• 30% of annual base salary at Board’s discre�on

 
Equity Award: An equity award of 225,000 Op�ons at market close price on date of 

signing and issue, ves�ng in 5 years with 1/3 ves�ng in year 3, 1/3 in 
year 4 and 1/3 in year 5 and each having a 1-year exercise ability.
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This offer le�er does not confer any contractual right, either express or implied, to remain in the Company's employ. Your 
employment is not for any specific �me and may be terminated at will, with or without cause and without prior no�ce, by the 
Company or you may resign for any reason at any �me.
 
Finally, I am very excited about the prospect of having you con�nue with our team and look forward to having your innova�ve 
ideas and energies assist us with the challenges and opportuni�es ahead.  If you agree with the terms set forth in this offer 
le�er, please indicate your acceptance by signing and returning this le�er as soon as possible.  If you have any ques�ons, please 
feel free to contact Lauren Meade-Klingensmith, HR Manager at 412-328- 6378.
 
I look forward to your posi�ve response.
 
Sincerely,
 
 
/s/ Sean McClain    
Sean McClain
President and CEO
 
 
Accepted: /s/ Michael Barsch    Date: 9/15/23     Michael Barsch
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Exhibit 19.1
 

INSIDER TRADING POLICY
MONTAUK RENEWABLES, INC.

LAST REVISION  DATE December 28, 2023
ISSUED BY CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER

 
Overview:  As a U.S. publicly traded entity, Montauk Renewables, Inc. (“Montauk” or the “Company”) and its affiliates are subject to 
various insider trading laws and regulations. This policy defines requirements for compliance with those applicable requirements.

 
 

 
 

Policy Highlights
You may not trade in securi�es while in possession of material informa�on

about a company’s securi�es that has not been publicly disclosed.
 

You may not share material, nonpublic informa�on with family members, friends, or others
who do not need to know the informa�on as part of their work for Montauk.

 
Directors, officers, and certain other iden�fied Montauk employees and individuals are

“blacked out” from trading in Montauk Securi�es prior to the quarterly earnings release.
 

The consequences of viola�ng the insider trading laws and this Policy can be severe.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

1 Scope and Purpose
 

This Insider Trading Policy (the “Policy”) provides guidelines with respect to transactions in the securities of the Company and 
the handling of confidential information about the Company and the companies with which Montauk does business, including 
each domestic and foreign subsidiary, partnership, venture or other business association that is effectively controlled by 
Montauk, either directly or indirectly (collectively, the “Company”). The Company’s Board of Directors has adopted this Policy 
to protect the Company’s reputation for integrity and ethical conduct and to promote compliance with applicable securities laws 
that prohibit certain persons who possess Material Nonpublic Information (as defined below) about a company from: (A) trading 
in securities of the company; or (B) providing (or “tipping”) Material Nonpublic Information to other persons who may trade in  
company securities based on that information.  Should you have any questions regarding this Policy, please contact the Chief 
Legal Officer.
 
Key requirements of the Policy include:
 

• Prohibition on trading in Montauk securities while in possession of Material
Nonpublic Information.

• Prohibition on sharing Material Nonpublic Information with family members, friends, or others for purposes of trading 
in Montauk securities.

• Defining trading “blackout” periods, during which Directors, Executive Officers and certain other Montauk employees 
and designated individuals are prohibited from trading in Montauk securities.

• Establishing a trading pre-clearance procedure for Directors, Executive Officers, and certain other designated  
individuals.

 
2 Conflicts of Interest

 
It is the Company’s Policy to require its employees to avoid conflicts of interest between their obligations to the Company and 
their personal affairs. No Executive Officer or employee of Montauk should have an economic interest in or relationship with 
any firm, person, or corporation with whom the Company does business that could or would influence the employee in his or her 
actions on behalf of the Company, unless prior approval is granted by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, in 
consultation with the Chief Legal Officer.

 
3 Confidentiality

 
No Executive Officer or employee of Montauk shall express opinions or divulge any information to third parties which in any 
way could be detrimental to the objectives of the Company.

 
4 Policy Review

 
The policy will be reviewed on an annual basis and updated with the date of review. The review is to ensure the policy aligns 
with Company goals, both short and long term, as well as any applicable changes in law. Updates to the policy will occur when 
applicable. The listing of required persons for which this policy applies will be reviewed on a quarterly basis and maintained by 
the Chief Legal Officer.

 
5 Applicability of the Policy
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5.1.1 Transactions Subject to the Policy

 
This Policy applies to transactions in Montauk securities (collectively referred to as “Company Securities”), 
including the Company’s common stock, options to purchase common stock, stock appreciation rights, 
restricted stock units, and any other types of securities that the Company may issue, including (but not limited 
to) preferred stock, non-convertible debt securities such as senior notes, convertible debt securities and 
warrants, as well as derivative securities that are not issued by the Company, such as exchange- traded put or 
call options or swaps relating to Company Securities.

 
In addition, when a person who is subject to this Policy, in connection with working for the Company, 
becomes aware of Material Nonpublic Information of a company with which the Company does business, 
including customers and suppliers, this Policy also applies equally to transactions in the securities of such 
other company. Each person who is subject to this Policy must treat Material Nonpublic Information of the
Company’s business partners, customers and suppliers with the same care required with respect to Company’s 
Material Nonpublic Information.

 
5.1.2 Persons Subject to the Policy

 
This Policy applies to all members of the Company’s Board of Directors,  all Executive Officers and employees 
of the Company and its subsidiaries.  The Company may also determine from time to time that other persons 
will be subject to this Policy, such as contractors or consultants who have access to Material Nonpublic 
Information and certain stockholders of the Company (collectively, all such persons are referred to as “Company 
Persons”). This Policy also applies to family members, other members of a person’s household and entities 
controlled by a person covered by this Policy, as described more fully below. A listing of the required persons 
subject to “Blackout Period” is in a separate document. Acknowledgement of this policy is communicated to 
each individual.

 

 
 

5.1.3 Transactions by Family Members and Others
 

This Policy applies to family members who reside with a Company Person (including a spouse, a child, a child 
away at college, stepchildren, grandchildren, parents, stepparents, grandparents, siblings and in-laws), anyone 
else who lives in a Company Person’s household, and any family members who do not live in a Company 
Person’s household but whose transactions in Company Securities are directed by a Company Person or are 
subject to a Company Person’s  influence or control, such as parents or children who consult with a Company 
Person before they trade in securities (collectively referred to as “Family Members”). Company Persons are 
responsible for the transactions of these other persons and therefore should make them aware of the need to 
confer with such Company Persons before they trade in Company Securities, and Company Persons must treat 
all such transactions for the purposes of this Policy and applicable securities laws as if the transactions were 
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for such Company Person’s own account. This Policy does not, however, apply to personal securities transaction 
of Family Members where the purchase or sale decision is made by a third party not controlled by, influenced 
by, or related to a Company Person or his or her Family Members.

 
5.1.4 Transactions by Entities that a Company Person Influences or Controls

 
This Policy applies to any entities that a Company Person influences or controls, including any corporations, 
partnerships, or trusts (collectively referred to as “Controlled Entities” and, together with Company Persons and 
Family Members, “Insiders”), and transactions by these Controlled Entities must be treated for the purposes of 
this Policy and applicable securities laws as if they were for the Company Person’s own account.

 

 
 

6 Definition of Material Nonpublic Information
 

6.1 When Information is Considered Material
 

Information is considered “material” if a reasonable investor would consider that information important in deciding to 
buy, hold or sell securities. Any information that could be expected to affect Company’s stock price, whether it is 
positive or negative, should be considered material.  There is no bright- line standard for assessing materiality; rather, 
materiality is based on an assessment of all the facts and circumstances and is often evaluated by enforcement 
authorities with the benefit of hindsight.  While it is not possible to define all categories of material information, some 
examples of information that ordinarily would be regarded as material are:

 
• financial condition or results.
• unpublished projections regarding future earnings or losses, other earnings guidance, changes to previously 

announced earnings guidance or the decision to suspend earnings guidance.
• the gain or loss of a significant contract, customer, supplier, or finance source.
• pending or proposed mergers, acquisitions, dispositions, restructurings, tender offers, joint ventures,  

partnerships, or spin-offs.
• a change in dividend policy, the declaration of a stock split, an offering of additional securities or the  

establishment of a repurchase program for Company Securities.
• financing transactions not in the ordinary course of business.
• a significant change in management.
• significant raw material shortages or discoveries.
• significant pending or threatened litigation or government investigation.
• a significant disruption.

 
6.2 When Information is Considered Public

 
Information that has not been disclosed to the public is generally considered to be nonpublic information. To establish 
that the information has been disclosed to the 
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public, it may be necessary to demonstrate that the information has been widely disseminated.  Information generally 
would be considered widely disseminated if it has been disclosed through a press release, newswire services, a 
broadcast on widely available radio or television programs, published in a widely available newspaper, magazine or 
news website, or public disclosure documents filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) 
that are available on the SEC’s website. By contrast, information would likely not be considered widely disseminated 
if it is available only to our employees, or if it is only available to a select group of analysts, brokers, and institutional 
investors. The circulation of rumors, even if accurate and reported in the media, does not constitute effective 
widespread dissemination. As a rule, information should not be considered fully absorbed by the marketplace until 
after the second full business day after the day on which the information is released (Please refer to  Trading 
Window  Chart in Section 7).

 
If, for example, the Company were to make an announcement after the commencement of trading on a Monday, 
Insiders must not trade in Company Securities until Thursday (assuming all such days are business days on which the 
Company’s stock is trading). Depending on the circumstances, the Company may determine that a longer or shorter 
period should apply to the release of specific Material Nonpublic Information.

 
6.3 When Information is Considered Nonpublic

 
6.3.1 Prohibition Against Insider Trading

 
6.3.1.1  No Transactions based on Material Nonpublic Information.  No Insider may, directly or indirectly 

through third parties, buy, sell, or otherwise engage in any transactions in Company Securities if 
such Insider possesses Material Nonpublic Information. The only exceptions   to   this   
prohibition   are   described   below   under

“Permitted Transaction.” 
 

6.3.1.2 No Recommendations based on Material Nonpublic Information.
No Insider may make recommendations or express opinions about trading in Company Securities 
if such Insider possesses Material Nonpublic Information.

 
6.3.1.3 No Tipping of Material Nonpublic Information.  No Insider may, directly or indirectly, disclose 

(“tip”) Material Nonpublic Information to any person within the Company whose jobs do not 
require them to have that information, or outside of the Company to other persons, including, but 
not limited to, family, friends, business associates, investors and expert consulting firms, unless 
any such disclosure is made in accordance with the Company’s policies regarding the protection 
or authorized external disclosure of information about the Company.

 
Insiders may be liable for tipping Material Nonpublic Information to any third party (a “Tippee”). 
Tippees inherit an insider’s duties and may be liable for trading on Material Nonpublic 
Information 
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illegally tipped to them by an Insider.  Tipping may also result in the same penalties to the tipper 
as if he or she did actually trade.  Just as tippers may be liable for the insider trading of their 
tippees, tippees who further pass along the material nonpublic information to other persons who 
trade may be similarly liable.  Tippees can obtain Material Nonpublic Information by receiving 
overt tips from others or through, among other things, conversations at social, business, or other 
gatherings.  Therefore, Insiders must keep all Material Nonpublic Information relating to the 
Company strictly confidential (as further described below).

 
6.3.1.4 No Assistance.   No Insider may assist anyone engaged in the activities described in sections (i)-

(iii) above.
 

6.3.1.5 Maintaining Confidentiality of Material Nonpublic Information.     All Material Nonpublic 
Information relating to the Company is the property of the Company and the Company has the 
sole and exclusive right to determine how and when to disclose such information to the public. 
Unless specifically authorized by the Company, no Insider should publicly disclose Material
Nonpublic Information and all such information must be kept strictly confidential.

 
Transactions that may be necessary or justifiable for independent reasons (such as the need to raise money 
for an emergency expenditure), or small transactions, are not excepted from this Policy.  The securities 
laws do not recognize any mitigating circumstances, and, in any event, even the appearance of an improper 
transaction must be avoided to comply with applicable insider trading laws and preserve the Company’s 
ethical standards.

 
6.3.2 Other Prohibited Transactions in Company Securities

 
The Company has also determined that there is a heightened legal risk and the appearance of improper or 
inappropriate conduct if Insiders engage in certain types of other transactions.  Therefore, the following rules 
are applicable to Insiders:

 
i.      Short Sales. Short sales of Company Securities (i.e., the sale of a security that the seller does not own) 
may evidence an expectation on the part of the seller that the securities will decline in value, and therefore have 
the potential to signal to the market that the seller lacks confidence in the Company’s prospects.  In addition, 
short sales may reduce a seller’s incentive to seek to improve the Company’s performance.  For these reasons, 
short sales or the taking of short positions of Company Securities are prohibited.  In addition, Section 16(c) of 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) prohibits officers and directors from 
engaging in short sales of Company securities.
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ii.    Publicly Traded Options. Given the relatively short term of publicly traded options, transactions in options 
may create the appearance that an Insider is trading based on Material Nonpublic Information and focus an 
Insider’s attention on short-term performance at the expense of the Company’s long-term objectives.  
Accordingly, transactions in put options, call options or other derivative securities, on an exchange or in any 
other organized market, are prohibited by this Policy.

 
iii.  Hedging Transactions. Hedging or monetization transactions can be accomplished through several possible 
mechanisms, including through the use of financial instruments such as prepaid variable forwards, equity 
swaps, collars, and exchange funds or through other transactions that hedge or offset, or are designed to hedge 
or offset, any decrease in the market value of Company Securities. Such hedging transactions may permit an 
Insider to continue to own Company Securities obtained through employee benefit plans or otherwise, but 
without the full risks and rewards of ownership.  When that occurs, Insiders may no longer have the same 
objectives as the Company’s other stockholders.  Accordingly, hedging transactions by any Insider, or any of 
their designees, are prohibited under this Policy.

 
iv.    Margin Accounts and Pledged Securities. Securities held in a margin account or pledged as collateral for a 
margin loan may be sold by the broker without the customer’s consent if the customer fails to meet a margin 
call. Similarly, securities pledged, hypothecated, or otherwise used as collateral for a loan may be sold in 
foreclosure if the borrower defaults on the loan. A margin sale or foreclosure sale may occur at a time when the 
owner is aware of Material Nonpublic Information or otherwise is not permitted to trade in Company 
Securities. For these reasons, Insiders are prohibited from pledging or otherwise using Company Securities as 
collateral for a loan or other form of indebtedness, including, without limitation, holding Company Securities in 
a margin account as collateral for a margin loan.

 
v.     Standing and Limit Orders. Standing and limit orders (except standing and limit orders under approved 
Rule 10b5-1 Plans, as described below) create heightened risks for insider trading violations like the use of 
margin accounts. There is no control over the timing of purchases or sales that result from standing instructions 
to a broker, and as a result, the broker could execute a transaction when an Insider is in possession of Material 
Nonpublic Information. The Company therefore discourages placing standing or limit orders on Company 
Securities. If an Insider determines that they must use a standing order or limit order, the order should be 
limited to short duration and should otherwise comply with the guidelines outlined below.

 

 
6.3.3 Permitted Transactions

 
Transactions under Company Plans. This Policy does not apply to transactions with the Company involving 
Company Securities, except as specifically noted.
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a.    Stock Options. This Policy does not apply to the exercise of employee stock options (where no shares of 
stock are sold to fund the exercise), or when shares are withheld by Montauk for the Company Person’s 
payment of withholding taxes or the applicable exercise price upon exercise (if authorized by the Company). 
This Policy does apply, however, to any sale of stock as part of a broker-assisted cashless exercise of an option, 
any other market sale of stock for the purpose of generating the cash needed to pay the exercise price of an 
option or related withholding taxes, or any market sale of stock following
exercise.

 
b.   Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units. This Policy does not apply to the vesting of restricted stock 
and restricted stock units under Montauk’s equity plans, or when related shares or units are withheld by 
Montauk for the Company Person to pay withholding taxes upon vesting (if authorized by the Company). This 
Policy does apply, however, to any market sale of stock upon vesting.

 
c.     Employee Stock Purchase and Savings Plan and Deferred Compensation Plans. This Policy does not apply 
to purchases of Company Securities in Montauk’s employee stock purchase plan, 401(k) plan, or deferred 
compensation plans or similar employee benefit plans resulting from a Company Person’s periodic contribution 
of money to the plan pursuant to his or her payroll deduction election. This Policy does apply, however, to 
certain elections a Company Person may make under these plans, including: (a) an election to increase or 
decrease the percentage of his or her periodic contributions that will be allocated to his or her Montauk stock 
fund; (b) an election to switch an existing account balance into or out of a Company Person’s Montauk stock 
fund; (c) an election to borrow money against a Company Person’s plan account if the loan will result in a 
liquidation of some or all of his or her Montauk stock fund; (d) an election to withdraw money from a Company 
Person’s plan account if the withdrawal will result in a liquidation of some or all of his or her Montauk stock 
fund; and (e) an election to pre-pay a plan loan if the pre-payment will result in allocation of loan proceeds to a 
Company Person’s Montauk stock fund.

 
d.  Dividend Reinvestment Plan. This Policy does not apply to purchases of Company Securities under 
Montauk’s (or a broker-sponsored) dividend reinvestment p l a n    r e s u l t i n g    f r o m    a    C o m p a n y    
P e r s o n ’ s r e i n v e s t m e n t  o f  dividends paid on Company Securities. This Policy does apply, however, 
to voluntary purchases of Company Securities resulting from additional contributions a Company Person 
chooses to make to the dividend reinvestment plan, and to a Company Person’s election to participate in the 
plan or increase his or her level of participation in the plan. This Policy also applies to a Company Person’s sale 
of any Company Securities pursuant to the plan.

 
e.    Other Similar Transactions. Any other purchase of Company Securities from Montauk or sales of Company 
Securities to Montauk are not subject to this Policy.

 
f.      Gifts.  Bona fide gifts of Company Securities to a family member, charitable organization, or any other 
person (including a transfer to a family trust) are not transactions subject to this Policy, unless the person 
making the gift has reason 
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to believe that the recipient intends to sell the Company Securities while the person making the gift is aware of 
Material Nonpublic Information, or the person making the gift is subject to the trading restrictions specified 
below under the heading “Additional Procedures” and the
sales by the recipient of the Company Securities occur during a Black Out Period (as defined below). However, 
whether a gift is a bona fide gift will depend on the circumstances surrounding each gift, including, but not 
limited to, the donor’s relationship with the recipient and the nature of the tax benefit to the donor.

 
g.     Mutual  Funds.  Transactions in a mutual fund or other collective investment vehicle (e.g., hedge fund or 
exchange traded fund) that is invested in Company Securities and (1) is publicly traded and widely held, (2) is 
broad based and diversified, and (3) has investment discretion for fund investments exercised by an 
independent third party are not transactions subject to this Policy. Insiders should consult with the Chief Legal 
Officer if they have questions regarding whether a specific fund is considered “broad-based and diversified.”

 

 
7 Additional Procedures

 
A. The Company has established additional procedures, applicable only to certain persons (as described below), to assist 
in the administration of this Policy, to facilitate compliance with laws prohibiting insider trading while in possession of 
Material Nonpublic Information, and to avoid the appearance of any impropriety.

 
Pre-Clearance Procedures. Certain designated persons may not engage in any transaction at any time in Company 
Securities, including gifts involving the transfer of Company Securities, without first obtaining pre-clearance of the 
transaction from the Company by contacting the Chief Financial Officer and the Chief Legal Officer (the “Pre-
Clearance Procedures”).

 
The following persons are subject to the Company’s Pre-Clearance Procedures:

 
• Members of the Montauk’s Board of Directors
• Executive Officers (those appointed by the Board of Directors, comprising the Executive Leadership Team).
• Specially Designated Individuals. The listing of such individuals is stored separately.

 
A request for pre-clearance to trade in Company Securities must be submitted in writing to the Chief Legal Officer (or 
other designated person) at least two business days in advance of the proposed transaction. When a request for pre-
clearance is made, the requestor should confirm in the request that he or she (1) has reviewed this Policy and (2) is not 
aware of any Material Nonpublic Information about the Company.
 
The Company is under no obligation to approve a transaction submitted for pre- clearance and reserves the right to 
disallow the proposed transaction. If the Chief Legal Officer does not respond to a request for pre-clearance, the request 
will be deemed to have been denied.  If a person seeks pre-clearance and permission to engage in the transaction is 
denied or not responded to, then he or she must refrain from initiating any 
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transaction in Company Securities.  If permission to engage in the transaction is granted, then the transaction must be 
initiated within two business days of receipt of pre-clearance, unless an exception is granted or the person becomes 
aware of Material Nonpublic Information before the trade is executed, in which case the preclearance is void and the 
trade must not be completed. If transactions are not affected within the time limit, pre-clearance must be resubmitted for 
review and approval by the Chief Legal Officer.

 
B. Quarterly Blackout Periods. Certain designated persons may not conduct any transactions involving Company 

Securities (other than as specified by this Policy) during certain “Blackout Periods.” Quarterly Blackout Periods 
begin on the first day of the last month of each fiscal quarter (March 1st, June 1st,  September 1st and December 
1st) and end at the beginning of the third business day following the date of the public release of the Company’s 
earnings results for that quarter. In other words, these persons may only conduct transactions in Company 
Securities during the
“Window Period” beginning on the third business day following the public release of Company’s quarterly 
earnings and ending on the last day of the month immediately prior to the last month of the next fiscal quarter. 
For example, if the quarterly earnings were released after trading commenced on a Monday, the Window Period 
would begin on Thursday, giving the marketplace at least two full business days of trading in the Company’s 
stock following the release of earnings. The following persons are subject to quarterly Blackout Periods:

• Members of Montauk’s Board of Directors.
• Executive Officers (those appointed by the Board of Directors, comprising the Executive 

Leadership Team).
• Specially Designated Individuals
• All other persons identified by this Policy as subject to Blackout Periods

 
The Quarterly Blackout Periods apply, whether or not a reminder notice of the blackout is sent.

 You are responsible for compliance with this Policy.
 
 

 
Period *

 

Blackout Period
Begins

Date of
Earnings
Release *

Trading
Window
Opens

Trading
Window
Closes

 
 

First Quarter 
(January 1 – March 

31)

30 days prior to
Fourth Quarter end

(December 1)
*Overlaps the Annual

Release blackout period.

 
 
 

May

 
 

48 hours after Q1 
Earnings Release

 

 
 

June 1

Second Quarter
(April 1 – June

30)

30 days prior to Second 
Quarter end (June 1)

 
August

48 hours after Q2 
Earnings Release

 
September 1

Third Quarter
(July 1 – Sept.

30)

30 days prior to Third
Quarter end

(September 1)

 
November

48 hours after
Q3 Earnings

Release

 
December 1
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Annual Release

30 days prior to
Fourth Quarter end

(December 1)
*Overlaps the Q1 
blackout period.

 

 
 

May

 
48 hours after Q1 
Earnings Release

 

 
 

June 1

 
* Montauk is a Non-Accelerated Filer; our Quarterly reports are due 45-days after fiscal quarter-end; the Annual report is due 90 days after fiscal year-end. The actual date of Earnings Release may fluctuate based on 
outside variables. Please reach out to Chief Legal Officer or the Corporate Controller for any questions.

 
 

C.   Event-Specific Blackout Periods. From time to time, an event may occur, or information may exist that is material to the 
Company and is known by only certain directors, officers and/or employees. So long as the event or information 
remains material and nonpublic, certain persons designated by the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer or 
Chief Legal Officer may not engage in any transaction in Company Securities. In addition, the Company’s financial 
results may be sufficiently material in a particular fiscal quarter that, in the judgment of the Chief Executive Officer, 
Chief  Financial  Officer or Chief Legal Officer,  designated  persons  should refrain from trading in Company 
Securities even sooner than the typical Blackout Period described above. In either situation, the Chief Executive Officer, 
Chief Financial Officer or Chief Legal Officer may notify these persons that they must not engage in transactions in 
Company Securities, without disclosing the reason for the restriction.  The existence of an event-specific trading 
restriction period or extension of a Blackout Period will not be announced to the Company as a whole and must not be 
communicated to any other person.  Exceptions will not be granted during an event- specific trading restriction period.

 
D.  Exceptions. Blackout Periods do not apply to those transactions to which this Policy does not apply, as described above 

under the heading “Permitted Transactions.” Further, the requirements for Pre-Clearance Procedures and Blackout 
Periods do not apply to transactions conducted pursuant to approved Rule 10b5-1 plans, as described below under the 
heading “Rule 10b5-1 Plans.”

 
 

8 Rule 10b5-1 Plans
 

Rule 10b5-1 promulgated under the Exchange Act provides a defense from insider trading liability. To be eligible to rely on this 
defense, a person subject to this Policy must enter a Rule 10b5-1 Plan for transactions in Company Securities that meets the 
requirements of Rule
10b5-1 and the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan Guidelines (attached as Appendix A) (a “Rule 10b5-1 Plan”). If the Rule 10b5-1 Plan 
meets such requirements, Company Securities may be purchased or sold without regard to certain insider trading restrictions. To
comply with this Policy, Rule 10b5-1 Plans must be approved by the Chief Legal Officer.

 
Any Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be submitted to the Chief Legal Officer for approval five business days prior to the entry into the 
Rule 10b5-1 Plan. Subsequent modifications to any Rule 10b5-1 Plan must also be pre-approved by the Chief Legal Officer. 
Once a Rule 10b5-1 Plan is approved, no further pre-approval of transactions conducted pursuant to the Rule 10b5-1 Plan is 
required.
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9 Section 16 Reports
 

Certain Company Persons, including directors, officers designated as such for SEC reporting purposes by the Board of Directors 
and certain stockholders of the Company (collectively,
“Section 16 Reporting Persons”), are required to file reports with the SEC that disclose such
Company Person’s trading and other transactions relating to Company Securities (“Section 16
Reports”).

 
The Chief Legal Officer’s office will assist Section 16 Reporting Persons that are directors and officers in preparing and filing 
the required Section 16 Reports; however, such Section 16 Reporting Persons retain responsibility for the Section 16 Reports. 
To ensure compliance with all reporting requirements, such Section 16 Reporting Persons must, on the date of any trade, 
provide the Chief Legal Officer’s office with all information relating to the trade that is necessary to properly prepare a Form  4 
or other Section 16  Report. Such Section 16 Reporting Persons must also execute a Form 4 or other Section 16 Report (either 
individually or through a duly authorized power of attorney) within enough time to allow the Chief Legal Officer’s office to 
electronically file the Form 4 via the SEC’s Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis, and Retrieval system before the end of the 
second business day following the trade.

 

 
10 Form 144A Reports

 
Certain Company Persons, including directors, certain officers designated by the Board of Directors and certain stockholders of 
the Company (collectively, “144A Reporting Persons”) are required to file a Form 144 before making an open market sale of 
Company Securities. A Form 144 notifies the SEC of the 144A Reporting Person’s intent to sell Company Securities. This form 
is generally prepared and filed by the 144A Reporting Person’s broker and is in addition to the Section 16 Reports filed on the 
144A Reporting Person’s behalf by the Chief Legal Officer’s office.

 

 
11 Post-Termination Transactions

 
This Policy continues to apply to transactions in Company Securities even after termination of service to, or employment with, 
the Company.  If an individual is in possession of Material Nonpublic Information when his or her service or employment 
terminates, that individual may not trade in Company Securities until that information has become public or is no longer 
material, as determined by the Chief Legal Officer. To facilitate the Chief Legal Officer’s determination, such an individual may 
not trade in Company Securities without first obtaining pre-clearance of the transaction from the Chief Legal Officer, in 
accordance with the pre-clearance procedures set forth in “Pre-Clearance Procedures” above.

 

 
12 Individual Responsibility

 
Insiders have ethical and legal obligations to maintain the confidentiality of information about the Company and to not engage 
in transactions in Company Securities while in possession of Material Nonpublic Information.  Each Company Person is 
individually responsible for making sure that he or she complies with this Policy, and that any of his or her Family Members or 
Controlled Entities also comply with this Policy. In all cases, the ultimate responsibility for determining whether an individual 
is in possession of Material Nonpublic Information rests with that individual, and any action on the part of
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Company, the Chief Legal Officer or any other employee or director pursuant to this Policy (or otherwise) does not in any way 
constitute legal advice or insulate an individual from
liability under applicable securities laws.

 

 
 
 
 

13 Violations
 

Consequences of Violations. The purchase or sale of securities while aware of Material Nonpublic Information, or the 
disclosure of Material Nonpublic Information to others who then trade in Company Securities, is prohibited by U.S. federal, 
state, and foreign laws. Insider trading violations are pursued vigorously by the SEC, the U.S. Department of Justice, state 
enforcement authorities and foreign jurisdictions.  Punishment for insider trading violations is severe and could include 
significant fines and imprisonment. Cases have been successfully prosecuted against individuals as a result of trading (1) by 
employees through foreign accounts, (2) by family members and friends, and (3) involving only a small number of shares. 
There are no exceptions for small or “immaterial” transactions. While the regulatory authorities concentrate their efforts on 
individuals who trade, or who tip inside information to others who trade, the U.S. federal securities laws also impose potential 
liability on companies and other “controlling persons” if they fail to take reasonable steps to prevent insider trading by 
company personnel.

 
In addition, an individual’s failure to comply with this Policy may subject the individual to discipline by Company, including 
dismissal for cause, whether the individual’s failure to comply results in a violation of law.  A violation of law, or even an SEC 
investigation that does not result in prosecution, can tarnish a person’s reputation, and irreparably damage a career.

 
Reporting of Violations. Any Insider who violates this Policy or any U.S. federal, state or foreign laws governing insider 
trading, or knows of any such violation by any Insider, must report the violation immediately to the Chief Legal Officer.

 
This Insider Trading Policy is hereby adopted by Montauk Renewables as of the date set forth below.

 

 
 
 

 
_____________________________

 

John Ciroli

Chief Legal Officer 
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Appendix A

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan Guidelines

These guidelines are designed to facilitate the review of pre-arranged trading plans under Rule 10b5-1 (“Rule 10b5-1”) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (as amended, the “Exchange Act”) submitted to the Chief Legal Officer for review and pre-approval 
pursuant the Insider Trading Policy (the “Policy”) of Montauk Renewables, Inc. (the “Company”). Capitalized terms used in these guidelines 
without definition are as defined in the Policy. The Chief Legal Officer has been authorized by the Board of Directors of the Company to
amend these guidelines at any time for the purpose of conforming these guidelines with applicable law, in accordance with legal advice, or 
the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Pre-Arranged Plan Provisions—Each pre-arranged trading plan will be reviewed and pre-approved by the Chief Legal Officer.
The Chief Legal Officer will determine whether the proposed pre-arranged trading plan contains the following mandatory terms, unless the 
Chief Legal Officer recognizes there is an exception in a particular case.

 The plan must affirm an intent to comply with Rule 10b5-1.

 If the person entering into (or modifying) the plan is an “officer” (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) of the Exchange Act, an  
“Officer”) of the Company or a member of the Board of Directors of the Company (a “Director”), the plan must include a 
certification by such person that, on the date of adoption (or modification) of the plan, such person is not in possession of 
material nonpublic information about the Company or its securities.

 If the person entering into (or modifying) the plan is an Officer or a Director, the plan must include a certification by the  
person that, on the date of adoption (or modification) of the plan, the person is adopting (or modifying) the plan in good faith 
and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 under the Exchange Act.

 The plan must specify the nature of the transactions (e.g., purchase or sale). 

 The plan must not permit the exercise of any subsequent influence over how, when or whether to effect purchases or sales;  
provided, in addition, that any other person who, pursuant to the plan, did exercise such influence must not have been aware of 
material nonpublic information when doing so.
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 The plan must specify the terms of all transactions (identify the amounts, prices, and dates of proposed transactions).

 If the person entering into (or modifying) the plan is an Officer or a Director, the plan must provide for a cooling-off period of 
at least the later of (1) 90 days after the adoption (or modification) of the plan and (2) two business days following the 
disclosure of the Company’s financial results in a Form 10-Q or Form 10-K for the completed fiscal quarter in which the plan 
was adopted (or modified) (but not to exceed 120 days following plan adoption (or modification)), before execution of the first 
transaction (or next transaction, in the case of a modification) under the plan. 

 If the person entering into (or modifying) the plan is not an Officer or Director, the plan must provide for a cooling-off period 
of at least 30 days after adoption (or modification) of the plan before execution of the first transaction (or next transaction, in 
the case of a modification) under the plan. 

 The plan must specify a termination date that is at least six months following the effective date of the plan. 

 If the person entering into (or modifying) the plan is an Officer or Director, the plan must include reporting compliance  
provisions, instructing parties effecting transactions to provide timely notification of such transactions to the Chief Legal 
Officer for purposes of assuring compliance with applicable reporting requirements, such as those arising under Rule 144 of 
the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 16 under the Exchange Act.

Additional Requirements/Considerations—The following requirements and considerations apply in connection with any pre-
arranged trading plan, unless the Chief Legal Officer recognizes there is an exception in a particular case.

 A plan must be entered into (or modified) in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Section 
10(b) and Rule 10b-5 under the Exchange Act.

 Once a plan has been entered into (or modified), the person entering into the plan must act in good faith with respect to such 
plan throughout the duration of the plan.

 Any modification or change to the amount, price or timing of the purchase or sale of securities underlying a plan will generally 
be considered a termination of such plan and the adoption of a new plan.

 The plan may not be entered into, modified, or terminated during a blackout period.

 The plan must be entered into, modified or terminated while the person entering into, modifying, or terminating the plan is not 
aware of any material nonpublic information regarding the Company and its securities.

 The plan may not be modified or terminated without the prior approval of the Chief Legal Officer, which approval may require 
a waiting period, as appropriate.

 The person entering into (or modifying) the plan may generally only have one pre-arranged trading plan in effect and active at 
any time. However, a person may maintain two separate plans at the same time so long as trading pursuant to the later-
commencing plan is not 
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authorized to begin until after all trades under an earlier-commencing plan are completed or have expired without execution (if 
an individual otherwise terminates the earlier-commencing plan, the later-commencing plan would be subject to a new cooling-
off period, as described above).

 If the plan is designed to effect the open-market purchase or sale of the total amount of securities subject to such plan as a 
single transaction (a “single-trade plan”), the person entering into (or modifying) the plan must not have entered into (or 
modified) another single-trade plan in the prior 12-month period that also qualified for the affirmative defense under Rule 
10b5-1.

 In the case of Officers and Directors, the adoption, modification, or termination of a plan, the material terms of a plan (other 
than price), and transactions pursuant to a plan will be publicly disclosed in accordance with the applicable laws, rules, and 
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

 In connection with the entry into (or modification of) a plan, an Officer or Director should consider, in consultation with the 
Chief Legal Officer, Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act.  Most transactions under Rule 10b5-1 trading plans are likely to 
involve open-market sales or purchases that could be matched with opposite-way transactions within less than six months to 
produce profits recoverable by the Company under Section 16(b).  An Officer or Director establishing a plan should determine 
whether there are any potentially matchable transactions in the past, or in the future, that could cause profits from plan 
transactions to be recovered by the Company under Section 16(b).
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Exhibit 21.1
 
   

Subsidiary of Montauk Renewables, Inc.   State of Organization
Apex LFG Energy, LLC   Delaware
Blue Granite LFG, LLC  Delaware
Bowerman Power LFG, LLC   Delaware
Communite Firs, LLC  Delaware
Galveston LFG, LLC   Delaware
GSF Energy, L.L.C.   Delaware
Johnstown LFG Holdings, Inc.
            f/k/a Leaf LFG Investments, Inc.   

Delaware

Johnstown Regional Energy, LLC   Pennsylvania
Magnolia Ag, LLC  Delaware
MEDC, LLC   Delaware
MH Energy, LLC   Delaware
MH Energy (GP), LLC   Delaware
Monmouth Energy, Inc.   New Jersey
Monroeville LFG, LLC   Delaware
Montauk Ag Management, LLC  Delaware
Montauk Ag Renewables, LLC  Delaware
Montauk Energy Capital, LLC   Delaware
Montauk Energy Holdings, LLC   Delaware
Montauk Renewable Ag, LLC   Delaware
NR3 Nutrient Recovery, LLC  North Carolina
Pico Energy, LLC   Idaho
Turkey Creek Ag, LLC  Delaware
Tulsa LFG, LLC   Delaware
TX LFG Energy, LP   Delaware
Valley LFG, LLC   Delaware
Zero Net Carbon Renewable Energy, LLC  Delaware
ZNC Turkey, LLC  Delaware

 



Exhibit 23.1

 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our report dated March 14, 2024, with respect to the consolidated financial statements included in the Annual Report of 
Montauk Renewables, Inc. on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2023. We consent to the incorporation by reference of said report in the Registration Statement of Montauk Renewables, Inc. 
on Form S-8 (File No. 333-252452).

GRANT THORNTON LLP (signed manually)

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
March 14, 2024



Exhibit 24.1

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each of the undersigned officers and directors of Montauk Renewables, Inc., a Delaware 
corporation, hereby constitutes and appoints of Sean F. McClain, Kevin A. Van Asdalan and John Ciroli, and each of them, as his true and lawful attorney 
or attorneys-in-fact, with full power of substitution and revocation, for each of the undersigned and in the name, place, and stead of each of the 
undersigned, to sign on behalf of each of the undersigned an Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 pursuant to Section 
13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and to sign any and all amendments to such Annual Report, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and 
other documents in connection therewith including, without limitation, a Form 12b-25 with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting to said 
attorney or attorneys-in-fact, and each of them, full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be 
done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that 
said attorney or attorneys-in-fact or any of them or their substitute or substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue thereof.

This power of attorney may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original with respect to the person executing it.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have hereunto set their hands as of the 12th day of March, 2024.
 
       
Signature      Title

    
/s/ Sean F. McClain      Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
Sean F. McClain       
    
/s/ Kevin A. Van Asdalan      Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Kevin A. Van Asdalan       
    
/s/ Mohamed H. Ahmed      Lead Director
Mohamed H. Ahmed       
    
/s/ John A. Copelyn      Chairman of the Board and Director
John A. Copelyn       
    
/s/ Jennifer Cunningham      Director
Jennifer Cunningham       
    
/s/ Theventheran G. Govender      Director
Theventheran G. Govender       
    
/s/ Yunis Shaik      Director
Yunis Shaik       
 



Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a)
 

UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT, AS AMENDED
 
I, Sean F. McClain, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Montauk Renewables, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements 
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial 

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure 

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, 
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, 

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially 
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control 

over financial reporting.
 
Date: March 14, 2024
 
/s/ Sean F. McClain
 
 
Sean F. McClain
 
Chief Executive Officer and President
 
(Principal Executive Officer)
 



Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULES 13A-14(A) AND 15D-14(A)
 

UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT, AS AMENDED
 
I, Kevin A. Van Asdalan, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Montauk Renewables, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements 
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial 

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure 

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, 
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, 

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially 
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control 

over financial reporting.
 
Date: March 14, 2024
 
/s/ Kevin A. Van Asdalan
 
 
Kevin A. Van Asdalan
 
Chief Financial Officer
 
(Principal Financial Officer)
 



Exhibit 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
 

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
 

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Montauk Renewables, Inc. (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, as filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
 
1. 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to his knowledge:
 

a. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

b. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as 
of the dates and for the periods expressed in the Report.
 
Date: March 14, 2024
 
/s/ Sean F. McClain
 
 
Sean F. McClain
 
Chief Executive Officer and President
 
(Principal Executive Officer)
 



Exhibit 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
 

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
 

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Montauk Renewables, Inc. (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, as filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
 
1. 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to his knowledge:
 

a. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

b. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as 
of the dates and for the periods expressed in the Report.
 
Date: March 14, 2024
 
/s/ Kevin A. Van Asdalan
 
 
Kevin A. Van Asdalan
 
Chief Financial Officer
 
(Principal Financial Officer)
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1 Scope and Purpose

As required pursuant to the listing standards of the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Montauk 
Renewables, Inc. (the “Company”) has adopted this Compensation Recoupment Policy (this “Policy”) to empower the Compensation 
Committee of the Board (the “Compensation Committee”) to recoup, or “clawback,” Covered Compensation (as defined below)
erroneously awarded to a Covered Officer in the event of an Accounting Restatement (as defined below). 
 
Notwithstanding anything in this Policy to the contrary, at all times, this Policy remains subject to interpretation and operation in 
accordance with the final rules and regulations promulgated by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), the final 
listing standards adopted by the Stock Exchange, and any applicable SEC or Stock Exchange guidance or interpretations issued from time
to time regarding such Covered Compensation recovery requirements (collectively, the “Final Guidance”).  Questions regarding this 
Policy should be directed to the Chief Legal Officer.
 
 

 
2 Policy Statement 

Unless a Clawback Exception (as defined below) applies, the Company will recover reasonably promptly from each Covered Officer the 
Covered Compensation received (as defined below) by such Covered Officer in the event that the Company is required to prepare an 
accounting restatement due to the material noncompliance of the Company with any financial reporting requirement under the securities 
laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the
previously issued financial statements, or that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or 
left uncorrected in the current period (each, an “Accounting Restatement”).  If a Clawback Exception applies with respect to a Covered 
Officer, the Company may forgo such recovery under this Policy from such Covered Officer.  
 
The Company may not provide insurance or indemnify any Covered Officer against the loss of Covered Compensation.  
 

3 Covered Officers

For purposes of this Policy, “Covered Officer” is defined as any employee of the Company currently or previously designated as an 
“officer” of the Company by the Board or the Compensation Committee within the meaning of Rule 16a-1(f) of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Covered Officers include, at a minimum, executive officers identified under Item 401(b) 
of Regulation S-K. 
 

4 Policy Review

The Policy will be reviewed as needed to ensure the Policy aligns with Company goals, both short and long term, as well as any applicable 
changes in law. Updates to the Policy will occur when applicable. 

 
5 Covered Compensation

5.1.1 Covered Compensation 

“Covered Compensation” is defined as the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation (as defined below) Received 
during the applicable Recovery Period (as defined below) that exceeds the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation 
that otherwise would have 
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been Received during such Recovery Period had it been determined based on the relevant restated amounts, and 
computed without regard to any taxes paid.  
 
Incentive-Based Compensation Received by a Covered Officer will only qualify as Covered Compensation if: (i) it is 
received on or after October 2, 2023; (ii) it is Received after such Covered Officer begins service as a Covered Officer; 
(iii) such Covered Officer served as a Covered Officer at any time during the performance period for such Incentive-
Based Compensation; and (iv) it is Received while the Company has a class of securities listed on a national securities 
exchange or a national securities association.
 
For Incentive-Based Compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return, where the amount of erroneously 
awarded Covered Compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in an 
Accounting Restatement, the amount of such Incentive-Based Compensation that is deemed to be Covered 
Compensation will be based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Accounting Restatement on the stock price or 
total shareholder return upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation was Received.  The Company will maintain and 
provide to the Stock Exchange documentation of the determination of such reasonable estimate.
 
Incentive-Based Compensation is defined as any compensation that is granted, earned, or vested based wholly or in part 
upon the attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure (as defined below).  For purposes of clarity, Incentive-Based 
Compensation includes compensation that is in any plan, other than tax-qualified retirement plans, including long term 
disability, life insurance, and supplemental executive retirement plans, and any other compensation that is based on such 
Incentive-Based Compensation, such as earnings accrued on notional amounts of Incentive-Based Compensation 
contributed to such plans.
 
Financial Reporting Measure is defined as a measure that is determined and presented in accordance with the 
accounting principles used in preparing the Company’s financial statements, and any measures that are derived wholly 
or in part from such measures. Stock price and total shareholder return are also Financial Reporting Measures. 
 
Incentive-Based Compensation is deemed “Received” in the Company’s fiscal period during which the Financial 
Reporting Measure specified in the Incentive-Based Compensation award is attained, even if the payment or grant of the 
Incentive-Based Compensation occurs after the end of that period.
 

 
6 Recovered Period

For purposes of this Policy, the applicable “Recovery Period” is defined as the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the 
Trigger Date (as defined below) and, if applicable, any transition period resulting from a change in the Company’s fiscal year within or 
immediately following those three completed fiscal years (provided, however, that if a transition period between the last day of the 
Company’s previous fiscal year end and the first day of its new fiscal year comprises a period of nine to 12 months, such period would be 
deemed to be a completed fiscal year).  
 
For purposes of this Policy, the “Trigger Date” as of which the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement is the earlier to 
occur of: (i) the date that the Board, applicable Board committee, or officers authorized to take action if Board action is not required 
concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement and (ii) 
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the date a court, regulator, or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare an Accounting Restatement.

 
7 Exceptions

The Company is required to recover all Covered Compensation received by a Covered Officer in the event of an Accounting Restatement 
unless (i) one of the following conditions are met and (ii) the Compensation Committee has made a determination that recovery would be 
impracticable in accordance with Exchange Act Rule 10D-1 (under such circumstances, a “Clawback Exception” applies):
 

 The direct expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing this Policy would exceed the amount to be 
recovered (and the Company has already made a reasonable attempt to recover such erroneously awarded 
Covered Compensation from such Covered Officer, has documented such reasonable attempt(s) to recover, and 
has provided such documentation to the Stock Exchange); 

 
 Recovery would violate home country law that was adopted prior to November 28, 2022 (and the Company has 

already obtained an opinion of home country counsel, acceptable to the Stock Exchange, that recovery would 
result in such a violation, and provided such opinion to the Stock Exchange); or

 
 Recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly 

available to employees of the Company, to fail to meet the requirements of Section 401(a)(13) or Section 411(a) 
of the Internal Revenue Code and regulations thereunder.  For purposes of clarity, this Clawback Exception only 
applies to tax-qualified retirement plans and does not apply to other plans, including long term disability, life 
insurance, and supplemental executive retirement plans, or any other compensation that is based on Incentive-
Based Compensation in such plans, such as earnings accrued on notional amounts of Incentive-Based 
Compensation contributed to such plans.

 
8 Administration and Interpretation

The Compensation Committee will administer this Policy in accordance with the Final Guidance,  and will have full and exclusive 
authority and discretion to supplement, amend, repeal, interpret, terminate, construe, modify, replace and/or enforce (in whole or in part) 
this Policy, including the authority to correct any defect, supply any omission or reconcile any ambiguity, inconsistency or conflict in the 
Policy, subject to the Final Guidance. This Policy is in addition to and is not intended to change or interpret any federal or state law or 
regulation, including the Delaware General Corporation Law, the Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, or the Amended and 
Restated Bylaws of the Company. The Compensation Committee will review the Policy from time to time and will have full and exclusive 
authority to take any action it deems appropriate.
 
The Compensation Committee will have the authority to offset any compensation or benefit amounts that become due to the applicable 
Covered Officers to the extent permissible under Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and as it deems 
necessary or desirable to recoup any Covered Compensation.  
 
Each Covered Officer, upon being so designated or assuming such position, is required to execute and deliver to the Chief Legal Officer a 
signature page to this Policy acknowledging and agreeing to be bound by the terms of this Policy, agreeing to fully cooperate with the 
Company in connection with any of such Covered Officer’s obligations to the Company pursuant to this Policy, and  agreeing that 
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the Company may enforce its rights under this Policy through any and all reasonable means permitted under applicable law as it deems 
necessary or desirable under this Policy. 

 
9 Disclosure

Any recoupments by the Company pursuant to this Policy that are required to be disclosed in the Company’s filings with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission, as required by the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the Exchange Act, and related rules and regulations, will be 
so disclosed in accordance with such laws, rules, and regulations. In addition, a copy of this Policy will be filed as an exhibit to the 
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K in accordance with such applicable laws, rules, and regulations.

 
 

This Clawback Policy is hereby adopted by Montauk Renewables, Inc. as of the date set forth above.
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Compensation Recoupment Policy Acknowledgement and Consent
 

The undersigned hereby acknowledges that he or she has received and reviewed a copy of the Compensation Recoupment Policy (the “Policy”) of Montauk 
Renewables, Inc., effective as of [__] [_], 2023, as adopted by the Company’s Board of Directors.
 
 Pursuant to such Policy, the undersigned hereby:
 

 acknowledges that he or she has been designated as (or assumed the position of) a Covered Officer (as defined in the Policy);
 

 acknowledges and consents to the Policy;
 

 acknowledges and consents to be bound by the terms of the Policy;
 

 agrees to fully cooperate with the Company in connection with any of the undersigned’s obligations to the Company pursuant to the Policy, 
including, without limitation, the repayment by or recovery from the undersigned of Covered Compensation (as defined in the Policy); and

 
 agrees that the Company may enforce its rights under the Policy through any and all reasonable means permitted under applicable law as the 

Company deems necessary or desirable under the Policy.
 
 
ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED:
 
 
      
Name:
Date: 
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